Public Document Pack

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
Meeting to be held in the Civic Hall, Leeds on
Friday, 26th November, 2021 at 2.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP

G Almass
P Grahame
K Maqsood
(Chair)
P Truswell
J Illingworth

J Bentley

M Foster
P Harrand
J Shemilt

(Linda Wild – Independent Member)

Please Note - Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person but
please be mindful that Coronavirus is still circulating in Leeds. Therefore, even if you have
had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a new,
continuous cough or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should NOT
attend the meeting and stay at home and get a PCR test. For those who are attending the
meeting, please bring a face covering unless you are exempt.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=161&MId=11675&Ver=4

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

John Grieve 0113
37 88662
Produced on Recycled Paper

1

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officer’s recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-

2

Item
No
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive apologies for absence (If any)

6

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

7 - 16

To consider and approve the minutes of the
previous meeting held on 24th September 2021.

(Copy attached)
7

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
To consider any matters arising from the minutes.

8

ANNUAL ASSURANCE REPORT ON
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
To consider a report by the Chief Officer Financial
Services which provides assurance that the
Council has established an effective financial
control environment including robust arrangements
for strategic financial planning combined with
effective financial management and control.

(Report attached)

3

17 46

Item
No
9

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
PROCUREMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR

47 54

To consider a report by the Chief Officer Financial
Services which sets out the proposals for
appointing the external auditor to the Council for
the statutory financial accounts for the five-year
period from 2023/24.

(Report attached)
10

PROCUREMENT REVIEW UPDATE REPORT

55 74

To consider a report by the Head of Procurement
and Commercial Services which provides an
update as to progress made in relation to the P2P
review (including dovetailing the P2P review with
recommendations from the LGA Peer Review and
seeking to deliver greater strategic value from
procurement activity).

(Report attached)
11

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND
OPINION 2020/21
To consider a report by the Head of Audit which
sets out the annual opinion of the Head of Audit
and provides a source of assurance that the
internal control environment is operating as
intended through a summary of the Internal Audit
activity for the period from May to July 2021. The
report also highlights incidence of any significant
control failings or weaknesses.

(Report attached)

4

75 118

Item
No
12

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPROVAL OF ANNUAL GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

119 158

To consider a report by the Chief Officer Financial
Services which presents the final Annual
Governance Statement (AGS) for approval by
committee in advance of the Committee’s approval
of the audited Statement of Accounts.

(Report attached)

13

COUNTER FRAUD UPDATE REPORT

159 200

To consider a report by the Chief Officer Financial
Services which sets out details of the counter fraud
activities undertaken by the Internal Audit service
between the period April 2021 and September
2021.

(Report attached)
14

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PROGRESS
REPORT

201 226

To consider a report by the Chief Officer Financial
Services which provides an update from the
external auditors, Grant Thornton on their 2020/21
audit, and outlines the findings from their interim
audit work and provides commentary on progress
to date on the final accounts audit.

(Report attached)
15

WORK PROGRAMME
To consider and approve the Committee’s Work
Programme for the 2021/22 period.

(Copy attached)

5

227 230

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

16

To note that the next meeting will take place on
Friday, 17th December 2021 at 2.00pm in the Civic
Hall, Leeds.

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the
proceedings either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those
proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the
front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)

b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a
clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between
those points must be complete.

6

Agenda Item 6
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Friday, 24th September, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor K Maqsood in the Chair
Councillors G Almass, M Foster,
P Grahame, P Harrand, J Illingworth and
P Truswell
Linda Wild – Independent Member

29

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.

30

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no items identified where it was considered necessary to exclude
the press or public from the meeting due to the confidential nature of the
business to be considered.

31

Late Items
There were no late items of business identified.

32

Declaration of Interests
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting.

33

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J Bentley.

34

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 30th July 2021 were submitted
for comment/ approval.
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 30th July 2021
were accepted as a true and correct record.

35

Matters Arising from the Minutes
The Committee received the following up-date on matters previously
considered by this Committee:

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 7

Procurement Assurance Report 2020/21 (Minute No.22 referred) - At the last
meeting Members requested if further details could be supplied in respect of
the Brexit/ Procurement Regulation Review and asked if the Council’s
submission on the Green Paper Consultation could be provided. Further
details were also requested in respect of social value in terms of the annual
spend with local suppliers or SME’s and also comparisons/ benchmarking
with other local authorities.
The Lead Officer to the Committee confirmed that all requested information
had been circulated to Members via email on the 19th August 2021.

Public Sector Network Certification (PSN) - Update Report (Minute No.13
referred) – In providing an update the Data Protection Officer reminded
Members that the Council’s PSN submission had been sent to the Cabinet
Office on 30th July 2021 and that any feedback received would be made
known to the Committee.
The Data Protection Officer reported that changes at the Cabinet Office had
caused an unanticipated issue with the Council’s application, as the number
of outstanding vulnerabilities at the point of submission exceeded the triage
threshold. The Council has resubmitted its updated submission which has
now passed triage. The Data Protection Officer confirmed that committee
would be updated further as to the outcome of this application.
36

Report on Climate Emergency Governance and Controls
The Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy and Air Quality submitted a report
which set out the governance and control arrangement that were in place in
relation to the Climate Emergency.
Addressing the report the Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy and Air Quality
explained that this was the first time that such a report has been provided
since the declaration of a Climate Emergency in 2019. The assurance report
for the Climate Emergency was attached at Appendix 1 of the submitted
report and set out the current governance and controls that related to the
climate emergency. The report also reflected how governance/controls vary
depending on the complexity of a specific project, as well as the requirement
to ensure that any governance was proportionate to the work programme due
to the limitations of resource.
In summary the Chief Officer Sustainable Energy & Air Quality said that
having undertaken the review of the system of internal control for Climate
Emergency as outlined in submitted report, she was satisfied that the
arrangements were up to date and fit for purpose, that they were
communicated and embedded and that they were routinely complied with.
Members queried if sufficient funding had been received from the government
and from grants, and if so, from where.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 8

Members were informed that funding received was not sufficient in terms of
achieving net zero emissions, but had been sufficient to fund specific projects.
Funding and policy remain a shortfall in terms of climate emergency as some
of the funding would have to come through the private sector.
Members asked if the City Council were likely to fail their objectives for net
zero emissions by 2030.
The Chief Officer Sustainable Energy & Air Quality said achieving the net zero
objective would be challenging. The council had always acknowledged that
the council’s emissions were relatively small in the wider city, but the council
also had a role in influencing citizens in terms of behaviour and the
government in terms of policy. The Council was doing everything it could in
its own control.
Members questioned whether money spent on this project could alternatively
be spent on the more immediate issues effecting communities, for example
flooding.
Members were informed that the City Council contributed 50% of the cost of
the team, the remainder was funded through grants. Very little council
resource was put directly into the climate emergency, but the team was very
good at securing external finance that could not be used for other purposes,
preventing Leeds being left behind as a city.
Members sought assurance that the strategy would evolve through the
transition from trial projects to big projects which absorb large amounts of
capital and revenue flows.
The Chief Officer Sustainable Energy & Air Quality said that we are in a
period of transition, the council had been at the forefront of a number of trials
and was now bringing private sector funding into working on a bigger scale.
Assurance would continue through the annual reporting, briefings and
governance set up within the Council.
Members referred to the processes for challenge, enabling the council to
change direction where necessary as information and technologies develop.
The Chief Officer Sustainable Energy & Air Quality said the City Council had
good monitoring arrangements in place and were also willing to adopt new
technologies. Reaching out to other partners such as the Climate Commission
may also assist with the provision of alternate views.
Members noted that we had built a Climate Emergency Section into all
committee reports and asked whether reports prepared by the City Council
were monitored for climate emergency implications of the subject matter.
Members were informed that guidance was provided for report authors and
that it fell to individual departments to ensure that the information provided
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 9

was robust. Members were informed that “Carbon Literacy Training” would
be soon rolled out to staff.
The Chair thanked the Chief Officer Sustainable Energy & Air Quality for her
attendance and contribution.
RESOLVED – To note the governance and control arrangements that are in
place in relation to the climate emergency.
37

Annual Treasury Management Governance Report
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report which presented the
Annual Treasury Management Governance Report which outlined the
governance framework for the management of the Council’s treasury
management function.
Members were informed that treasury management fully complied with the
current CIPFA Code of Practice, the Prudential Code and the latest revised
guidance notes for practitioners.
Members noted that since the last update all borrowings and investments
undertaken by Treasury Management had been in accordance with the
approved governance framework.
It was reported that treasury management operated within the governance
framework and used additional market intelligence and information gathered
from a variety of sources. These sources had been integral to protecting the
authority from undue risk in the financial and money markets.
Members noted that Internal Audit had provided substantial assurance on the
control environment and compliance in their 2019/20 audit report and had
updated the audit regime in relation to Treasury Management (paragraph 2.9
of the submitted report referred).
Members referred to the service level agreement with the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority to provide Treasury Management services and queried if
any expenses incurred by LCC were recouped. It was further queried if there
were any potential conflicts of interest.
The Chief Officer Financial Services confirmed that any expenses incurred
would be fully re-imbursed under a service level agreement. On the issue of
conflict of interest, it was suggested that generally there was no conflict, but
that where, very rarely, it may be mutually beneficial to lend between the two
organisations, arrangements were approved at senior level.
Referring to paragraphs 2.6 & 2.7 of the submitted report Members queried
whether the last assurance report received from Internal Audit in relation to
the treasury management function was for the year 2019/20. The Senior Audit
Manager advised that the audit arrangements for treasury management would
be confirmed with Members.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 10

Officers undertook to confirm the date of the last reported review, and
confirmed that data analytics work would commence later in the year with the
intention that this would provide ongoing assurance in respect of treasury
management arrangements.
RESOLVED –

38

(i)

To note that Treasury Management continues to adhere to its
governance framework including the CIPFA Code of Practice, the
Prudential Codes 2017 and revised CIPFA guidance notes issued
in 2018.

(ii)

To note that all borrowing and investments undertaken by Treasury
Management had been compliant with the governance framework.

Grant Thornton Audit Risk Assessment Enquiries 2020/21
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report which presented a
series of enquiries from Grant Thornton (External Auditors) which would
inform their audit risk assessment for the 2020/21 audit, the enquiries cover
accounting issues, fraud risk and legal issues.
Members were informed that Grant Thornton had requested that the Council’s
responses to these enquiries were formally considered at a meeting of the
Committee. Once the audit was complete the Committee would be asked to
formally approve the final audited statement of accounts on behalf of the
Council, and the responses to these enquiries this year form a stage in the
assurances received by the Committee towards that approval.
The Head of Finance (Technical) reported a small number of proposed
wording clarifications to the draft responses, which had arisen from briefing
sessions held with Members.
Referring to the prevention of fraud and matters relating to accounting
estimates (Pages 57 & 71 referred). Members noted that the Grant Thornton
document suggested that much of the responsibility lay with the Corporate
Governance and Audit Committee and queried the division of responsibilities
between officers and Members, and whether the Committee had the
necessary knowledge to be sufficiently competent in these areas.
In responding Mr P Sethi (Grant Thornton) said it was the responsibility of
Management to ensure arrangements were effective. It was the responsibility
of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee to provide review and
challenge within the context of their local knowledge of arrangements in the
council.
Referring to risks of fraud, Members asked if fraud awareness training was
available to staff and received by staff in key positions. Members also
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 11

requested that details of fraud reported under the council’s arrangements
were reported to committee
The Principal Audit Manager confirmed that all allegations received for both
whistleblowing and reporting concerns policies were now reported through
twice yearly reports to the committee. It was further confirmed that Counter
fraud training was available to everyone, but specific staff groups were
targeted.
RESOLVED –
(i)

To note the responses proposed by officers to Grant Thornton’s
enquiries

(ii)

39

To confirm that the responses proposed were consistent with
Members’ understanding of the Council’s arrangements in these
areas.
Internal Audit Update Report May to July 2021
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report which provided a
summary of the Internal Audit activity for the period May to July 2021. The
report sought to assure that the work of Internal Audit offered a key source of
assurance providing the Committee with some evidence that the internal
control environment was operating as intended.
Addressing the report the Senior Audit Manager explained that 20 audit
reports (excluding external work) had been issued during the period from 1st
May 2021 to 31st July 2021. Commenting on social value Members were
informed that a significant amount of work had been undertaken in
preparation to embed social value into the procurement process.
The report also set out details of; Other Audit Work, Audit Activity, Work in
Progress, Internal Audit Performance, and the Head of Internal Audit rolling
opinion for Quarter 1 of the plan year. The Monitoring of Urgent Decisions
was provided in Appendix B of the report.
Referring to Customer Satisfaction, Members asked if the Audit Section
looked upon their cliental as “customers”.
Members were informed that they were looked upon as client departments.
Members also asked if a bad review could lead to a poor customer
satisfaction score, thereby creating a conflict of interest.
The Senior Audit Manager confirmed that the service was bound by
professional standards and that there was confidence in the robustness of the
work carried out and the right level of independence and challenge was be
applied.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 12

As in previous years Members expressed disappointment at the response rate
to the Customer Satisfaction Questionnaire (42% in this reporting period).
Members were of the view that these documents were important and required
completion and suggested if future responses could be listed by Directorate.
It was agreed that the Chair on behalf of the Committee be requested to write
to the Chief Executive with a request that all Chief Officers remind their staff
of the importance of completing Customer Satisfaction Questionnaires
following a review of work undertaken by the Audit Section.
RESOLVED –

40

(i)

To receive the Internal Audit Update Report covering the period
from May to July 2021 noting the work undertaken by Internal Audit
during the period covered by the report.

(ii)

To note that there had been no limitations in scope, and nothing
had arisen to compromise the independence of Internal Audit during
the reporting period.

(iii)

To receive the report providing information relating to the Monitoring
of Urgent Decisions.

(iv)

That the Chair on behalf of the Committee be requested to write to
the Chief Executive with a request that all Chief Officers remind
their staff of the importance of completing Customer Satisfaction
Questionnaires following a review of work undertaken by the Audit
Section.

Annual Assurance Report on Planning Decision Making and
Enforcement Arrangements
The Chief Planning Officer presented the Annual Assurance Report, which
outlined the key internal controls and processes in place to mitigate risks and
to provide assurance that systems and processes for decision making on
planning decisions and enforcement activity were in place.
Referring to the assurance report to this committee in 2020, the Chief
Planning Officer reported that a review of the service documentation
highlighted that whilst most documents were up to date and fit for purpose,
there were some instances where documents had not been reviewed for
some years and work was now ongoing to ensure they remained up to date
and relevant. It was also reported that due to the resource constraints and
limitations posed by the COVID19 situation, further work would continue in
2021-22 to conclude the work updating all documents.
In offering comment one Member (Councillor J Illingworth) suggested that it
was important to have good accurate data for the purposes of decision
making. In providing an example of poor data, Councillor Illingworth said the
city did not have a policy in place for playing fields. He informed the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 13

Committee that this issue was identified in 1991, during the preparation for the
Unitary Development Plan. He said Officers worked on the problem, surveying
and classifying greenspace across the city and accumulating ward totals for
the various types. It was claimed, Councillor Illingworth said, that Leeds had
excellent greenspace provision, although it was difficult to find much evidence
to support this claim.
In responding the Chief Planning Officer said, a playing pitch assessment had
been adopted as part of the Site Allocation Plan process (SAP) and any
previous planning evidence had been superseded by SAP and the SAP had
been found sound by the Planning Inspectorate.
The Head of Service (Legal) confirmed that the Playing Pitch Strategy could
not be given any planning weight as it had not gone through any governance
framework of the Council and reiterated that the planning evidence provided
as part of the SAP process had superseded outdated information that
Councillor Illingworth referred to.
Councillor P Truswell, in his role as Chair of Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure,
Investment & Inclusive Growth) suggested that the role of Corporate
Governance & Audit Committee was to ensure that the necessary processes
and systems were in place, which in his opinion they were, the issue referred
to by Councillor Illingworth was outside the remit of this Committee and would
be better addressed by its referral to Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure,
Investment & Inclusive Growth)
The Committee were supportive of the suggestion.
RESOLVED – To accept the assurances provided by the Chief Planning
Officer that the business continuity arrangements are fit for purpose, up to
date, are routinely complied with, have been effectively communicated and
are monitored.
41

Work Programme
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report which set out the
proposed Work Programme for the remainder of 2021/22.
Members were informed that following the announcement of a State of the
City event” on Friday, 10th December 2021 it would be necessary to
reschedule the December meeting of this Committee.
It was reported that following discussions with the Chair it had been agreed
the meeting would now take place on 17th December 2021.
RESOLVED –
(i)

To note the rescheduled date of Friday, 17th December 2021 for the
December meeting of this Committee

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 14

(ii)

42

That the Work Programme be approved, as set out at Appendix 1 of
the submitted report.

Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED - To note that the next meeting will take place on Friday, 26th
November 2021 at 2.00pm in the Civic Hall, Leeds.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Friday, 26th November, 2021

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 0113 37 88540

Annual Assurance Report on Financial Management
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report provides assurance that the Council has established an effective financial control
environment including robust arrangements for strategic financial planning combined with
effective financial management and control.



The Council also has a sound framework for reviewing and challenging financial
performance, has realistic plans in place to make the necessary savings in the 2021/22
financial year, and is taking the appropriate steps to deliver them. The Authority has
contingency plans in place to help to manage unforeseen variations against the budget.



This report fulfils the requirement in the Chief Finance Officer’s protocol, (Section 5k of the
Council’s constitution), that the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Corporate
Governance and Audit Committee annually to confirm that the arrangements set out in the
protocol have been complied with and set out proposals for amendments in the light of any
issues that have arisen during the year.

Recommendations
a) Corporate Governance and Audit Committee are asked to note the Chief Officer (Financial

Services) assurances that
a. the appropriate systems and procedures are in place to ensure that there is sound

financial management and control across the Authority; and
b. the arrangements set out in the Chief Finance Officer protocol have been complied

with.

Page 17

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance & Audit Committee require the Committee
to consider the adequacy of the Council’s policies and practices to ensure compliance with
statutory guidance and the adequacy of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements.
2 This report provides assurance to the committee that the Council has in place effective and
robust arrangements for financial planning, financial control and other financial management
activities.
3 The report includes confirmation of compliance with the requirements of the Chief Finance
Officer’s protocol.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

4 Given the financial challenges facing the Council both currently and in the medium-term, it is
essential that we continue to ensure that we have in place appropriate arrangements around
financial performance, strategic financial planning, financial governance and financial control.
This report outlines;





The key systems, controls and procedures,
New developments and improvements which have been put in place,
New developments in the near future
New risks and any issues arising.

5 The Responsible Financial Officer has established an effective overall financial control
environment framework for financial planning and exercises effective financial management and
control which, in her opinion, discharge both her statutory responsibilities and are consistent
with the Chief Financial Officer protocol which forms part of the Council’s constitution.
6 The report provides assurance that the financial control and financial governance arrangements
in place are fit for purpose, up to date and embedded across the organisation.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
7 This report is provided for information and has not therefore been subject to consultation.
8 Arrangements for consultation and engagement in respect of the system of internal control for
financial management are set out in appendix 1 attached.
What are the resource implications?
9 The financial challenges faced by the Council resulting from the COVID-19, and the
requirement to address these so that a balanced budget can be delivered, has re-enforced the
need for the Council’s financial position to be robust, resilient and sustainable and that it has a
sufficient level of reserves available to deal with any future unforeseen circumstances. This
requirement underpins the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 – 2026/27 which
was agreed at Executive Board in September 2021. The Medium 2021/22 Revenue and Council
Tax report projected that the Council’s general reserve would be £43.7m m by 2026/27.
10 Recognising the financial challenges identified through the currently approved Medium Term
Financial Strategy, Support Services functions are working more collaboratively to both
Page 18

maximise the resources that are available to the Council whilst at the same time supporting
services to ensure that they achieve value for money.
What are the legal implications?
11 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires local authorities to make arrangements
for the proper administration of their financial affairs and appoint a Chief Financial Officer have
responsibility for those arrangements.
12 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 came into force on the 1st April 2015 and set out the
responsibility for internal control, the published accounts and audit.
13 Appendix 1 to this report sets out how the Council meets these statutory requirements.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
14 It is clear that the current and future financial climate for local government represents a
significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions, and that the impact of COVID-19 has
added to the financial challenges faced by the Council. The Council continues to make every
effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, and whilst we have been able to
successfully respond to the financial challenge so far, it is clear that the position is becoming
more difficult to manage and it will be increasingly difficult over the coming years to maintain
current levels of service provision without changes in the way the Council operates.
15 Recognising the significant financial challenges facing the Council especially when account is
taken of the ongoing financial impact of COVID-19, it is critical that the Council has in place
sound arrangements for financial management. The statement of internal control attached at
appendix 1 demonstrates the arrangements in place to meet these risks.
16 In the past couple of years a number of high profile local authorities ran into significant financial
difficulties. Some of these authorities issued Section 114 notices because in the view of the
Section 151 officer the Council was at risk of not being able to balance its budget, whilst others,
rather than issue a Section 114 notice, sought a capitalisation directive from the Government.
As a result of this all local authorities are under increased scrutiny to demonstrate that they
have appropriate governance arrangements in place to manage their financial affairs. This
report forms part of that re-assurance to members with regards to the Council’s financial
management and control arrangements.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

17 Supporting the Best Council Plan – the 2021/22 budget recognises the Council’s ambition to be
the best city by being a strong economy and a compassionate city as well as achieving it best
City priorities. Financial Services have a key role to play in this around supporting the Council to
realise its ambitions. As well as there being the continued focus upon value for money, the
approved budget means that the Council can target its resources to drive inclusive economic
growth, promote health and wellbeing, tackle deprivation and other deep-rooted challenges to
improve the quality of life for our residents.
18 The Best Council Plan’s ambitions, outcomes and priorities underpin the 2021/22 budget and
have been used to ensure that the Council’s financial resources are directed towards its policies
and priorities and, conversely, that these policies and priorities themselves are affordable.
Spending money wisely is one of the core Council’s values, with the priority being for
Directorates and services to keep within their budgets. Ensuring that the Council has
appropriate financial management systems and procedures in place is clearly a key aspect and
Page 19

as such this report does provide some assurances, albeit not comprehensive, assurance that
money is being spent wisely.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
19 The financial procedures and controls are part of the overall financial control environment and
form a fundamental part of the assurances received by this Committee when approving the
Annual Governance Statement as required by the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015.
How will success be measured?
20 The financial management and control framework is subject to a number of independent
assessments, including the Council’s Internal Audit function which has reviewed and given
substantial assurance that there are robust controls in place to support the central co-ordination
of the setting and monitoring of the Council’s budget.
What is the timetable for implementation?
21 Not applicable
Appendices
22 Appendix 1 details
Background papers
23 None

Page 20

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Introduction

Page 21

1. Given the significant financial challenges facing the Council especially when account is taken of the ongoing financial impact of COVID-19,
and in the context of several authorities running into financial difficulties, it is critical that the Council has in place sound arrangements for
financial planning and management. In response the Council has established an effective financial management and control environment
and specifically robust arrangements for strategic financial planning. This control framework is continually being assessed and reviewed to
ensure that it remains fit for purpose.
2. The Council has a proven and comprehensive approach to the development and delivery of its Medium-Term Financial Strategy, through
its annual budget setting and monitoring, together with the identification and implementation of saving plans.
3. This statement of internal control provides assurance
in respect of the Council’s financial management
framework; that it is up to date, fit for purpose,
Define and
embedded and routinely applied.
Document
4. The framework is comprised of those documents,
systems and processes by which the Council’s
financial management arrangements are directed
and controlled.
5. Roles and responsibilities are clearly delineated and
Review and
Clearly
articulated to ensure accountable management of
Refine
Communicate
the council’s financial resources, with appropriate
Cycle of
democratic oversight.
Internal
6. This statement of internal control sets out the
standing arrangements for financial management
Control
within the Council and provides evidence of
compliance over the reporting period from March to
October 2021.
7. The statement includes opportunities that have been
identified to improve these arrangements.
Meaningfully
Effectively
Monitor

Embed

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Define and Document
The Best Council Plan (BCP)
8. The BCP is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions, outcomes, and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local
Authority. The “Best City” and “Best Council” ambitions set the strategic context. The BCP (2020-25) was launched in July 2020. The Best
Council Plan will transition to a partner-developed ‘City Ambition’ over the next few months, with engagement with partners and other
stakeholders taking place over the autumn and winter of 2021/22. The intention is that a revised plan will then be considered by Full
Council in February 2022.
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

Page 22

9. The BCP can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer term financial sustainability, which enables
decisions to be made that balance the resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary
purpose of the MTFS which also provides the financial framework for the annual budget.
10. To enable the achievement of the Best Council and Best City ambitions the Council has developed the MTFS to direct the resources of
the Council to the priorities identified in the BCP. The MTFS provides a framework within which the annual budget process can sit. The
strategy does not attempt to provide a detailed budget but it does recognise the Council’s ambitions, policies and priorities, sets out the
main financial challenges facing the Council and provides a broad framework for the delivery of efficiencies and savings to bridge the
identified funding gap.
11. The MTFS covers a five year period and incorporates the Council’s capital strategy. The updated 2022/23 to 2026/27 MTFS, which was
agreed by Executive Board in September 2021, recognised the requirement for the Council’s revenue budget to become more financially
resilient, robust and sustainable, whilst at the same time reducing the risks associated with funding recurring revenue through
mechanisms such as capital receipts and capitalisation.
For the period covered by the current MTFs there is an estimated budget gap of £151.3m of which £65.5m relates to 2022/23.
Capital Strategy
12. A combination of CIPFA’s code and government guidance require a local authority to produce a Capital and Investment strategy. The
Capital and Investment strategy was approved at Executive Board in February 2021 as an appendix to the Capital Programme report.
13. The capital element of the strategy sets out the principles that underpin the Council’s Capital Programme and as such how it supports the
corporate priorities and objectives. The strategy sets the framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital expenditure and investment
decisions. It supports strategic planning, asset management and robust option appraisal.
14. The investment strategy element considers three broad areas:

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL



treasury management – covered in the treasury management strategy document annexed to the annual treasury strategy report.



other financial investments such as loans and equity investment which are made to achieve service objectives; and



non-financial investments such as property.

15. The Strategy provides a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to
the provisions of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.
The Budget
16. Local authorities are under a statutory duty to set a balanced budget each year.
17. The 2021/22 budget was approved by Full Council on the 24 th February 2021.

Page 23

The headlines from the 2021/22 budget proposals, when compared to the 2020/21 budget, are as follows
 A reduction in the Council’s net revenue budget of £90.4m to £435.3m;
 The Council will receive £28.4m in Revenue Support grant (RSG) an increase of £0.2m on 2020/21;
 A reduction in business rates income of £101.8m which is as a result of a combination of reduced business rates income growth and
a deficit on the Collection Fund.
 A significant part of the reduction in business rates income is due to the fully-funded reliefs introduced in 2020/21 in response to the
COVID-19 crisis, which have added to the deficit. Of the funding received from Government for these reliefs, £75.5m has been held
in reserve to partially meet this shortfall. Therefore the Council has had to manage a net £26.3m reduction in business rates income;
 An increase in the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) of £0.2m (0.1%);
 An increase in the general Council Tax of 1.99% together with a further 2.99% in respect of the Adult Social Care precept and an
increase in the Council Tax base, generating an additional £11.2m of local funding;
 A combination of a reduction in resources and the requirement to resource increased pay, price and demand pressures means that
the Council will need to deliver £56.1m of savings by March 2022 and;
 A net reduction in staffing of 791 full time equivalent posts.
18. Within the year, any decision to amend the approved budget must be undertaken within the virement rules which are agreed annually by
Full Council as part of the annual budget setting process.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Budget Principles
19. In July 2019 the Council’s Executive Board agreed the adoption of principles which have been developed to support both the
determination and management of both the revenue and capital budgets.
 The revenue principles have been developed to support both the process for the determination of the budget and the financial
management arrangements for the delivery of a balanced revenue budget position.
 The capital principles have been developed to enable the Capital Programme resource to achieve the priorities within the Best
Council plan and will support the development and monitoring of the Capital Programme.
20. Adoption of these principles results in a more robust and accountable approach to budget management which closely aligns itself with the
principles that are set out in CIPFA’s Financial Management Code which all local authorities are required to fully comply with in 2021/22.
Constitution
21. The following documents, set out in the Council’s constitution, add to the framework for the council’s financial arrangements:

Page 24

Part

Document

Function

Part 2 - Articles

Article 4 – The Full Council

Articulates the budget and policy framework

Article 12 - Officers

Confirms designation of Chief Officer Financial Services as S151 Officer and sets
out key responsibilities

Article 14 – Finance, Contract
and Legal Matters

Confirms application of financial regulations

Functions of the Full Council

Reserves to Council decision making authority in respect of relevant matters

Officer Delegation Scheme
(Council (non -executive)
functions) Chief Officer
Financial Services

Delegation of power to make financial standing orders (Financial Regulations)

Officer Delegation Scheme
(Executive functions) General
Delegations

Delegates to Directors decision making authority in respect of financial matters in
relation to matters within their remit

Officer Delegation Scheme
(Executive functions) Chief
Officer Financial Services

Delegations to Chief Officer Financial Services in respect of financial strategy;
financial management and controls; policies and procedures for budgets

Part 3 –
Responsibility for
Functions

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Part 4 – Procedure
Rules
Part 5 – Codes and
Protocols

Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules

Set out the procedure for adoption of documents within the Council’s budget and
policy framework.

Financial Regulations

Set out the framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs.

Chief Financial Officer Protocol Sets out the role and responsibilities, working arrangements, resources, and
relationships of the statutory Chief Financial officers

Roles and Responsibilities
Chief Finance Officer

Page 25

22. The role of Chief Financial Officer and the statutory Section 151 officer within Leeds City Council is fulfilled by the Chief Officer (Financial
Services).
23. The role of the Council’s Chief Financial Officer is a strategic role.
24. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) sets out the role of the Chief Financial Officer in local government in
its Statement which was last updated in February 2016. This Statement sets how the requirements of legislation and professional
standards should be fulfilled by Chief Financial Officers in the carrying out of their role. The Chief Officer Financial Services and has
established appropriate arrangements to discharge her responsibilities in line with CIPFA’s recommended practice.
CIPFA statement requires that the Chief Financial
Officer:

In accordance with the Chief Finance Officer Protocol the Chief Officer
Financial Services:





is a key member of the leadership team, helping it to
develop and implement strategy and to resource and
deliver the organisation’s strategic objectives
sustainably and in the public interest,





1

reports directly to the Chief Executive in terms of their statutory Section
151 responsibilities1;
meets regularly with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer
to consider and recommend action in connection with corporate
governance issues and other matters of concern regarding any legal,
ethical standards, probity, propriety, procedural or other constitutional
issues that are likely to (or do) arise
is a member of the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team and has
advance notice of all agendas and reports

Within the Council’s management structure the Chief Officer Financial Services reports to the Director of Resources in all other respects.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL


must be actively involved in, and able to bring
influence to bear on, all material business decisions to
ensure immediate and longer-term implications,
opportunities and risks are fully considered, and
alignment with the organisation’s financial strategy




Page 26



must lead the promotion and delivery by the whole

organisation of good financial management so that
public money is safeguarded at all times and used
appropriately, economically, efficiently, and effectively.



to deliver these responsibilities the Chief Financial
Officer must lead and direct a finance function that is
resourced to be fit for purpose and must also be
professionally qualified and suitably experienced.




attends meetings of the Council’s Executive Board and has advance
notice of all meetings, agenda and reports and the right to attend and
speak; and
has advance notice2 of and the right to attend and be heard at all relevant
meetings of the Authority (including meetings at which officer delegated
decisions are taken) before any binding decision is taken (including a
failure to take a decision where one should have been taken)
reports annually to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
regarding whether the arrangements are satisfactory and have been
complied with and will include any proposals for amendments in the light
of any issues that have arisen during the year
appoints a deputy and keep them briefed on any relevant issues that they
may be required to deal with in the absence of the Section 151 officer;
has sufficient resources to enable them to address any matters concerning
their Section 151 functions

Financial Services
25. As part of the ongoing Council-wide review of support services the Financial Service needs to ensure that it remains a highly effective and
responsive function whilst continuing to demonstrate that it offers value for money.
26. The new Financial Management structure, agreed in December 2020, has been implemented to enable the service to deliver the Council’s
key financial priorities. These priorities include building the Council's financial resilience, delivering improved value for money and
targeting resources where they can make the most difference.
27. The structure recognises the implications of CIPFA's Financial Management Code (the Code) and the requirements placed on the S151
Officer to provide assurance that the Council has in place effective and robust arrangements for financial planning, financial control and
other financial management activities.
28. Through this structure, financial management across the council is delivered by colleagues who are managerially responsible to the Chief
Officer Financial Services. Many of the staff within the Financial Management service are professionally qualified accountants with many
years of experience; and are personally and professionally responsible for their actions and advice. This is reinforced through the
Council’s performance and appraisal scheme which incorporates identifying key skills for finance staff, programmes of training,
development and continuing professional development.

2

including receiving agendas, minutes, reports and related papers

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

29. The implementation of the new Financial Management structure has been accompanied by a revision to the finance service offer with
more emphasis upon a risk-based approach which has been facilitated through streamlining and automating our processes especially with
regard to the production of more user friendly monthly financial dashboards. Combined with the way that we have organised ourselves
with more routine financial activities now being delivered through a central operational hub this has facilitated finance business partnering
teams working innovatively and collaboratively with Senior Officers in Directorates to deliver strategic priorities, transformation and
delivering value for money
Financial Challenge

Page 27

30. In response to the challenge of the financial position as detailed in the MTFS the Council established a “Financial Challenge” programme
of service reviews.
31. The financial challenge silver group provides a co-ordinated and consistent approach to the identification of deliverable budget savings
proposals and clear oversight of the budget savings programme. Through this robust and accountable approach any variations to
budgeted assumptions can be readily identified and addressed.
32. Where appropriate, and in accordance with the Council’s adopted budget principles, alternative proposals will be identified to ensure that a
balanced budget position can be delivered in 2022/23. Progress against the delivery of these targeted savings is incorporated into the
monthly Financial Health reporting to Executive Board.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Officer Oversight
33. The table below sets out a summary of officer groups providing for oversight and accountability in the financial management framework.

Page 28

Group

Composition

Function

Financial Services
Management Team

Directorate Heads of Finance –
To oversee the strategic direction of the service; sharing best practice;
chaired by the Chief Officer (Financial updating on professional developments, policies and guidance and;
Services)
looking forward to considering future developments.

Heads of Finance

Directorate Heads of Finance –
This meeting provides weekly communication with regard to the
chaired by the Chief Officer (Financial delivery of key processes that include the Budget Setting; Savings
Services)
Programme; Budget Monitoring; the Capital Programme and; Closure
of Accounts

Finance Performance
Group

Directorate Heads of Finance chaired by the Deputy Chief Officer –
Financial Services.

Directorate leadership
teams

Directors and Chief Officers meeting
within directorates.

Corporate Leadership
Team

Chief Executive, Directors, City
Solicitor and Chief Officer Financial
Services

To receive monthly Financial Health reports and Capital Programme
and Treasury Management reports and; contribute to and agree the
budget strategies for the forthcoming financial year.

Financial Challenge Silver

Cross council - Chaired by the Chief
Officer – Financial Services.



As well as receiving the monthly year-end revenue projections for each
Directorate which are reviewed and challenged this forum also
receives updates on the capital programme, capital receipts, council
tax and business rate collection and treasury/debt activities. It also
receives invest to save business cases.
To receive monthly budget monitoring information; identification of
implementation of budget savings plans that will result in a balanced
revenue budget position in year and; contribute towards the
determination of the budget for the forthcoming financial years.


Corporate Financial
Integrity Forum

Senior finance staff – chaired by
Deputy Chief Officer - Financial
Services

Provision of high support, co-ordinated and consistent approach to
the identification of robust, realistic and deliverable budget savings
proposals; and
oversight over the 2021/22 budget savings programme
This Forum has a key role within the financial control environment
and its function is to help ensure that there are procedures and
operations in place to provide the necessary quality, integrity and
reliability of financial information and accounts.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Democratic Oversight
34. The table below sets out a summary of democratic oversight and accountability in the financial management framework.

Page 29

Councillor / Committee

Oversight

Leader of Council

Oversight of functions in relation to Council’s financial strategy

Executive member for
Resources

Oversight of functions in relation to financial management and controls; policies and procedures for budgets;
and corporate governance

Executive members

Oversight of development of budget options and savings proposals for matters within their remit

Executive Board





Full Council

Approval of the annual revenue budget and virement rules, the capital programme and Treasury Management
Strategy.

Consideration of capital injections and budget proposals
Receive financial health monitoring, capital programme and Treasury Management monitoring reports
Recommend the annual revenue budget, Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy to full
Council.

Approve Council Tax and Business Rates bases.
Scrutiny Boards

Member scrutiny via Scrutiny Boards ensures that the budget continues to meet the council’s priorities and
objectives.

Corporate Governance &
Audit Committee

Approval of the Council’s audited accounts and receive the Annual Audit Letter.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Clearly Communicate

Page 30

Engagement
35. Extensive consultation was undertaken as part of the budget setting process, as outlined in the Revenue Budget and Council Tax 2021/22
report to Full Council on the 24th February 2021. In addition submitted budget savings proposals that involve the review of a service will
also incorporate the requirement for consultation and engagement.
36. As described above the revised financial management service offer requires improved engagement to work more innovatively and
collaboratively in the management of the current approved budget and in the determination of future years budgets.
37. Respective Scrutiny Boards are engaged not only in the scrutiny and challenge with regard to the management of the current year’s
approved budget but equally they will review budget proposals for the forthcoming financial year and these views are incorporated into the
Annual Revenue Budget report that is received at Full Council in February each year.
38. The Council’s leadership team (CLT) and the Council’s Cabinet receive regular financial briefings on both the current and future financial
years along with updates on issues e.g. new legislation or accounting development, that have implications for the Council’s financial
position.
Communication
39. The Financial Management section of the Council’s Intranet site contains guidance and informative toolkits which support staff who have
financial management responsibilities. Each of the regulations set out in the Council’s Financial Regulations is supported by a series of
toolkits to provide guidance for officers.
40. As well as taking account of the role of Cabinet, CLT and Scrutiny, which is described above, regular financial presentations on the latest
and forecast financial positions are made to meeting of key senior officers such as Best Council Leadership Team
41. Communication and support is provided to both officers and elected Members on specific issues. For example new Councillors receive a
briefing on a range of financial issues including how local government is financed as part of their induction; a training package is currently
being finalised to ensure officer compliance with the requirements of IR35 and in the past training has been provided in respect of
Financial Regulations and on how the Capital approval procedure rules operate.
42. The enhanced Business Partner role requires financial management staff to work closely with Directorates and requires then to ensure
that key staff have appropriate support so that they can manage their current budgets and plan for future financial years.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Effectively Embed
Annual Financial Cycle
43. When effectively embedded the internal control framework ensures delivery of the annual financial cycle which covers:

Financial planning
and budget
preparation and
setting

In-year budget
management and
monitoring

Closure of
accounts and
year-end
reporting

Page 31

Financial Planning and Budget Setting
1. Within the context of MTFS, as well as being a financial expression of the Council’s policies and priorities, the annual budget is also a
means of controlling spending to the available resources and re-enforcing financial accountability and responsibility.
2. The annual budget process is led by the Chief Officer Financial Services and involves a wide range of officers and members across the
council.
3. The process starts soon after the budget setting of the previous year with an update of the funding, key pressures and savings
assumptions contained in the MTFS. Undertaking such an assessment involves a range of assumptions including the level of core
government support as reflected through the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA), other specific funding, calculation of the council tax
base, the determination of the level of business rates receivable, the level of inflation, demand and demography trends, interest rates,
levels of income and fees & charges as well as new or developing spending pressures. This part of the process is led by finance staff but
will involve non-financial staff based in directorates and service areas. The process will, at such an early stage, invariably identify a
budget shortfall. This high-level exercise will be subject to a number of iterations with assumptions being subject to regular review and
reassessment.
4. At the same time Directorates start to prepare detailed estimates for the forthcoming year; although it is recognised that ultimately the
totality of these estimates needs to be consistent with the overall resources envelope that is available to the Council.
5. The development of options to balance to available resources is a key aspect in any budget process and there is a requirement to balance
both capital and revenue pressures. This clearly can be a difficult area of work and whilst needing to be pragmatic and sufficient, it is

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Page 32

crucial that the process reflects the Council’s ambitions, policies and priorities. This is ensured through close engagement of senior
officers and Executive Board portfolio members at appropriate points in the process.
6. In response to the financial challenge the Council established a “Financial Challenge” programme of service reviews. This cross council
“Silver” group approach provided high support, co-ordinated and consistent approach to the identification of robust, realistic and
deliverable budget savings proposals. The same “Silver” group will have oversight over the 2021/22 budget savings programme. Through
this robust and accountable approach any variations to budgeted assumptions can be readily identified and addressed. Where
appropriate, and in accordance with the Council’s adopted budget principles, alternative proposals will be identified to ensure that a
balanced budget position can be delivered in 2021/22. Progress against the delivery of these targeted savings will be incorporated into the
monthly Financial Health reporting to Executive Board.
7. The Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in the Council’s constitution provide that the proposed budget for the
forthcoming financial year must be submitted to Scrutiny prior to the Council’s budget meeting. In practice this is after Executive Board
approval and requires the proposals to be submitted to the December and January meetings of the respective Scrutiny Boards.
8. Budget preparation and setting is a demanding process and operates to strict timescales. This places an emphasis upon not just process
planning but also engagement with elected members and senior management.
9. In many ways the budget is an exercise in managing risk. With limited resources, it is inevitable that elements of the budget will depend
upon actions which have yet to happen, or upon assumptions that may in reality vary from those assumed at budget setting. As such an
important element of the budget process is the development and maintenance of a list of key budget risks which attempts to identify and
assess the risks built into the budget. It is important to appreciate that the time frame of the list of budget risks is a single budget year.
The list of key budget risks not only assists in assessing the robustness of the budget but also acts as a means of assessing the adequacy
of the general reserve in that it provides an assessment of what may go wrong in-year.
10. The Local Government Act (Part II) 2003 places a requirement upon the Council’s statutory officer (the Chief Officer – Financial Services)
in Leeds to report to members on the robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. Reaching
a view of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the general reserve not only requires consideration of the processes and
systems used in preparing the estimates, but also a consideration of the strength of the arrangement in place for internal financial
management and control.
In year Budget Management and Monitoring
11. Budget management and monitoring is a continuous process which operates at a number of levels throughout the Council. The Council’s
budget accountability framework clearly articulates roles and responsibilities and aligns financial accountability within service decisionmaking.
12. Although Directors are ultimately responsible for the delivery of their Directorate budget, operationally these responsibilities are devolved
down to budget holders within the Council. In line with the budget holder accountability framework, every budget has a named budget
holder who is responsible for managing and monitoring income and expenditure against the approved budget. Director and Chief Officer

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Page 33

sub delegations set out clearly what responsibilities have been delegated to them which allow
them to undertake their duties and detailed requirements with regard to the budget are
incorporated into the Council’s Budget Management Accountability Framework which sets out
clearly the responsibilities of Chief Officers, Budget Holders and Budget Monitoring Officers.
13. In advance of the financial year, and after the revenue budget for the forthcoming year has
been approved, Directorates are requested to produce budget action plans for their services
Directors
which detail what action is required to deliver the approved budget (for example a staffing
restructure or a delegated decision to implement price increases); when the action is required to
be completed by and; who is responsible for delivering the action required.
14. In addition, through taking a risk-based approach to their respective budgets, Directorates
are requested to identify contingency arrangements that could be implemented to address any
variations from budgeted assumptions that will result in an overspend. The outcome of this
Chief Officers
exercise informs how much is required in the Council’s general reserve to provide for risks.
15. Budget roll-out meetings are also held with services within Directorates to ensure that
accountable budget holders are both aware of the key aspects of their budgets and also what
key budget actions are required to be completed to deliver a balanced budget position.
16. Financial and budget monitoring in the Council is facilitated by the Council’s financial
Budget Holder
management system (FMS). The system holds information as to the approved budgets, actual
spend and income, commitments and year-end projections. User friendly visual dashboards are
now utilised allowing budget holders to regularly review spend to date against approved budgets
and against profiled budgets. In addition, budget holders and finance staff project the end of
Budget
year position and this clearly involves a degree of judgement. In practice some budgets are
Monitoring
more difficult to manage and forecast than others. There are also instances where spending is
Officers
controlled on systems other than the Council’s main FMS, for example community care
payments. In these instances, procedures are in place to ensure that information held in these
systems are regularly reconciled to FMS.
17. In-year, any decision to amend budgets is undertaken within the virement rules agreed
annually by Full Council as part of the budget-setting process. All such decisions are recorded
as part of the delegated decision-making process.
Closure of Accounts
18. The first stage of the closedown process is a natural extension of the budget monitoring arrangements with Directorate finance officers
compiling the final figures for the services they support to determine an outturn position to be reported to Executive Board in June each

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Page 34

year. This report compares both the revenue and capital budget to the final outturn for each Directorate and provides an explanation as to
the reason for any variation, including explanations of major variations on individual capital schemes. This comparison to the budget
provides a clear indication as to the robustness of the original budget setting and the quality of the budget monitoring process. In addition
a full and complete reserves statement is provided to Executive Board.
19. Alongside the budget monitoring process, significant accounting decisions are referred to the Technical and Integrity accounting team
within finance to ensure compliance with applicable accounting standards. The Council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton, will also
consulted on such decisions to ensure they are agreed by all parties before a major financial decision is made.
20. All changes to accounting practice are assessed and, where applicable, implemented by officers in financial management. All finance
officers and relevant Directorate officers are informed of the implications of any changes. The application of appropriate accounting
practice is assessed by the Council’s external auditors and reported back to members of this Committee.
21. Staff within the Technical and Integrity Team and Strategic Finance oversee the closedown process and the Chief Officer Financial
Services will review both the accounts themselves and the processes used to compile them, before certifying signing them as a true and
fair view. The Council’s external auditors provide members with independent assurance that, in their opinion, the accounts do reflect a
true and fair view of the council’s financial position and that they comply with proper accounting practice.
22. New accounting requirements and outturn projections are taken into account when the budgets are set for the following year.

Capital Programme and Treasury Management Arrangements
23. The Council’s 10-year capital programme considers the need for capital investment against affordability within the Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS). The programme identifies annual programmes across the Council that aim to provide investment in assets to ensure
that the Council can continue to operate effectively. The Council also has a number of major programmes that provide investment in line
with the Council’s best plan objectives. The Council will look to manage these pressures and limit the impact on debt costs by ensuring
where possible that new schemes are fully funded and are essential (under health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council assets
are maintained for continued service provision).
24. Capital investment needs are assessed on an annual basis under the direction of the Best Council Team - Strategic Investment Board
with final approval sought from the Executive Board and Full Council in February each year (at the same time that the revenue budget is
set to ensure overall affordability). If necessary, a second injection at a mid-year point could be utilised. The process does however allow
for fully funded schemes (funded either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing) to be injected throughout the year.
25. Proposals for new capital schemes funded from borrowing must follow a rigorous business case process to demonstrate investment is
aligned to capital objectives, meets the needs of the public and will deliver best value. Directorates submit their future scheme spending
intentions which are challenged and prioritised by the Best Council Team - Strategic Investment Board before CLT, member engagement

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

and wider consideration takes place. Only those priority and deliverable schemes are put forward for inclusion within the capital
programme.
26. One of the main risks in managing the capital programme is that insufficient resources are available to fund the programme. As the capital
programme is fully funded this risk lays within the treasury management of the debt budget. Monthly monitoring procedures are in place
for expenditure, resources, capital receipts and debt monitoring to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively.

Ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to contractual commitments being entered into;

Quarterly monitoring of the council’s VAT partial exemption position to ensure that full eligibility to VAT reclaimed can be
maintained;

Provision of a central contingency within the capital programme to deal with unforeseen circumstances. Individual
programmes and schemes will also contain a risk provision for unexpected circumstances;

The capital programme includes a central contingency to cater for any unforeseen circumstances. In addition individual
programmes and schemes contain a risk provision for unexpected circumstances.

Compliance with both financial regulations and contract procedure rules to ensure the Council’s position is protected; and

Ensuring all major programmes are supported by programme boards.
Page 35

The Chief Officer for Financial Services continues to ensure:

that the introduction / start of new schemes will only take place after completion and approval of a full business case and
identification of the required resources;

the promotion of best practice in capital planning and estimating so that scheme estimates and programmes are realistic; and

the use of departmental unsupported borrowing for spend to save schemes is based on individual business cases and in the
context of identifying the revenue resources to meet the borrowing costs.
.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Meaningfully Monitor
27. Meaningful monitoring takes place throughout the financial cycle as described above.
Budget Monitoring

Budget
Holders

Chief
Officers

Directors

Financial
Performance
Group

Corporate
Leadership
Team

Executive
Board

Page 36

28. Financial monitoring is undertaken and operates on a hierarchical basis, whereby the monthly projections are aggregated upwards to be
reviewed by budget holders, Chief Officers and Directors. The year-end projections for each Directorate are reviewed and challenged
each month by the Council’s Finance Performance Group (FPG). The year-end projections are then reported to the Council’s Corporate
Leadership Team and the Executive Board. As well as being accurate, monitoring also needs to be timely, and as such reporting is
operated according to a strict timetable. In addition, at each monthly FPG meeting, monitoring statements in relation to the capital
programme and debt are also reviewed.
29. As part of in-year budget management and monitoring, year-end projections for income and expenditure are submitted to the Chief Officer
Financial Services, and the Corporate Leadership Team, and are also reviewed and challenged by the Corporate Finance Performance
Group. In addition, budget monitoring s/Financial Health reports are presented monthly to Directorate leadership teams, individual
executive members, Executive Board and respective Scrutiny Committees.
30. Financial monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas
of the budget that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are subject to
fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. To reinforce this risk-based approach, achievement of the key budget actions plans is
highlighted specifically on the regular budget monitoring dashboards that form a part of the Financial Health monitoring reports that are
received at Executive Board.
31. In line with the Council’s financial procedure rules and the Council’s value of ‘Spending Money Wisely’, it is critical that where projected
overspends are identified that action is taken to bring spending back into line with the approved budgets or to identify other sources of
funding such as areas of under spend. All Directorates are required to have contingency plans identified to the value of the key risks
identified in the budgets. The Council’s Revenue Budget principles, which provide a framework for managing the revenue and capital
budgets, requires that savings options to balance identified overspends are reported through the regular Financial Health reports to
Executive Boards in the form of action plans.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

COVID-19 has had a significant impact upon the level of resources available to the Council in both 2020/21 and 2021/22. In 2021/22
around half of the estimated budget gap of £118.8m was due to the impact of COVID and the Revenue Budget and Council Tax report
for 2021/22 detailed the proposals that the Council identified in order that a balanced budget was presented to Full Council for approval
on the 24th February 2021. The latest Financial Health report received at October’s Executive Board identified COVID pressures of
£27.3m over and above budgeted assumptions and these are being funded through a combination of COVID contingencies, reserves
and support from the Government’s compensation scheme for reduced income from sales, fees and charges.

Page 37

Capital Programme Monitoring
32. The capital programme continues to be closely monitored with Directorates and progress on schemes reported on a monthly basis to
Financial Performance Group and Best Council Team – Strategic Investment Board. Quarterly updates are presented to the Executive
Board.
33. The cost and affordability of the borrowing resulting from capital expenditure are budgeted for and managed within the revenue debt
budget. In the year following capital expenditure, as well as budgeting for interest costs, the revenue budget must make provision for the
minimum revenue provision on borrowings which is accounted for over the life of the asset. Forecasts for the debt budget are dependent
upon interest rate assumptions, the likely level of capital spend and the Council’s cash balances. The affordability of new and existing
borrowing is reported on a monthly basis as part of the financial health reporting to the Executive Board, with specific treasury strategy
reports presented to the Executive Board at least three times a year.
34. Monitoring performance reports on the capital receipts, council tax and business rate collection, and treasury/debt activities are
considered during the year by the Executive Board.
35. A further report to ensure compliance with the prudential code, treasury management code of practice and internal audit compliance is
presented to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on an annual basis.
Corporate Financial Integrity Forum
36. The Corporate Financial Integrity Forum, which meets each month and is chaired by the Deputy Chief Officer - Financial Services, has a
key role within the financial control environment and its function is to help ensure that there are procedures and operations in place to
provide the necessary quality, integrity and reliability of financial information and accounts. The overall purpose is to help ensure the
financial stewardship of the Authority by monitoring;
 The regular review and reconciliation of financial systems to the financial ledger.
 The regular review and reconciliation of balance sheet accounts.
 The requirement to have effective systems and procedures in place to facilitate the posting of financial data to the ledger.
 That there are up to date bank mandates for all bank accounts to which LCC officers are signatories and that bank statements
are regularly received and reconciled.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL



Reviewing any other area of financial control or financial governance risk, including partnerships and other joint working
arrangements.
 Areas of concern affecting financial integrity are investigated and reported on.
37. The integrity of all the financial data is of fundamental importance in ensuring financial information is both timely and accurate in order to
correctly inform decision making. This is a key role of the Corporate Integrity Forum. The forum reviews all key financial control accounts
such as cash and tax; the validity of all feeder systems into the financial ledger; along with such things as system access rights and coding
structures.

Page 38

Financial Resilience Index
38. In response to a number of high profile authorities reporting financial difficulties, CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy) issued their financial resilience index for local government. This analytical tool is designed to provide councils with a clear
understanding on their position in terms of risk. The selection of nine indicators, three of which relate to reserves, measure an individual
Authority’s resilience to continue to deliver annual savings and manage significant shocks whilst still pursuing ambitious goals for Local
Communities. The indicators reflect the fact that the Council has a lower level of usable reserves when compared to nearest neighbours
identified in CIPFA’s model and other Core Cities. As detailed in the MTFS the Council is planning to increase the level of reserves that it
retains.
Independent Assurance
Internal Audit
39. Internal Audit continues to provide assurance to members that all of the key core financial systems and processes are robust and are
operating effectively. The financial management and control framework is subject to a number of independent assessments which include
annual reviews of the major financial systems undertaken by the Council’s Internal Audit function. Internal Audit has provided a substantial
assurance opinion or good assurance opinions for each of the major financial system audits completed in the year to date. This includes
the audit of Financial Management Central Controls which provides independent assurance that there are robust controls in place to
support the central co-ordination of the setting and monitoring of the Council’s budget.
External Audit
40. External Audit provide independent assurance on the Council’s accounts and accounting practice as well as the arrangements to ensure
value for money and the controls around the key financial systems.
41. Grant Thornton’s 2019/20 Annual Audit letter for Leeds City Council, which was received at this Committee on the 25th June 2021
concluded that “Overall, if Covid-19 had not taken place, the Council’s financial position would have continued to be sufficiently stable to
manage the financial impact of small unforeseen events as in previous years, however, the financial impact of Covid-19 has been

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

significant and highlights the inadequacy of the Council’s General Fund Reserves…Except for this matter, the Council had proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.” The Council has agreed, in the context of both
the financial projections and financial risks reflected in the Council’s MTFS, to annually review its strategy to ensure that it retains an
appropriate level of balances within its general reserve.
42. Grant Thornton will provide, in respect of the 2021/22 accounts, the independent assurance that the Council has made proper
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. With regard to the audit of the 2020/21 financial
accounts the National Audit Office (NAO) 2020 Code of Audit Practice has changed the way that Value For Money (VFM) arrangements
are reported. As before auditors are still required to be satisfied about arrangements to secure VFM but the way they report this has
changed. Auditors now no longer issue a single conclusion on arrangements as part of their opinion on the financial statements. Instead,
auditors are required to report significant weaknesses in arrangements when they identify them and make recommendations for
improvement. They will only report on VFM arrangements as part of their opinion by exception, where they have found significant
weaknesses. Their main output on VFM will be a commentary contained in a new document, the Auditor’s Annual Report, covering
arrangements for:
Page 39



Financial sustainability



Governance



Improving value for money

43. Where auditors find significant weaknesses in arrangements, they will also make recommendations for improvement. Audited bodies are
required to publish the Auditor’s Annual Report on their website. Since the 2020-21, the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) significantly
impacted upon audited bodies such as the Council, and the financial reporting and auditing process, this could, in the view of the NAO,
affect the timing of when the work on VFM arrangements can be performed and reported. Therefore, for 2020-21 deadlines have been
extended for auditors to issue the new Auditor’s Annual Report to no more than 3 months after the auditor has issued their opinion on the
financial statements.
44. It is important to appreciate that both External and Internal Audit also review our budget and budget monitoring arrangements in order to
assess whether they are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
45. The Chief Financial Services Officer meets with Grant Thornton on a monthly basis to review progress on the delivery of a balanced
budget position and the actions being taken to deliver a sustainable financial position for the years covered by the current approved
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Review and Refine
Adequacy and Resilience of Internal Controls
46. The Council has tried and trusted arrangements for treasury management which complies with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury
Management and the Prudential Code. Committee received a separate Treasury Management assurance report in September 2021
which reports on the robustness of these arrangements. It is proposed that in future the council’s treasury management arrangements will
be included in this annual report.
47. This statement of internal control details the arrangements and controls that are in place to deliver the key financial management functions
that include the determination of the annual budget, budget monitoring and the closure of the financial accounts. Both Internal and
External Audit provide the appropriate assurance to Members that that these arrangements are sufficient.
48. Looking ahead consideration needs to be given to the following which could have implications for the financial management arrangements
that the Council has in place and which may need to revised to take account of these risks and developments.
Page 40

Review of MTFS
49. An updated MTFS was received at September’s Executive Board and this highlighted a funding gap of £151.3m of which £65.4m relates
to 2022/23. This position was reported in advance of the Chancellor’ Autumn Budget statement on October 27 th which will inform the
Provisional Local Government Finance settlement that is expected in mid December 2021. Budget savings options to bridge the estimated
budget gap for 2022/23 have been received at September’s Executive Board and further proposals are timetabled to be received at
November and December Executive Boards.
50. The Government remains committed to progress the review of relative needs and resources the outcome of which will inform the
methodology for the distribution of resources.
51. In addition there are a number of other pressures which will influence and impact upon the Council’s financial position and these include
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon the level of resources available to the Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

National Funding Formula for Schools
52. 2021/22 is the fourth transitional year of the national funding formula for schools. During this transitional period local authorities will be
allocated an amount based on the new national funding formula but they can decide on a local formula for allocating this to schools. The
Government has indicated that the transitional arrangements will continue into 2022/23. The schools funding formula for 2021/22 has now
been approved following consultation with all schools and the Schools Forum. In line with the majority view, some funding will be
transferred from schools to provide additional funding for pupils with high needs, in order to address ongoing pressures in this area. After
taking account of this transfer and the views from the consultation, the 2021/22 funding formula has moved as close as possible to the
national funding formula. In addition work continues to be carried out to assess the financial impact and risk to the Council should
maintained schools become academies.

Page 41

Financial Management Code
53. In October 2019 CIPFA published the Financial Management Code. The Financial Management Code, which is designed to support good
practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their financial sustainability, has been introduced
following concerns about fundamental weaknesses in financial management particularly in relation to organisations that may be unable to
maintain services in the future. The code itself contains a series of financial management standards with which compliance is required if a
local authority is to meet the minimum standards of financial management acceptable to meet fiduciary duties to taxpayers, customers and
lenders. Local authorities have been required to comply with the requirements of the Financial Management Code with effect from 1st April
2021.
54. Implementation of the code will complement the Council’s Statutory Financial Officer’s statement, which is required under the 2003 Local
Government Act, on the adequacy of reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process. It is also good practice for the Authority to
have a policy on the level of its general reserve and to ensure that it is monitored and maintained.
55. The VFM review undertaken by the Council’s external auditors in respect of the 2020/21 final accounts will also cover compliance with the
Financial Code and their findings will be incorporated into their report to this Committee.
Opportunities for improvement
Financial Management Systems (FMS)
56. FMS is the financial monitoring system in use across the Council. On a regular basis budget holder, taking a risk-based approach and
with support from finance staff, review their spend and commitments against the approved budgets and project their year-end position.
57. There are also instances where spending is controlled on systems other than the Council’s FMS, for example community care payments.
In these instances, procedures are in place to ensure that information held in these systems is regularly reconciled to FMS.
58. FMS is an in-house developed and managed Oracle-based system. The system is a ledger system, the general feel of the system is not
modern, user-friendly and there are specific gaps in the system’s capabilities, for example procurement/purchasing. As a part of the Core
Business Transformation Programme, Executive Board in September 2020 agreed the procurement of a replacement of existing Finance,
HR and Payroll IT systems. Implementation of new systems will contribute towards supporting the current process of service reviews, the

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

transformation of service delivery and the securing of the long term viability of the Council’s business information technology (IT) systems.
Implementation of new Finance system will also support the successful implementation of the new Financial Management structure which
supports the Council to deliver its key financial priorities. As a stepping stone to the replacement of FMS, user friendly, visual dashboards
have been developed, allowing budget holders to work with financial information in an effective manner.
59. The integrity of the data within the Council’s core FMS is very much dependent on the data and information from a multiple of source
feeder systems, for example SAP for employee costs, Mosaic Framework- for foster carer payments and CIS for Adult Social Care
payments, Qube for property rental income, etc. In 2021/22 the work programme for the Corporate Financial Integrity Forum will continue
to focus upon seeking specific assurances as to the integrity of the source data that feeds into the core FMS, and in particular the new
Civica system which is being introduced during the year for housing management functions.

Page 42

IR 35
60. IR35 is tax legislation that’s intended to ensure that people who offer their services in a self-employed capacity and typically through a
personal services company pay the right level of tax. (IR35 is the name of the Inland Revenue press release that launched this
requirement in 2017). It’s designed to assess whether a contractor is a genuine contractor rather than a ‘disguised’ employee, for the
purposes of paying tax.
61. Since April 2017 public authorities have been responsible for deciding if the rules applied where they contract workers who provide
services through their own intermediary and the Council is responsible for using the Check Employment Status for Tax (CEST) tool to
determine whether staff being hired for a specific engagement, should be classed as employed or self-employed for tax purposes.
62. The Council has established specific controls to manage this process, and these have been subject to internal audit review, but it is
recognised that further work is required to confirm that the CEST tool is being completed appropriately on all occasions.
63. The Survey of Internal Control which took place in June 2021 considered a number of aspects of the financial management arrangements.
In particular respondents were asked to rate the extent to which staff were aware of and working in accordance with the following:
 Arrangements for taking professional advice from colleagues in finance, legal, procurement, HR etc. before decision reports are
submitted to the decision maker
 Financial Regulations
 Arrangements for obtaining advice and guidance from Financial Services
 Arrangements for budget monitoring and control
64. The results, which are set out in the charts below, show that managers’ perception of overall awareness and compliance with key
components of the financial control environment is good. However, there is opportunity for improvement and arrangements will be made
to ensure that appropriate Council employees are sighted on the financial control framework.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Arrangements for financial advice and guidance
DAH compliance
DAH awareness
DCF compliance
DCF awareness
DCHE compliance
DCHE awareness
DCD compliance
DCD awareness
DR compliance
DR awareness
Total compliance
Total awareness

Very much
Somewhat
Not at all
Don't know

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Page 43

Arrangements for Financial advice before a report is submitted
DAH compliance
DAH awareness
DCF compliance
DCF awareness
DCHE compliance
DCHE awareness
DCD compliance
DCD awareness
DR compliance
DR awareness
Total compliance
Total awareness

Very much
Somewhat
Not at all
Don't know

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Financial Regulations
DAH compliance
DAH awareness
DCF compliance
DCF awareness
DCHE compliance
DCHE awareness
DCD compliance
DCD awareness
DR compliance
DR awareness
Total compliance
Total awareness

Very much
Somewhat

Not at all
Don't know

Page 44

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Arrangements for budget monitoring and control
DAH compliance
DAH awareness
DCF compliance
DCF awareness
DCHE compliance
DCHE awareness
DCD compliance
DCD awareness
DR compliance
DR awareness
Total compliance
Total awareness

Very much
Somewhat
Not at all
Don't know

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT – STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Statement of Assurance
65. Having undertaken the review of the system of internal control for financial management outlined in this statement the Chief Officer
Financial Services is satisfied that the arrangements are up to date and fit for purpose, that they are communicated and embedded and
that they are routinely complied with.
66. The Chief Officer Financial Services has identified the following opportunities for enhancement of the system of internal control for
financial management and will implement these over the course of the 2021/22 municipal year.
Opportunities for improvement
Define and Document
Clearly Communicate
Page 45

Effectively Embed
Meaningfully Monitor
Review and Refine

We will undertake a full review of the Chief Officer Financial Services sub-delegation scheme to ensure that it
remains up to date and fit for purpose in light of recent changes to the service structure.
We will produce and make available a recorded training package that will heighten staff awareness and support
compliance with the key control processes within our financial management arrangements
There are no proposed amendments in respect of arrangements to effectively embed the system of internal
control.
We will ensure that arrangements to support compliance with IR35 are appropriately monitored.
There are no proposed amendments in respect of arrangements to review and refine the system of internal
control.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 0113 37 88540

Procurement of External Auditor
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
 The Council’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton who were appointed following the
Council’s decision on the 22nd February 2017 to opt into a sector led procurement via Public
Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Limited. Their appointment covers the audit of the
Council’s statutory accounts for financial years 2018/19 to 2022/23. During Autumn 2021,
the Council needs to make the decision on how it will appoint external auditors for
accounting periods 2023/24 onwards. External Auditors will need to be appointed for the
accounting period 2023/24 by the statutory deadline of 31st December 2022.


This report sets out the proposals for appointing the external auditor to the Council for the
statutory financial accounts for the five year period from 2023/24.



As well as undertaking the statutory annual audit of the Council’s Statement of Accounts, the
external auditor contributes towards providing the assurance that the Council has
established an effective financial control environment including robust arrangements for
strategic financial planning combined with effective financial management and control.



The Best Council Plan is the Council’s current strategic plan which sets out its ambitions,
outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local Authority. The Best Council
Plan can only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s longer-term
financial sustainability, which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource
implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary
purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and the external auditor contributes
by providing the assurance that the Council has a robust financial framework for managing
the annual budget and has realistic plans to ensure that in future years its financial position
is robust, resilient, sustainable and affordable.

Page 47

Recommendation
a) Corporate Governance and Audit Committee are asked to recommend to Full Council that

the Council accepts Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector led
option for the appointment of external auditors from 2023/24.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 The appointment period for the Council’s current external auditor services expires after the
2022/23 financial year. Under the Local Government Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (“the
Act”) the Council is required to secure the appointment of an auditor to audit its accounts for
each financial year. In doing so the Council has three options;


To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in the Act.



To act jointly with other local authorities to procure an auditor following the procedures in
the Act.



To opt into the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body designated
by the Secretary of State as the “appointing person”. The body currently designated for
this role is Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).

2 After consideration of the three options it is concluded that the sector wide procurement
conducted by PSAA will produce better outcomes and will be less burdensome for the Council
than a procurement undertaken locally because:


Collective procurement reduces costs for the sector and for individual authorities
compared to a multiplicity of smaller local procurements;



if it does not use the national appointment arrangements, the Council/Authority will need
to establish its own auditor panel with an independent chair and independent members
to oversee a local auditor procurement and ongoing management of an audit contract;



it is the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered auditor - there
are only nine accredited local audit firms, and a local procurement would be drawing from
the same limited supply of auditor resources as PSAA’s national procurement; and



supporting the sector-led body offers the best way of to ensuring there is a continuing and
sustainable public audit market into the medium and long term.

3 Whilst the terms of reference of this committee include the consideration of the Council’s
arrangements relating to external audit requirements, Regulation 19 of the Local Audit
(Appointing Persons) Regulations 2015 requires the decision to opt into this procurement must
be made by a meeting of the Council.
4 The Council needs to respond formally to PSAA’s invitation in the form specified by PSAA by
the close of the opt-in period (11th March 2022).
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

5 To opt into the PSAA procurement process for an external auditor when the current contract
expires in 2022/23.
Page 48

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
6 Both the Deputy Leader/ Executive Member for Resources and the Director of Resources have
been consulted and support the recommendation

What are the resource implications?
7 The Council’s proposed external audit fee for 2020/21 is £275.6k. This current external audit
fee which is competitive was derived from the previous PSAA procurement exercise and it is not
anticipated that this process will deliver further savings. In fact there is every likelihood that
external fees will increase from this current budgeted amount.
8 Under the PSAA procurement option there will not be a fee to join the sector-led arrangements.
The audit fees that opted-in bodies will be charged will cover the costs to PSAA of appointing
auditors and managing the arrangements. Audit fees achieved through large contracts should
be lower than the costs that individual authorities will be able to negotiate. The fee for the audit
of a body that opts into the sector-led procurement will reflect the size, audit risk and complexity
of the work required. The PSAA have established a system for setting the fee which allocates
audit costs across all opted-in authorities based on these characteristics. As a not-for-profit
organisation, PSAA will be able to return any surpluses to opted-in authorities after all costs
have been met.
9 By opting into the PSAA led procurement the Council will avoid the costs of a local procurement
and management of a contract and also the requirement to set up an auditor panel with
independent members.
What are the legal implications?
10 Under the Local Government Audit and Accountability Act 2014 the Council is required to
appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial year.
11 Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires that a decision
to opt in must be made by a meeting of the Council. This decision is timetabled to be received
at Council on January 12th 2022. As such, the recommendation in this report is not subject to
call in, as the matter that will ultimately be determined by full Council.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
12 The Council must appoint its external auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later
than the 31st December in the preceding financial year. Therefore the Council must have
appointed its next external auditor by 31st December 2022. If it does not do so then the
Secretary of State can either appoint an auditor on the Council’s behalf or direct it to appoint a
particular auditor.
13 Opting into the sector wide procurement led by PSAA will ensure that the Council meets these
statutory requirements. It also likely that this option will reduce the risks to the Council in terms
of alleviating the need to manage a local procurement exercise and set up a local auditor panel
and will be the most financially favourable in terms of the of the cost of the procurement
exercise and the level of audit fee.

Page 49

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

14 Supporting the Best Council Plan – the approved Medium Term Financial Strategy recognises
the Council’s ambition to be the best city by being a strong economy and a compassionate city
as well as achieving it best City priorities. Financial Services have a key role to play in this
around supporting the Council to realise its ambitions. As well as there being the continued
focus upon value for money, the approved budget means that the Council can target its
resources to drive inclusive economic growth, promote health and wellbeing, tackle deprivation
and other deep-rooted challenges to improve the quality of life for our residents.
15 The role of external audit is to provide the assurance to Councillors and the citizens of Leeds
that the annual statement of accounts give a true and fair view at the end of each financial year,
that they have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act.
16 In addition the external auditors give their opinion as to whether the Council has proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources .
Ensuring that the Council has appropriate financial management systems and procedures in
place is clearly a key aspect in providing assurance, albeit not comprehensive, hat money is
being spent wisely.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
17 The options for appointing local auditors are a) to undertake an individual procurement and
appointment exercise, b) to undertake a joint procurement and appointing exercise with other
Local Authorities and c) join a sector led body arrangement as the Council did in 2018. In
respect of that last option, the Council will need to ‘opt in’ to the sector led body arrangement by
11th March 2022 having firstly obtained Full Council approval to do so. (A requirement of the
Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015).
18 The scope of external audit work is specified nationally by the National Audit Office in their
Code of Audit Practice. Not all firms are eligible to compete for the work as they need to be
registered with a Registered Supervising Body approved by the Financial Reporting Council. It
is unlikely that small local firms will meet the eligibility criteria to undertake the work. Given the
complexity of Local Authority audit work, it is envisaged that contracts would be awarded for a
minimum of 4 to 5 years.
19 For options a) and b) the Council would undertake the procurement exercise either itself (a) or
with its chosen partners (b) using an Auditor Panel. This will need to be done in accordance
with guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).
The membership of the Audit Panel must be wholly or have a majority of independent
members. Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees; this excludes
current and former elected members (or officers) and their close families and friends.
Therefore, elected members would not have a majority input to the selection and appointment
process. Independent members of the Audit Committee may be eligible but this would need to
be confirmed. If the Council decided to join with other authorities to establish a joint Auditor
Panel, this would again need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent members
with legal advice needed on the exact constitution, depending on the Councils involved.

Option A:

Undertaking an individual auditor procurement and appointment
Page 50

20 Advantages of this route include having local input to the decision as panel members could be
appointed locally. However, recruitment and servicing of the required Audit Panel, running the
bidding exercise and negotiating the contract would be time consuming and costly to the
Council. In addition, the Council would not be able to take advantage of reduced audit fees and
economies of scale that may be available through joint or national procurement contracts. The
council would also be procuring in what is a very challenging market currently.
21 Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were last awarded in 2017. At
that time the audit market was relatively stable, there had been few changes in audit
requirements, and local audit fees had been reducing over a long period. 98% of those bodies
eligible opted into the national scheme and attracted very competitive bids from audit firms. The
resulting audit contracts took effect from 1 April 2018.
22 During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector year led to questioning
about the role of auditors and the focus and value of their work. Four independent reviews were
commissioned by Government: Sir John Kingman’s review of the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and Markets Authority review of the audit market; Sir
Donald Brydon’s review of the quality and effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond’s review
of local authority financial reporting and external audit. The recommendations are now under
consideration by Government, with the clear implication that significant reforms will follow. A new
audit regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system leadership in local
audit are to be introduced. Further change will follow as other recommendations are implemented.
23 The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver rapid, measurable
improvements in audit quality. This has created a major pressure for audit firms to ensure full
compliance with regulatory requirements and expectations in every audit they undertake. By the
time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, the measures they were putting in
place to respond to a more focused regulator were clearly visible. To deliver the necessary
improvements in audit quality, firms were requiring their audit teams to undertake additional work
to gain deeper levels of assurance. However, additional work requires more time, posing a threat
to the firms’ ability to complete all their audits by the target date for publication of audited
accounts. Delayed opinions are not the only consequence of the FRC’s drive to improve audit
quality. Additional audit work must also be paid for. As a result, many more fee variation claims
have been needed than in prior years.
24 This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and retention challenges, the
complexity of local government financial statements and increasing levels of technical challenges
as bodies explore innovative ways of developing new or enhanced income streams to help fund
services for local people. These challenges have increased in subsequent audit years, with
Covid-19 creating further significant pressure for finance and audit teams.
25 None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar challenges have played out
in other sectors, where increased fees and disappointing responses to tender invitations have
been experienced during the past two years.
Option B: Undertaking a joint audit procurement and appointing exercise with other
Local Authorities
26 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 enables the Council to join other local authorities in
setting up an Auditor Panel. Advantages of this approach include sharing the cost of setting up
the panel, running the procurement process and negotiating contacts across a number of
authorities. It may also bring opportunity for negotiating economies of scale from a combined
contract value.
Page 51

27 Disadvantages of this approach might include frustrations in the choice of auditor available.
Accountancy and Audit firms often complete non audit work for Local Authorities (e.g.,
consultancy/ advisory work) which may limit firms who are appointable by a joint process due to
independence issues. Should the firm selected be conflicted with Leeds City Council in any way
then the Council would then need to make a separate appointment.
28 The availability of this option to the Council will also depend on the extent to which the other Local
Authorities prefer to use either option A or C in preference to this.
29 The comments above in Option A about the state of the current market for the appointment of
external auditors and the challenge faced in addressing these also apply to Option B.
Option C: To opt into the Sector Led Arrangement operated by Public Sector Audit and
Appointments Ltd (PSAA Ltd)
30 In July 2016, the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local Government specified PSAA Ltd
as an appointing person for principal local government and police bodies for audits from 2018/19, under
the provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit (Appointing Person)
Regulations 2015. PSAA Ltd has a responsibility for:








appointing auditors to all relevant authorities;
setting scales of fees, and charging fees, for the audit of accounts of relevant authorities
and consulting with relevant parties in relation to those scales of fees;
ensuring effective management of contracts with audit firms for the delivery of consistent,
quality and effective audit services to relevant authorities;
ensuring that public money continues to be properly accounted for and protected;
being financially responsible having regard to the efficiency of operating costs and
transparently safeguarding fees charged to audited bodies; and
leading its people as a good employer, ensuring that it continues to be fit-for-purpose;
motivating and supporting its staff; and communicating with them in an open, honest and
timely way.

31 The PSAA will appoint the external auditors for all opted in bodies for a period of 5 years with
an option to extend to for a further two years by mutual agreement.
32 Advantages of this approach include a fully independent approach to appointment of the
external auditors and saving time and resources by avoiding the need for setting up
independent audit panels and undertaking procurement processes. The costs of a procurement
and appointing exercise would be shared across participating councils. A national exercise
offering large contract values may also encourage participating firms to offer more realistic
prices in what is currently a challenging market. Independence issues would be managed by
PSAA Ltd who would have a number of contracted firms to call on.
33 The main disadvantage to this approach is the inability to influence the appointment and the
procurement negotiations to reflect the Council’s approach to procurement. To remain viable
and place itself well in terms of negotiating position, PSAA Ltd will need to secure opt in from a
good number of Councils. A consultation by PSAA Ltd asked for an indication of whether
Councils would opt into the scheme. 57% of eligible bodies answered ‘Yes’ with a further 34%
answering ‘Maybe’ which suggests this is not an issue.
34 PSAA Ltd have undertaken a consultation of authorities who opted into the first appointment
period arrangements (covering the audit of accounting periods 2018/19 – 2022/23) to learn and
enhance arrangement going forward. Their findings are published and include a commitment to
further enhance arrangements related to monitoring quality of service, delays in audits and
auditors staffing issues, contract management and value for money in fee setting.
Page 52

How will success be measured?
35 That an external auditor is appointed within statutory deadline of the 31st December 2022 and
the assurance that the costs associated with the requirement to appoint an external auditor
represent the best Value for Money for the Council.
What is the timetable for implementation?
36 The PSAA have advised an expected timetable as follows for the appointment process:







September 2021 – Councils receive their invitation to opt into the Sector Led
arrangement.
11th March 2022 – Deadline for formal ‘Opt in’ from Councils. (therefore Full Council
approval to ‘opt in’ will be required before this date)
Spring/Summer 2022 – Process for making individual appointments for opted in LA’s will
be published
August 2022 – Procurement of Audit Services will have been completed
Autumn 2022 – Consultation with opted in LA’s on proposed auditor appointments
31st December 2022 – Confirmation of appointed auditor received.

Appendices
37 None
Background papers
38 None

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Kieron Dennett
Tel: 07891 277261

Procurement Review Update Report
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Head of Procurement and Commercial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


The annual report of the Head of Procurement and Commercial Services was provided to the
Committee in July 2021, which provided assurances that the Council’s procurement
arrangements are up to date, fit for purpose, effectively communicated and routinely complied
with (the Annual Procurement Report).



One of the recommendations of the Annual Procurement Report was that the Committee
should note:
o the ongoing work to review the Council’s entire “procure to payment” (P2P) processes
in order to maintain effective procurement support, including appropriate training and
guidance, and efficient systems and processes,
o the proposal from the recent Peer Review of the Council’s procurement function that
was facilitated by the LGA in June 2021 (the LGA Peer Review) to focus resource on
delivering greater strategic value from procurement activity; and
o that a further report would be provided to the Committee with detail in this regard.



In addition, the Annual Procurement Report gives an update of the amendments made to the
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) following the annual review. Following the review
this year, an inconsistency was identified between Article 14 of the Constitution (Finance,
Contract and Legal Matters) and Article 13 of the Constitution (Decision Making). Article 13
sets the upper value for an Administrative Decision at exactly £100K, and a simplified decision
process applies for Administrative Decisions. Article 14 similarly provides a simplified process
for signing lower value contracts, but that process only applies in relation to contracts valued
under £100K. Consequently, for contracts valued at exactly £100K, Article 13 allows a
simplified process in relation to decision making, but Article 14 currently requires a more
complicated process for signing the same contract.



This report provides:
o an update as to progress made in relation to the P2P review (including dovetailing the
P2P review with recommendations from the LGA Peer Review and seeking to deliver
greater strategic value from procurement activity) and
o This report seeks cross-party consultation on resolving the anomaly between
processes relating to decision making and signing for contracts valued at exactly
Page 55

£100K, by extending existing the simplified contract signing process to also apply to
contracts valued at exactly £100K.


The Council’s procurement function aims to support the Council’s Best City ambition of
“Strong Economy and a Compassionate City”. The goods, works and services we chose to
buy and commission, the suppliers we select, the influential relationships we maintain with
those suppliers, and the commercial opportunities we offer can strengthen the local economy
and improve the wellbeing of local people. Further, the P2P review responds to the Council’s
Best Council ambitions, by seeking to improve efficiency and enterprise in procurement,
delivering effective partnership working and commissioning, high quality and locally integrated
public services, supporting those most in need, engaging with communities and individuals,
and making the best use of our resources.

Recommendations
Members are requested to:
1. note the contents of this report; and
2. provide comments on the proposal extend the existing the simplified contract signing process
under Article 14 of the Constitution to also apply to contracts valued at exactly £100K, and
thereby align with the Administrative Decision making process values under Article 13 of the
Constitution.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This report provides an update as to progress made in relation to the P2P review (including
dovetailing the P2P review with recommendations from the LGA Peer Review and seeking to
deliver greater strategic value from procurement activity). In accordance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Framework, the P2P review seeks to review the efficiency and
effectiveness of all P2P related processes in order to ensure compliant procurement activity, to
deliver value for money in relation to external spend, and to have the capacity/capability to be
effective.
2 In addition, whilst consulting with Internal Audit on the proposed changes to CPRs it came to
light that there is an anomaly between Finance, Contract and Legal Matters) and Article 13 of
the Constitution (Decision Making), as described above. Extending the existing simplified
contract signing processes under Article 14 by 1p to include contracts valued at exactly £100K,
will align with the simplified decision making processes in relation to Administrative Decisions
under Article 13, ensuring clarity and efficiency.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

3 The ongoing P2P review seeks to further improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the
Council’s procurement, contract management and invoice processing function, in order deliver
the key areas of the Council’s Procurement Strategy:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Value for money, and efficiency
Governance – legal compliance and managing risk
Social Value and the Real Living Wage
Commercial opportunities
Page 56

e) Supplier engagement and contract management.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
4 Together with senior officers from across the Council, both the Leader and Cllr Scopes (as
former Chair of this Committee, and Chair of Scrutiny Board) participated in the LGA Peer
Review. A full list of those involved is included in the LGA Peer Review report at Appendix 3.
5 The P2P review is the subject of Council-wide consultation as part of the Core Business
Transformation Programme.
6 Seeking opportunities for procurement savings is subject of oversight by BCT: Financial
Challenge, and feeds into the overall Council budget-setting process.
7 The Executive Member has been consulted on the proposed change to Article 14 of the
Constitution and is supportive of seeking comments through this Committee to ensure crossparty consultation on the proposed change is achieved.
8 As noted elsewhere, this is a follow up report to the Procurement Assurance Report provided to
this Committee in July 2021. In addition, annual Social Value reports are provided to Scrutiny
Board.
What are the resource implications?
9 The systems and processes anticipated by the Procurement Strategy represent an appropriate
use of resources and are good value for money. Additionally the procurement activity supported
enables both cashable and non-cashable savings to be made in the commissioning lifecycle.
The Procurement Strategy however recognises that resource constraints mean that we are
currently not able to concentrate on all procurement categories as much as we would like, and
that may have an adverse impact on the Council’s ability to obtain value for money in terms of
both costs and in respect of fully delivering the wider outcomes that could be achieved through
increased social value.
10 The P2P review presents opportunities to draw further value from the Council’s procurement
activity, while adopting more efficient processes. Further, early indicators are that investing in
further commercial resource will help maximise value and ensure delivery of anticipated outputs
from the Council’s commercial activity (i.e. “invest to save”).
What are the legal implications?
11 While the P2P review has resulted in some reallocation of resource from compliance checking
to areas delivering greater strategic value from procurement activity (including development of
new systems and processes), it is not anticipated that the governance arrangements will be
adversely impacted and the Procurement Strategy, CPRs and procurement tools and
documentation meet all legal requirements.
12 Further, the review and refresh of the Council’s procurement processes will ensure that they are
fit for purpose with a view to improving compliance as well as efficiency. Similarly, improving
contract management arrangements across the Council will also deliver benefits from a
governance and compliance perspective. Finally, improving P2P systems will facilitate
compliance by the Council with the anticipated broadening of Council reporting requirement
when the Government introduces its new procurement regulations (anticipated in 2023).

Page 57

13 Article 15.2.3 allows clarificatory changes to the Council’s Constitution to be made by the City
Solicitor. Cross-party consultation via this Committee will facilitate such an amendment by the
City Solicitor in relation to Article 14.
14 This report is not eligible for call-in.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
15 The systems and processes that form part of the Council’s procurement framework are
currently functioning well, however they include significant levels of manual processing and are
inefficient. One of the aims of the P2P review is to improve this.
16 One of the Resources directorate risks relates to risk of procurement challenge, and it is
anticipated that improving processes and systems will further reduce the risk of challenge. As
set out above there have been no formal challenges to procurement activity in the year to date,
and work is continually undertaken to ensure the tender evaluation guidance is embedded
through training and monitoring.
17 One of the actions identified as part of the P2P review is development of a procurement risk
register.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

18 The Council’s procurement function (including in relation to delivering additional Social Value
through procurement) ensure that the Council is able to deliver the council’s three Key Pillars.
19 Effective procurement activity supports the Council’s ambitions of a strong economy and a
compassionate city, and the Procurement Strategy is specifically drafted in response to the Best
Council Plan. Individual procurements support most/all of the Council’s priorities and
breakthrough projects.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
20 A “do nothing” option was considered and discounted. Options for developing P2P systems are
currently the subject of a competitive procurement process, and developing contract
management best practice is the subject of ongoing research and consultation.
How will success be measured?
21 Opportunities for improvement will be measured against “best practice”, and the Procurement
Strategy KPIs. Efficiencies in procurement and management of operational contracts will
contribute to the Council’s financial challenge savings.
What is the timetable for implementation?
22 The P2P action plan is split into 3 phases, which align to the phases of the Core Business
Transformation programme. The Phase 1 immediate actions having already commenced with
some having already been completed. The medium-term actions relate either to the
procurement of a new technology/system delivery partner which is anticipated in late 2022 or
will be impacted by the detail of the Government’s new procurement regulations (anticipated
during 2023). The final phase are outputs from the new technology/systems to be delivered and
will follow completion of the procurement exercise. See Appendix 1 for further detail.
Page 58

23 Changing Article 14 could be implemented promptly.
Appendices
24 Appendix 1 – P2P Action Plan and Update Statement
25 Appendix 2 – LGA Peer Review
26 Appendix 3 – Summary of CPR Updates
Background papers
27 None

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1 - P2P Action Plan and Update Statement
P2P Action Plan
This action plan has been developed in response to the recommendations made following the LGA Peer Review of the Council’s
Procure to Pay (P2P) business function.
P2P is a workstream within the Core Business Transformation (CBT) programme that will transform and modernise the way core
business activities (Finance, Procure to Pay, HR, Payroll) are undertaken across the Council.
Due to the co-dependency of the P2P action plan on the deliverables of the CBT programme, the actions have been aligned with
the delivery phases of the programme.
The CBT programme is split into 3 phases:
 Phase 1: the first phase focuses on business readiness and change that is not technology dependent. In the context of
the CBT programme, this phase will also involve engaging with the market to develop our understanding of available
technology and how it can best be harnessed to achieve our ambitions. Further detail about the progress in delivering
Phase 1 actions to date is included in the “Update Statement” section of this Appendix 1.
 Phase 2 and Phase 3: The Phase 2 actions relate either to the procurement and implementation of the new
technology/require support from the Transformation Partner to deliver the business change (which is anticipated in late
2022) or will be impacted by the detail of the Government’s new procurement regulations (anticipated during 2023). The
final phase are outputs from the new technology/systems to be delivered.
The actions generally directly follow the recommendations of the LGA Peer Review, however there have been some limited
divergences to dovetail with prior actions/ambitions of the P2P peer review and develop a single action plan.

Page 61

Procure to Pay Transformation Action Plan
CBT Phase 1 (Sept 21 – Sept 22)
Readiness/discovery

CBT Phase 2 (Sept 22 – Sept 23)
CBT Phase 3 (Sept 23 – Sept 24)
Commence working with a Transformation Partner / Tech Design & Implementation

LGA Recommendations
1) Focus more energy and
resources on delivering strategic
value from procurement (e.g. an
overall savings plan for
procurement, supplier
engagement, commercial, social
value) and contract management
rather than further improving
already excellent levels of
compliance

Review contracts register to update contacts and budgets
(30/9 TB/LP)

Review and simplify CPRs and proc documentation to
aid self -service for low value procurements (DB/TB)

Start Commercial Business Partner (“CBP”) trial (31/8) in
CHE (ongoing commercial mgmt. work see section 7) KD

Roll out Commercial Business Partners to other
directorates (subject to trial evaluation) (KD)

Reallocate 3FTE (30/9) to support savings; FPS; P2P systems review; social value; contract management (AN)
Develop and implement Procurement Risk Register
(31/12 DB/TB)

Review Council processes - including flexibility anticipated under new Procurement Regs (2023) and reflect new
processes in the new technology (TB)

Develop and implement savings and added value plan for new procurements and current contracts, also develop income generation plan (the SAVInG Strategy) KD
Implement auto-invoice processing solution (30/9) and review and standardise
purchasing and payment policies and processes (SM)
Mobilise new eTendering portal (31/12 LP)

2) Utilise technology to improve
efficiency and to gather data that
will underpin procurement
decisions going forward.

Embed use of SV Portal to aid delivery of SV
through procurement (31/12 TB)
Explore use of market
Explore use of Power BI to produce info/intelligence to
intelligence platforms (31/12 TB) aid commercial strategies and decision making (SH)
Identify and implement new integrated ERP technology (inc market intelligence software) to improve procure to pay efficiency and enable production of business intelligence
that can aid performance, value realisation, strategic commercial decision making (SH)

3) Ensure that PACS have the
updated skills and capacity to
drive a more strategic approach,
specifically in relation to
leadership and category
management.
4) Review the council’s
procurement strategy to ensure it
reflects the balance of corporate
priorities with the details moved
to an operational delivery plan.
5) Allow category managers the
capacity and remit to reimplement a proper category
management approach for all key
spend areas
6) Elected members should be
engaged with the strategic
decision making for procurement
and contract management. There
should also be member
representation on the social value
and climate change boards.
7) Ensure there is a Leeds-wide
approach to contract
management and commercial,
leveraging the good skills which
exist in areas like the PFI team.

Review procurement skills framework and responsibilities market analysis and engagement, category experience (TB)
Undertake procurement skills audit and identify/address training requirements – negotiation/commercialisation (TB)
Simplify reporting lines, improve information sharing
amongst PACS/Commissioners/decision makers (TB)
Review and refresh procurement strategy (1/11 KD)
Undertake interim review of KPI’s (1/11 KD)
Review structure and resourcing requirements (KD/TB)
Further develop ability for directorates to self-support
lower value procurements - skills and technology (TB)

Continuous review/reallocation of resources to support further savings, added value, income generation,
improved outputs (KD)

Report action plan and strategy/KPI review to Exec
Member/CGAC (1/11 KD)
Regular updates to Exec Member on SV progress, and annual updates to CGAC/ Scrutiny (KD)

Review and update delegation/sub-delegation scheme
relating to contract management (KD)
Develop/embed contract management best practice: i) skills framework; ii) training (contract management and commercial/negotiation skills); iii) best practice guidance/ docs (JC)
Commercial Business Partner(s) to drive improvement of commercial skills in CHE and across all LCC (LK)
Appoint new Commercial Finance Manager (6/9 KD) and explore income generation and trading opportunities (including exploration of trading opportunities relating to PFI
contract management (ME/JC)

8) Improve working with system
partners.

Further develop Social Value commitments (inc 3rd sector
and Anchor Network). (TB/SW)
Consider opportunities for more collaborative procurement i.e. Leeds-wide (NHS), regional (WYCA or SPG)) to reduce costs and/or as income generation opportunities (TB)
Continued working with YORprocure SPG and YORhub, sharing know-how/lessons learned (e.g. new procurement reg, carbon neutral toolkit, regional use of market intelligence
platforms, commercialisation) (TB/DB)

9) Consider increasing the level of
ambition on social value to drive a
stronger focus on achieving social
value objectives through
procurement.

Increase resources to embed, monitor and
support delivery of social value (TB)
Develop examples of Social Value achieved to inspire new
procurements/ join up with other Leeds partners (TB)

Page 62

Update Statement – Phase 1
Please note that copies of various documents referred to below are available upon request.

1. Delivering Strategic Value in Procurement and Contract Management


Contracts Register – Three different contract registers have been amalgamated into a single document which identifies all
contracts, anticipated contract values, actual spend for the prior contract, directorates primarily responsible, key contract dates
and having reviewed all named individuals responsible for each contract to ensure they are up to date/rectify discrepancies. It
will be an ongoing process to manually review and maintain the contract register until new technology allows for reliable
automated updates, however the new amalgamated contract register will facilitate improved contract management in the short
term and also better aid consideration of savings opportunities. This data will be migrated on to the Council’s new eprocurement system (“YORTender3”) – see below.



CPRs – CPRs are kept under constant review and regularly refreshed. A summary of the latest amendments is attached at
Appendix 3. In addition, a suite of tender documents that is simplified and specifically tailored to tenders under £100,000 is
currently being drafted. A more comprehensive review and simplification of CPRs and the broader suite of procurement
documents will be undertaken following publication of the new procurement regulations (anticipated in 2023).



Commercial Business Partner (CBP) – The 12 month pilot commenced on 31st August following recruitment of a new staff
member with private sector commercial and entrepreneurial experience. The CBP is embedded in and working primarily with
CHE on various initiatives (contract reviews and income generation ideas), and also provided support to Resources (e.g. review
of specification and payment provisions for the parts contract for fleet, with c£30k anticipated annual savings; also working with
LBS on contract management review). The Director of Resources is keen to broaden the trial, so Head of PACS is providing
additional commercial support to C&F, which will also help define the person spec for a "peoples" CBP if the trial is successful.
In addition, we are currently in liaison with City Development to assess their commercial needs should the CBP role(s) be
expanded further/become permanent.



Reallocation of Resource – 3 FTE from the PACS procurement support team have been reallocated. One member of staff
has moved full time to support Social Value activities. Other staff resource has been realigned to support the Faster Payment
Service, support contract management (including spot-check audits of invoice payments – to commence in January 2022), and
support the Financial Challenge savings review. A further full-time post remains vacant and is currently out to recruitment.
Once operational in late November, the Kefron processing system should free-up other resource currently working on the
Faster Payment Service this should free more resource. Improvements in collation of data (e.g. via the new Contracts Register
and YORTender3) should benefit dashboard reporting with regard to compliance, and the CBP role provides support and
challenge to services regarding procurement spend.



Procurement Risk Register – In development and following consultation with Internal Audit a draft is currently with Intelligence
and Policy colleagues for review and comment. This is on schedule to be in place before the New Year.



SAVInG Strategy and Tracker – A strategy for delivering procurement and operational contract savings and increasing income
generation has been drafted. An accompanying savings tracker is available for use (savings in procurement and contract
management, but also recording non-cash savings and income generation).

2. Utilising technology


Auto Invoice Processing – In progress. A work package definition is being developed for CBT Board.



New e-tendering Portal (YORTender3) – The new procurement was led by North Yorkshire County Council, and the contract
awarded earlier in the year. The contract will be managed by Leeds City Council on behalf of authorities in the Yorkshire and
Humber region. Authorities now have access to the live system and have begun the transition from YORTender2 to
YORTender3, with YORTender3 taking over completely from 31 December 2021. As part of the mobilisation of YORTender3
we are in the process of configuring the system for our specific requirements and rolling out training to 500+ Council users.
Additional modules for contract management and e-evaluation are currently being mapped, before being built, tested and
deployed.



Social Value Portal (SVP) - SVP is an online platform for evaluating Social Value aspects of tenders and monitoring delivery
of Social Value commitments by winning bidders. SVP has been officially incorporated into our procurement process for

Page 63

contracts valued over £100,000 since September 2020, with the first procurements to use SVP going live in April 2021. Since
the procurement assurance report was provided to the Committee in July 2021:
o the total value of contracts using SVP has increased from £10m to £108m;
o the total social value committed under those contracts has increased from £217k to £10.5m; and
o the total social value delivered has increased from £1.2k to £169k.
The procurement documents sections relating to Social Value are currently under review and refresh, with sign off expected in
December 2021.


Market Intelligence Platforms – A review of online benchmarking systems is underway. Such systems allow the opportunity
to understand levels of Council spend with particular suppliers compared to spend by other authorities. Key benefits of this
information are providing an indication of areas where Council spend may be unusually higher than other authorities, and
having a clear understanding of our bargaining strength for negotiation with suppliers (particularly when it comes to contract
extension options). Costs of access to these systems is expected to be c£20-£25k p.a., and a business case will be produced
in due course if the conclusion of the review. We are exploring the potential to buy access to such systems as a region.



New ERP Technology - Procurement of a transformation partner is underway. Suppliers have now been shortlisted and the
competitive dialogue stage of procurement will commence imminently. The transformation partner will support the Council in
identifying various best in class technological solutions for the Council’s core business systems, and integrating them. They
will also support change in Council processes to improve efficiency and effectiveness.

3. Having the skills/capacity to deliver strategic value


Procurement Skills Framework – This has been amended to reflect LGA Peer Review recommendations.



Procurement Skills Audit – Work with officers to consider any individual development needs is due to commence, with any
identified training requirements to be reflected in development plans and appropriate support provided.



Simplify Procurement Reporting Lines – This is currently under review. In the meantime, in order to improve connectivity
between PACS, procurement officers working in services and commissioners across the Council:
o The 6-weekly Procurement Practitioners Group has been reconvened having paused for c12 months following the first
Covid lockdown;
o colleagues from the Construction and Housing procurement category team are now co-locating 1 day per week with
other PACS category teams; and
o part of the CBP role is aimed at supporting procurement activity of services, providing a link to procurement officers in
PACS, understanding particular issues encountered by services and seeking practical solutions and ensuring that
services have sufficient awareness of procurement requirements/guidance to be able to undertake low value
procurements effectively and compliantly.

4. Review of Procurement Strategy


Review and Refresh Procurement Strategy and KPIs – In progress.

5. Capacity to implement full Category Management approach


Review Structure/Resource Requirements – For consideration following conclusion CBP pilot and publication of new
procurement regulations (anticipated in 2023) and alongside development of technology to support procurement activity.



Develop directorates ability to self-support procurements – Ongoing. As noted above, training is currently being rolled-out
to over 500 YORTender3 users across the Council, in order to facilitate them registering and undertaking procurements, and
also to support contract management of operational contracts.

6. Involve Elected Members in Strategic Decision Making


Report action plan to Exec Member/CGAC – This report.

Page 64



Ongoing reports to Exec Member/CGAC/scrutiny – Ongoing regular liaison with the Executive Member. Annual
procurement assurance report provided to this Committee, and annual Social Value updates provided to Scrutiny.

7. Council-wide approach to Contract Management and Commercialisation


Review and update delegation/sub-delegation scheme relating to contract management – It is proposed that the Director
of Resources scheme of delegation, with sub-delegation to Head of PACS to include: “Setting, supporting and monitoring the
council’s policies and procedures for: … c) procurement, purchasing, contract management and commercialisation;…”. This
would then be sub-delegated to Head of PACS.



Develop/embed contract management best practice – CPRs provide that the relevant Chief Officer is responsible for
ensuring that the Contract is managed appropriately and every contract ought to have a Contract Management Plan in place
before award (but a single plan can cover more than one contract, and the contents of the plan should be scaled and
proportionate to the value and risks of the contract). A recent review indicates that there are over 300 Council employees
whose roles expressly include contract management. However, typically individuals responsible for managing the Council’s
contracts are subject matter/technical experts and, as highlighted in the LGA Peer Review, contract management is
inconsistent across the Council.
A working group of PACS officers and contract managers from across the Council has been formed to consider examples of
best practice contract management. Work is underway to develop a contract management Work Package Description for CBT
Board, which will facilitate development of a Council-wide contract management system. In addition, work is underway to
understand the scale of contract management resource across the Council and identify individual development needs (though
a free online foundation contract manager course is available through the Cabinet Office Commercial Training College). Finally,
services are being asked to ensure that their contracts have contract management plans in place, that contract managers
understand the fundamental aspects of their contracts, that contract reviews are undertaken to ascertain whether Council need
has changed since the contract was procured, and to check and challenge supplier invoicing and performance.
Additional corporate support is available (e.g. expanded CBP pilot).



Commercial Business Partner(s) to drive improvement of commercial skills in CHE and across all LCC – See above.



Appoint new Commercial Finance Manager and explore income generation and trading opportunities – The new
Commercial Finance Manager started in post on 6th September, from a private sector commercial finance background. An
initial review of current fees and charges levels, and commercial activity across the Council has commenced. A report to the
Chief Officer Financial Services and Director of Resources will be provided in December 2021. Key areas of focus are: the
need for up to date comprehensive information regarding all income generation activity, areas where traded services could be
more profitable, new income generation opportunities, training/development opportunities, and proposals for greater
consistency and oversight in relation to commercial activity.

8. Improving Working With System Partners


Further develop SV commitments - A series of Third Sector engagement sessions have been delivered. A similar process
is currently being considered at the Anchor Procurement group.



Consider opportunities for more collaborative procurement – Ongoing activities with NHS bodies and with other authorities
regionally (e.g. White Rose Children’s Framework contracts). Further opportunities under consideration.



Continued working with YORprocure SPG and YORhub, sharing know-how/lessons learned – Ongoing.

9. Stronger focus on achieving social value objectives through procurement


Increase resources to embed, monitor and support delivery of social value – The reallocation of resource (see above)
has now identified a full-time Social Value lead to focus on all key drivers in connection with social value across the council
and its delivery partners (including NHS and other public bodies in the region). CPRs now include a specific requirement to
award a minimum of 10% of evaluation marks to Social Value responses, and Social Value training has been provided for
procurement officers across the Council. See above regarding Social Value commitments being made through SVP.

Page 65



Develop examples of Social Value achieved to inspire new procurements/ join up with other Leeds partners – In
progress.

Page 66

APPENDIX 2 – LGA Peer Review

Leeds City Council
LGA Bespoke Remote Peer
Support
Key Reflections

July 2021

Date here
Page 67

Introduction
When the COVID-19 pandemic emerged and lockdown began in March 2020, the LGA suspended the physical delivery of all peer
challenge work including the core offer of a corporate peer challenge.
To continue to support councils during this unprecedented period, the LGA rapidly refocused their support and adopted a new remote
approach, focusing on supporting the recovery and renewal of local government and its communities. This new approach does not
replace the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge offer.
Between 15th and 17th June 2021 Leeds City Council undertook the LGA Bespoke Remote Peer Support. The review focussed on the
Procure to Pay Cycle within the council and the review team included the following participants:
LGA









Councillor Nazia Rehman, Portfolio Holder,
Finance, Resources and Transformation (Wigan
MBC)
Steve Ede, Head of Procurement (Essex County
Council)
James Binks, Director of Policy, Performance
and Reform (Manchester City Council)
Nichola Cooke, Assistant Director (STAR
Procurement)
Tina
Holland,
Programme
Manager,
Procurement and Commissioning (LGA Review
Manager)
Suraiya Khatun, LGA Programme Support
Officer

Council
 Councillor James Lewis, Leader of the
Council and Executive Member for Resources
 Tom Riordan, Chief Executive
 Councillor Andrew Scopes, Chair of Scrutiny
Board
 Suzanne
Hopes,
Head
of
Business
Transformation
 Kieron Dennett, Head of Procurement and
Commercial Services
 Polly Cook, Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy
and Air Quality
 Lee Hemsworth, Chief Officer Customer Access
and Welfare
 Caroline Baria – Deputy Director Integrated
Commissioning
 John Crowther, Chief Officer Resources and
Strategy
 Jonathan Foster, Senior Audit Manager
 Neil Evans, Director of Resources
 Phil Evans, Chief Officer Operations and Active
Leeds
 Tim Pouncey, Chief Officer Resources and
Strategy
 Tony Bailey, Group Procurement Manager
 Leonardo Tantari, Chief Digital and Information
Officer
 Philippa Elliott (PACS)
 Phil Rigby (PACS/Housing)
 Derek Prest (PACS)
 Edwige
Moutault
(PACS)
Robert Greaves (DIS)
 James
Balmforth
(Highways)
Chris Dickinson (Children and Families
 (Mark Phillott (Adults and Health)
 Sascha Watton, social value lead
 Manjit Ahere, Project Officer CBTP

Key Reflections
Value for Money-Efficiency
•
•

•

We were pleased to note that staff clearly understood the imperative to make savings and it is generally thought that budgets
are adhered to.
We discussed benchmarking costs in various ways. We found that although some benchmarking was undertaken it was more
of an ad-hoc activity and we believed that there is a lack of understanding of how to work through the actual cost of the service
(rather than the price). Guidance of how to undertake this ‘should-cost modelling’ is available as part of the Government’s
Sourcing Playbook
We understand that PACS team are planning a review of contracts and we suggest that this review also considers contracted
price against actual invoices paid. The Leeds Procurement Strategy of 2019 outlines annual spend of around £800m and

Page 68

•

•
•

•
•

updated information from the portal suggests this is still the case. However, Leeds published invoices paid over £500 figure of
£939 million in 2019/20 and £937 million up to February 2021. These higher figures include redacted payments (for example
payments to foster carers) of £40million and £34million respectively and payments made for long term contracts, for example
payments made to Leeds D and B One of £24m and £55m respectively. Conversely where Leeds has published a framework
contract on behalf of the region then only the value of Leeds call-offs will be included.
Contract management is undertaken by departments rather than the central team and there are definitely pockets of good
practice, however, and particularly on ‘corporate’ contracts where there is no specific contract owner, contract management is
less consistency in approach. There are potentially missed opportunities to realise benefits and make savings (or prevent
scope creep) in the contract management part of the P2P cycle. The council could consider more how savings can be made
through the life of contracts, perhaps exploring the possibility of sharing savings made with their suppliers or letting longer term
contracts that allow suppliers to offer better pricing structures.
It is good practice to outline a corporate process for contract management i and we suggest that anyone involved in contract
management should undertake this free foundation level e-learning module available through the Government Commercial
College.
There could be value in a clearer overall corporate savings plan for procurement in light of the financial challenges and
uncertainties the City Council faces. The head of PACS is leading the work on collation of procurement savings and has begun
to focus on analysing contracts that might be investigated although we did not see a plan as such for this. There is always the
issue as to how procurement savings are reported, the current system in Leeds follows the budget allocation (so savings on
an IT contract would be reported as IT savings). A case study from Sefton Council work was undertaken to consider the
methodology and development of approaches, processes and skills for contract audit of contracts, recovery of overpayments,
contract management and financial procedures to test for potential savings ii.
Opportunities for making savings in 20/21 were limited due to a number of factors not least the Covid-19 pressures. It is hoped
that the pilot appointment of a commercial business partner will enable close working with the directorates to identify value for
money and ultimately savings.
There is scope to be more ambitious in delivering social value in procurement to help realise wider social, economic and
environmental objectives in the city. Given the kudos for suppliers of doing business with Leeds City Council, and done
effectively, there can be synergy between price, value for money and social value.

Improving Performance
•
•
•

•

•
•

The PACS team and wider teams are clearly keen to demonstrate levels of performance and keen to be the advocates for
change for the future. They were enthusiastic about the implementation of a new system which will reduce administrative work
for the team. Political and non-political aspirations and the need for savings and value added are clear.
The procurement strategy sets out some 31 Key Performance Indicators. It may be beneficial to prioritise a smaller number of
KPIs and objectives in order to focus on delivering against these. We appreciate that it will have been necessary to deprioritise
some of the KPIs and actions in the procurement strategy due to the COVID pandemic.
The Procurement Strategy 2019-2024 sets out the ambition for the how the PACS team will help achieve corporate priorities
through the P2P process. It does outline the corporate priorities and the procurement focus (value for money; governance;
social value and the living wage; commercial opportunities and innovation; strategic supplier engagement and contract
management) but we would challenge the robustness of the plan as to how they will be achieved. During our time on site we
saw an enthusiasm for including social value but less was being discussed about the other areas outlined above. There could
be value in a stronger focus on strategic supplier engagement for example.
Leeds were part of the 60 per cent of councils that benchmarked procurement performance against the National Procurement
Strategy in 2018 and extracts from their own status and ambitions is included in their own strategy. LGA plan to re-open the
system over the summer 2021 in order that councils can repeat the exercise and Leeds are encouraged to engage in order to
be able to consider their achievements against regional colleagues and nationally.
We heard that the PACS team were strong at supporting each other and share learning across the category areas but less so
where categories were managed within departments or with external partners.
The 2019/20 Assurance Report outlined 95.6 per cent of expenditure was on contract or compliant to CSOs. This was matched
by a substantial reduction in the number of procurement waivers sought in the same period. An outstanding achievement that
demonstrates efforts by the council to ensure good governance.

Organisational Arrangements
•
•

All the council officers we spoke to provided very strong and positive feedback about the support offered by PACS on
operational procurement.
PACS work diligently and have direct influence over a high proportion of procurement activity within the council. The focus on
compliance and level of resource within the team means they are unable to fulfil their potential of providing much advice outside
of what we would describe as the ‘purchasing’ part of the procurement cycle iii that includes developing documentation,
tendering, evaluation and awarding the contract. Less resource is available to support the ‘identify needs, develop the business
case, pre-market analysis and engagement’ stages at the beginning of the procurement cycle and the ‘monitoring of contracts,

Page 69

•

•

•

managing relationships and lessons learned’ at the end of the procurement cycle. A more strategic procurement focus and
genuine category management approach would help the to deliver stronger bonds with markets and more added value through
procurement and it is expected that the business partner model will help shift the emphasis to this.
We heard that the council wants to introduce commercial business partners who will be embedded within directorates and will
provide strategic commercial, legal and financial advice to deliver major projects and services with a focus on achieving value
for money, realising savings and early identification of issues that might be a barrier to achieving outcomes. This is still being
developed and the council is actively recruiting a business partner to pilot the model. We see merit in adding this strategic
level of resource and suggest that this should be done alongside consideration of different ways of working for the rest of the
PACS team.
We note that a business case for a commercial finance manager was approved in 2020 but a freeze on recruitment means that
this post has not yet been filled meaning the original benefits outlined are having to be achieved by existing team members.
We note it is likely that this resource will be in in place in September 2021.
In terms of different ways of working for the central PACS team, we appreciate that they are grappling with a number of standalone IT systems, reduced resources, complex rules and processes that create demand from the directorates. PACS team
spend a lot of time in measuring and reporting on compliance possibly to the detriment of being able to resource the more
strategic value-adding activities such as enriching directorates’ thinking with market and commercial knowledge, critically
assessing specifications and considering alternative strategies and models. It is positive to learn that the council is looking to
resolve many of these issues through the core business transformation programme which must include the technical ability for
directorates to self-support lower value procurements and allow the procurement team to have a stronger strategic and
proactive focus.

Optimised Resourcing
•

•

•
•

•

We appreciate the strong desire for the council to focus on compliance, particularly given the recent high-profile issues being
reported where compliance was found to be lacking in other councils. In order to achieve the wider objectives of the
procurement strategy (above) more effectively there may need to be a recognition that less capacity could be focused on
further improving the already excellent levels of compliance. Monitoring and reporting work needs to be further automated and
completed by more junior staff in order to free up other PACS staff for more value adding activities. Senior PACS staff need
to be relieved of their operational duties in order that they can focus properly on leadership.
We are aware that due to reducing resource the team have found it necessary to reduce strategic category management and
market engagement. The procurement strategy of 2019 identified this as an issue. Category managers spend time on
operational issues, renewing contracts, conducting individual procurements that should be carried out by Procurement officers,
and instead they should be focussing on managing their category and adding value by using their technical and market
knowledge within their individual categoriesiv.
Given the period of time during which resource issues have limited, Category Managers capacity to manage markets they
might benefit from the opportunity to refresh their technical knowledge and to gain more 'soft' skills need to effectively influence
stakeholders (persuasion, influencing, negotiation skills, change management skills etc).
The role description for category managers does not include the requirement to have the skills to undertake specific market
analysis or market engagement or even a background in the specific category. We were shown an example category
management plan for Adults and Health dated 2015/16 that contained little by way of market analysis; we looked at the Leeds
Market Position Statement for 2019 which does include information on the council’s approach to procurement and
commissioning but, apart from an infographic outlining at high level what the market looks like, focusses (properly) on how the
council will commission services. Given Leeds’ plan to procure new technology soon we believe that this is the time for category
managers to really focus on what the market can offer and market shaping to better meet your demand. Your new system
could include the technology to help with market evaluation. Done properly, category management will help to increase
productivity, reduce spend and add value to the procurement function.
Within the directorates there will be a need for wider skills development and good practice dissemination – there is an
opportunity for the central PACS team to ensure consistent understanding of regulations across the council, perhaps through
softer engagement and early communication to ‘win hearts and minds’ rather than by reactive reporting. This is increasingly
important given changes coming from the proposals outlined in the Transforming Public Procurement Green Paper and the
procurement implications in the NHS White Paper that will become legislation over the next few years.

Adopting Risk Based Approaches
•

We noted the significant and increasing audit programme on procurement within the council. This may be linked to the focus
on levels of compliance. The Audit committee have clear oversight in this area and only a few services having significant offcontract spend.

Page 70

•
•
•
•

•

There is a risk-based approach to capital expenditure and levels of borrowing, noting the significant financial uncertainty facing
whole local government sector. We did not see a risk register that outlines potential supply chain risks or any other risks except
procurement legal challenge.
Our overall impression of the council’s attitude to risk was one of caution which suggests that a review of the arrangements in
place for lower risk/lower value activity will need to be considered.
The PACS team could then focus on higher value-added and higher risk areas around supplier engagement, contract
management, delivery of savings, and increasing the ambition on social value and this would help the council move towards
maximising the value of its £800m external contract spend.
The council could consider their ambitions in relation to commercialisation and how to increase commercial income alongside
a review of their own appetite to risk. Possible areas to explore include are charging for shared services and generating income
from use of their PFI related skills which might be in demand from other councils as this is a difficult area for Local authorities
to recruit to.
The council could consider identifying staff who are more commercially aware providing training for others (e.g. City Centre
management, PFI, CDIO), recognising this will have a capacity requirement for the trainers.

Exploiting Technology




•
•

•

A number of inefficient manual systems and processes are in operation across the council v meaning there is a need to
repeatedly input data, interpret results and apply manual solutions. An example quoted was the resource intensive manual
exercise to identify which of the councils 15,000 suppliers were local businesses and/or SMEs in order to ascertain what
proportion of overall spend was with local businesses. Systems already exist that would have enabled the council to access
this data within a few minutes. We suggest the council considers the services provided by organisations such as Porge or
Tussell (others will be available) to easily analyse actual spend.
A further example was the amount of manual invoice processing being undertaken by the faster payments team.
The development of a Core Business Transformation (CBT) programme is recognised as a great opportunity to use technology
as an enabler of wider business change and the appointment of a Chief Digital and Information Officer demonstrates significant
ambition to improve the Council’s use of technology.
The CBT programme also includes a number of strands relating to process and culture change within the council and the
implications for procurement are discussed elsewhere in this report. The council recognises that significant business change
and transformation capacity will be needed in the meantime and that business cases for investment are being encouraged to
include investment requirements for business change capacity. The council might further consider
• (i) longer term funding for business change capacity over the next 3-5 years,
• (ii) greater corporate capacity for business change rather than this being considered on a project-by-project basis of
individual proposals
• (iii) whether this kind of business change capacity is best placed within a central team (the CBT team) or embedded
within directorates.
In relation to procurement the council needs to identify what level of information they would need from a new system that would
support not only the process of order placing, receipt and invoicing but also sourcing, contract management, performance
management, value realisation, decision making etc.

Social Value
•

•
•

•

There are good foundations are in place to address social value in the procurement process, in support of the ambitions for
the city and the council. These include a new Social Value Board, guidance produced by the PACS team, and the measurement
of social value through the Social Value Portal (SVP). Elected members endorsed the commitments made in the council’s
procurement strategy following extensive consultation with services and members and the PACS team have already done
some work to align the TOMS to council priorities.
Leeds have engaged with third sector and SMEs on social value and were instrumental in establishing a social value taskforce
for the region and have also engaged with other organisations nationally on various social value related work.
In order to deliver on the ambitions for the city, there should now be a stronger focus on how to embed social value
considerations across the council and the capacity that this would require. Including
• Further increasing skills, expertise and knowledge of how to embed social value effectively and more consistently
• Using the procurement TOMs to consistently agree specific, measurable actions with a quantifiable value.
• Building confidence to negotiate effectively with suppliers on social value commitments, maximising the brand strength
of doing business with Leeds. (A good example of this was the negotiations with telecoms companies to increase their
offers of free ICT equipment for digitally excluded Leeds residents)
• Ensuring suppliers deliver on their social value commitments should be a core aspect of contract management
Leeds could also consider a higher level of ambition on social value, moving from asking suppliers ‘what social value can you
bring’ to a more proactive ‘what social value do we as a council want for our city and residents’? This could be set out in a
Social Value Statement that helps suppliers consider how they can help you meet the council’s priorities. Other councils have
also gone beyond the 10% social value weighting in procurements that Leeds use as a minimum, to a 20 or 30% vi weighting.

Page 71

•
•

Social value considerations do need to be balanced with price and quality issues, particularly given the need for significant
financial savings from external spend in Leeds going forward, but done effectively there can be synergy between price/value
for money and social value.
Leeds could also further influence its key private, public and third sector partners in the city to do more to deliver on social
value, leading by example, and the anchor institutions network may be an opportunity to drive this vii(we understand that the
council plans on issuing comms on social value to its suppliers).

Skills and Competencies
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The council’s PFI contract management team and processes are held in high regard across the council and there are pockets
of good contract management within the individual directorates although we believe that contract management of ‘corporate’
contracts where there is no natural ‘contract owner’ could be strengthened.
The PACS team undertake a large amount of complex procurements. They receive good levels of legal support on contracting
provided by the legal team but in some areas lack resource/skills/confidence/mandate to be able to constructively challenge
service specifications.
There is an opportunity for the PACS team to do more to ensure consistent understanding of regulations across the council
but currently the PACS team are not connected to everyone involved in P2P activity. This will need to be resolved if the council
is to benefit from a more corporate approach to ensure consistency and compliance.
The PACS team are directly involved in a high volume of low value contracts which suggests that the directorates lack skill in
dealing with these procurements themselves.
There is currently no Leeds-wide approach to contract management although we understand that work has commenced to
develop a contract management skills framework, best practice guide and a training programme.
Commercial skills demonstrated on some contracts, for example the White Rose Framework and the PFI contract management
skills, could be more widely applied internally. The council already recognises that commercial awareness skills need to be
updated within the directorates and are identifying the best options to develop something in this area.
There is currently only limited procurement collaboration with other anchor institutions and other Local authorities within the
region. Through the YORProcure Group there is a real opportunity to enable more sharing of knowledge, skill and resources
to deliver more collaborative procurements and efficiency savings.

Policies Procedures and Processes
•
•

•

Robust procurement processes are in place, we have mentioned high levels of compliance previously.
A number of people commented on contract standing orders being difficult to understand and a further review should be
undertaken to ensure those undertaking P2P activity in the council can do this with confidence. We were told that the council
has already made a number of changes to allow greater flexibility in process, this will need to be revisited if the proposals set
out in the Green Paper to overhaul procurement rules that have “been bogged down in bureaucratic, process-driven
procedures. We need to abandon these complicated and stifling rules and unleash the potential of public procurement so that
commercial teams can tailor their procedure to meet the needs of the market.”
As mentioned above, the procurement strategy should focus on the vision, objectives and key deliverables. The details
contained within the current strategy could instead be included in an operational delivery plan.

Recommendations
1. Focus more energy and resources on delivering strategic value from procurement (eg an overall savings plan for procurement,
supplier engagement, commercial, social value) and contract management rather than further improving already excellent
levels of compliance
2. Utilise technology through the procurement process to improve efficiency and to gather data that will underpin procurement
decisions going forward. (Procurement is already within scope of the CBT Programme).
3. Ensure that PACS have the updated skills and capacity to drive a more strategic approach, specifically in relation to leadership
and category management.
4. Review the council’s procurement strategy to ensure it reflects the balance of corporate priorities with the details moved to an
operational delivery plan.
5. Ensure there is sufficient change capacity to support corporate ambitions and that this is deployed in the right areas of the
organisation.
6. Allow category managers the capacity and remit to re-implement a proper category management approach for all key spend
areas.
7. Elected members should be engaged with the strategic decision making for procurement and contract management. There
should also be member representation on the social value and climate change boards.

Page 72

8. Ensure there is a Leeds-wide approach to contract management and commercial, leveraging the good skills which exist in
areas like the PFI team.
9. Improve working with system partners.
10. Consider increasing the level of ambition on social value to drive a stronger focus on achieving social value objectives through
procurement.
Final thoughts and next steps
The LGA would like to thank Leeds City Council for undertaking the LGA Bespoke Remote Peer Support sessions.
We suggest the council review the learning and signposts to good practice embedded in this document.
Under the umbrella of LGA sector-led improvement, there is an on-going offer of support to councils. The LGA is well placed to
provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number of the areas identified for development and improvement and we would
be happy to discuss this. Mark Edgell (Principal Adviser) is the main point of contact between the authority and the Local Government
Association (LGA). His e-mail address is mark.edgell@local.gov.uk

i

Hounslow and Essex councils are acknowledged to have high levels of contract management skills
Nichola Cooke from the peer team has offered to have a conversation with the council on the approach taken at STAR Procurement.
iii
A diagram of the procurement cycle can be found here https://www.cips.org/knowledge/procurement-topics-and-skills/procurement-and-supply-cycle/
iv
North Yorkshire County Council Procurement Structure can be found here https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/procurement-and-contract-management
v
We understand that Kirklees Council switched to SAP to replace a number of old and legacy systems.
vi
Manchester City Council have a 30- per cent weighting on social value with ten per cent reserved for environmental social value set out in their zero carbon action plan
vii
Durham County Council are currently working with their anchor institutions to develop an approach to implementing place based strategies for ‘The Durham Pound’. We’d be happy to
make introductions.
ii

Page 73

APPENDIX 3 - Summary of amendments to CPRs
CPR 3.1.17 – Now includes a footnote highlighting the need for effective contract management.
CPR 4.7 – New – The Chief Officer – Financial Services will maintain a record of decisions made to waive CPRs.
CPR 6.1 – Now includes a footnote advising officers to consider including a contingency when estimating contract values so that it is
clear to decision makers that estimated contract values can go up or down.
CPR 7.2 – Now includes a footnote clarifying the term “direct appointment” and which officers have authority to decide this course of
action.
CPR 7.3, 8.4 and 9.6 – Have been expanded to ensure social value is considered when procuring goods, works and services
regardless of contract value.
CPR 15.1 - Now includes a footnote highlighting the requirement to allocate a minimum 10% of quality scores available to Social
Value where appropriate.
CPR 18.2 - has been clarified to make it clear an award report needs to contain details of the price we are paying for the increased
quality received where the winning bidder has not submitted the lowest price. The Chief Officer Financial Services must be informed.
CPR 20.1 - has been updated to ensure Contract Management Plan is used in accordance with CPR 3.1.17
CPR 21.11 - has been clarified to make it clear that the decision to transfer, assign or novate a contract can be made on a Delegated
Decision Notice alone without the need for a supporting report.
CPR 24.1 – Now includes a footnote reminding officers of the need to comply with the IR35 legislation where personal service
companies or self-employed individuals are being awarded a contract.
CPR 27.1 - has been amended to require a report seeking a waiver to evidence that waiving the particular rule(s) represents value
for money or is in the Council’s/public’s best interests.

Page 74

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Louise Booth
Tel: 0113 3780503

Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020/21
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Head of Audit
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report sets out the annual opinion of the Head of Audit and provides a source of
assurance that the internal control environment is operating as intended through a summary
of the Internal Audit activity for the period from May to July 2021. The report highlights the
incidence of any significant control failings or weaknesses.



The work of Internal Audit contributes to Leeds City Council achieving its key priorities by
helping to promote a secure and robust internal control environment, which enables a focus
on accomplishing Best Council Plan objectives.

Recommendations
The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee is asked to receive the Annual Internal Audit
Report and Opinion for 2020/21 and note the opinion given. In particular:


that on the basis of the audit work undertaken during the 2020/21 financial year, the
internal control environment (including the key financial systems, risk and governance) is
well established and operating effectively in practice



a satisfactory overall opinion is provided for 2020/21, based on the audit work detailed
within this report



that the work undertaken to support the opinion has been conducted in accordance with
an established methodology that promotes quality and conformance with the
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing

The Committee is also asked to note that there have been no limitations in scope and nothing has
arisen to compromise the independence of Internal Audit during the reporting period.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 The purpose of this report is to bring to the attention of the Committee the annual Internal Audit
opinion and basis of the Internal Audit assurance for 2020/21.

Page 75

2 The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee has responsibility for reviewing the adequacy
of the council’s corporate governance arrangements (including matters such as internal control
and risk management) and to consider the Annual Internal Audit Report.
3 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the Head of Audit to deliver an
annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the council to inform its governance
statement.
4 This report considers the opinion provided by the Head of Internal Audit based on the work
undertaken and completed relating to 2020/21 regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control. The work undertaken to
support this opinion has been conducted in accordance with an established methodology that
promotes quality and conformance with the International Standards for the Professional
Practice of Internal Auditing.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

5 The work of Internal Audit contributes towards Leeds City Council achieving its key priorities by
helping to promote a secure and robust internal control environment, which enables a focus on
accomplishing the Best Council Plan objectives.
6 The annual Internal Audit opinion is used by the council to inform its governance statement.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
7 The Internal Audit Plan is developed annually in consultation with Members and senior
management across the authority. Consultation around key risks and priorities continues
throughout the year, and continual engagement with directorates is driven through the ongoing
completion of audit assignments and the agreement of the associated recommendations.
Management are routinely engaged in providing feedback on the performance of Internal Audit,
and this has been reflected in the annual report accordingly.
What are the resource implications?
8 The work of Internal Audit evaluates the effective use of resources and provides assurance on
the corresponding financial governance, risk management and internal control arrangements.
9 The Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion provides the Committee with assurances around
the effective use of Internal Audit resources through information pertaining to the delivery and
completion of the annual plan.
What are the legal implications?
10 The Chief Officer (Financial Services), as the council’s Section 151 Officer, is responsible under
the Local Government Act 1972, for ensuring that there are arrangements in place for the
proper administration of the authority’s financial affairs. The work of Internal Audit is an
important source of information for the Chief Officer (Financial Services) in exercising her
responsibility for financial administration.

Page 76

11 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the Head of Audit to deliver an
annual audit opinion and report that can be used by the council to inform its Annual Governance
Statement.
12 The work of Internal Audit provides assurances around the application of the statutory and
constitutional framework.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
13 The Internal Audit Plan has been subject to review throughout the financial year to ensure that
audit resources are prioritised and directed towards the areas of highest risk. This process
involves the review of information from a number of sources including the corporate and
directorate risk registers.
14 The risks relating to the achievement of the Internal Audit Plan are managed through ongoing
monitoring of performance and resource levels. This information is reported to the Committee
throughout the year and summarised within the annual report.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

15 The work of Internal Audit provides assurances that span a range of themes including coverage
across the council’s three Key Pillars.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
16 The work of Internal Audit provides a key source of assurance to the Committee. Additional
assurances are obtained through a range of further reports presented to the Committee
throughout the year.
How will success be measured?
17 Success is measured through the delivery of the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion.
Supporting performance measures are reported to the Committee, both within the annual report
and throughout the year, and these are subject to continual review and development.
What is the timetable for implementation?
18 N/A
Appendices
19 A – Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2020/21
Background papers
20 None.

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Leeds City Council
Page 79

Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
26th November 2021

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2020/21

1

The Annual Reporting Process

1.1

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the Head of Audit to deliver an annual internal audit opinion and
report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal audit opinion must
conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and
control and must incorporate:




the opinion
a summary of work that supports the opinion
a statement on conformance with the PSIAS and the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme

Page 80

1.2

This report is the culmination of the work performed by Internal Audit to fulfil the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan objectives, and
provides the Head of Audit opinion based on an objective assessment of the framework of governance, risk management
and control. This includes an evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in responding to risks within the
organisation’s governance, operations and information systems.

2

Organisational Independence

2.1

The PSIAS require the Head of Audit to confirm to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee at least annually, the
organisational independence of the internal audit activity. The Internal Audit Charter and the council’s Financial Regulations
reinforce this requirement.

2.2

The Internal Audit Charter specifies that the Head of Audit must report to a level within the council that allows Internal Audit
to fulfil its responsibilities.

2.3

The authority’s Financial Regulations state that the Head of Audit ‘must be able to report without fear or favour, in their own
name to the Chief Executive, the Executive Board, the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee and the scrutiny
function.’

2.4

Appropriate reporting and management arrangements are in place within LCC, including direct access to the Chief Executive
and the Chair of the Audit Committee, which preserve the independence and objectivity of the Head of Audit.

Declaration of independence and objectivity
The reporting and management arrangements in place are appropriate to ensure the organisational independence of the
Internal Audit activity. Robust arrangements are in place to ensure that any threats to objectivity are managed at the
individual auditor, engagement, functional and organisational levels. Nothing has occurred during the year that has
impaired my personal independence or objectivity.
Head of Audit

Page 81

3

Opinion 2020/21

3.1

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Performance Standard 2450) state that ‘the chief audit executive must deliver an
annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement.’ This must
be based on an objective assessment of the framework of governance, risk management and control and include an
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in responding to risks within the organisation’s governance,
operations and information systems.
Head of Audit opinion for 2020/21
On the basis of the audit work undertaken during the 2020/21 audit year, the internal control environment (including the key
financial systems, risk and governance) is well established and operating effectively in practice.
We have audited several areas that have resulted in ‘Limited Assurance’ opinions and we have highlighted weaknesses
that may present risk to the council. In these cases, we have made recommendations to further improve the arrangements
in place. Although significant to the control environment in place for the individual system areas that have been audited,
these weaknesses are not material enough to have a significant impact on the overall opinion on the adequacy of the
Council’s governance, risk management and control arrangements at the year end. A satisfactory overall opinion is

provided for 2020/21, based on the audit work detailed within this report. This includes a range of audits and other valueadding activities. The outcomes of the work that supports this opinion are reported to Members of the Corporate
Governance and Audit Committee during the year.
It is important that senior managers remain alert to, and focused on, maintaining an appropriate, risk-based and effective
framework of controls as the council looks to transform service delivery through the delivery of an ambitious Medium Term
Financial Strategy.
The audit work undertaken and planned for the current year has sought to take into account the change in risk appetite
necessary to embrace and implement such significant change. Although the overall assurance opinion is satisfactory, it is
essential that senior management retain a focus on embedding new and revised operational and governance arrangements
in response to the ongoing financial challenge.
The audit work undertaken to support this opinion has been conducted in accordance with an established methodology that
promotes quality and conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.
Page 82

4

Basis of Assurance

4.1

The annual opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment for 2020/21 is based on the findings and
assurance provided by the schedule of reviews undertaken throughout the year. The schedule of reviews for 2020/21 was
prepared using a risk-based audit planning approach and was approved by the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
in March 2020.

4.2

Each piece of audit work results in an audit report that provides, where appropriate, an assurance opinion. Depending on the
type of audit review undertaken, assurance opinions may be assigned for the control environment, compliance and
organisational impact. The control environment opinion is the result of an assessment of the controls in place to mitigate the
risk of the objectives of the system under review not being achieved. A compliance opinion may also be provided for the
area under review if assurance on the extent to which the controls are being complied with is required. Assurance opinion
levels for the control environment and compliance are categorised as follows: substantial (highest level), good, acceptable,
limited and no assurance.

4.3

Organisational impact is reported as either: major, moderate or minor. Any reports issued with a major organisational impact
will be reported to the Corporate Leadership Team along with the relevant directorate’s agreed action plan.

4.4

The graph below provides a high-level overview of the assurance opinion levels provided for the audits that we have
completed during the year.

Page 83
Assurance Areas
Key Financial Systems
4.5

The key financial systems audits are reviews of the council’s core financial functions. We review these functions to provide
assurance that the financial systems that are fundamental to the council’s operations remain effective and working well in
practice. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require Internal Audit to set a risk-based plan to determine the priorities
of the internal audit activity and therefore this approach has been applied to our coverage of the key financial systems
audits.

4.6

During 2020/21 we have completed 10 key financial system audits. The impact of COVID has been considered within this
work and the audit coverage has included a review of any new processes or changes to procedure that have occurred as a
result. Our reviews of the key financial systems support the opinion that the council has effective financial governance, risk
management and internal control arrangements in place. In addition, they also support the assertions made by the Section
151 Officer in their Annual Assurance report that is also being presented to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.
Audit coverage during the year has provided sufficient evidence to conclude that the key financial control systems are sound
and that these controls continue to work well in practice.

4.7

In recent years, the widely publicised difficulties encountered at other authorities have served to highlight the importance of
financial control and resilience. This is, and will continue to be, important for LCC as we recover from the financial impact of
COVID and look to transform service delivery through an ambitious Medium Term Financial Strategy. We provided
substantial assurance for the central controls in place for the setting and management of the council’s budget, reflecting the
fact that there is a framework in place that provides the opportunity for regular scrutiny of relevant financial information as
the authority continues to adjust to the challenging financial climate. We have also played a central role in supporting the
council’s Core Business Transformation Programme, aiding in the development of financial dashboards which provide
dynamic and interactive analysis to budget holders and decision makers.

Page 84

Procurement
4.8

The achievement of social value outcomes through procurement has been a prominent area of focus during the last year.
Our social value audit found that a range of good governance procedures have been established, including the incorporation
of social value within relevant policies, training and guidance complemented by central oversight and monitoring. Alongside
the use of the Social Value Portal, this provides a sound framework from which the benefits of social value can be
maximised and gives assurance that the council has processes in place that will drive compliance with the Social Value Act.
Moving forward, there is plenty of room to embed these processes and increase the number of contracts within which social
value is incorporated, and we have agreed a number of actions that should help to realise improvement in this area.

4.9

Our primary piece of contract review work has focussed on the council’s arrangements to procure PPE in response to the
COVID pandemic, recognising the efforts to apply good procurement and contracting practices in unprecedented
circumstances. Embedding consistent contract management practice continues to be a challenge across the authority, with
responsibility tending to sit within the service that has been identified as the primary contract user. The challenge is very
much recognised within Procurement and Commercial Services and we are working alongside the service to review and
implement best practice in contract management. This work will continue into the next year.

Directorate Risks
4.10

We have undertaken audits that provide assurance on governance, risk management and internal control arrangements
across a range of operational and directorate risk areas during the year. Our work has had links to risks relating to
safeguarding, health and safety, finance, compliance with legislation and internal procedures and a range of other risks that
may affect the achievement of council and directorate priorities.

4.11

Our audit work has provided assurances around processes that underpin the council’s core values and behaviours. We have
also focussed attention on high profile areas of legislative and regulatory responsibility. Our recommendations have been
positively received by service areas and in some cases these were actioned during the course of the audit.
Information Governance and ICT
The Information Governance and ICT Plan has been reprioritised during the last year and this was reported to the committee
in June 2020. This helped to make space for the council’s COVID response, whilst ensuring we kept a close eye on areas of
ICT security and Information Governance risk. The mitigation of these risks remains a significant priority for the authority,
and assurances have been directly provided to the Committee by the Information Governance team during the year. This
has included the issues relating to the council’s status with the Public Services Network (PSN), including the requirement to
decommission Microsoft Access 2003. The council’s PSN certification has now been provided.

4.13

From an audit perspective, we have continued to monitor progress towards the implementation of recommendations made in
our review of Privileged User Access reported in 2019/20. The Integrated Digital Service (IDS) has established a project to
address the issues identified, with timescales for completion falling in 2021/22, upon which time we will formally review
progress. Our audit coverage has also included a review of the governance arrangements in place for the Community Cloud
Programme. The audit provided assurance that appropriate governance arrangements had been established to ensure the
programme is managed to deliver its intended outcomes. However, as this project is of a complex nature, we are keeping a
watching brief on this through the 2021/22 plan including regular attendance at the Programme Board.

Page 85

4.12

Data Analytics
4.14

Data analytics work is undertaken across directorates and service areas, providing a systematic evaluation of the control
effectiveness within key systems, and highlighting high risk transactions or events. We have mainly focussed our attention
on the transactional data within the key financial systems, as a high area of risk. Whilst no significant issues have been
identified, this work provides an important source of ongoing assurance to management, and is helpful when considering the
direction of each piece of audit work.

4.15

In addition to supporting post-payment assurances for COVID grants paid, a significant portion of our data analytics portfolio
has also been directed towards aiding the development of financial dashboards as part of the council’s Core Business
Transformation Programme. The dashboards have now been rolled out across the authority and are key to the
transformation of the financial service. Our work in this area demonstrates the adaptability of the team in supporting the
ongoing achievement of the council’s ambitions alongside our programme of assurance work.
Limited Assurance Opinions and Follow Up Work
The following section provides a summary of the audits that included a limited assurance opinion, either overall or in relation
to a specific objective. This section also provides a summary of our follow up work. A key factor in our determination of the
overall audit opinion at the end of the year is the extent to which senior managers have implemented audit recommendations
and responded to the risks highlighted through our work. Positive responses from management and a demonstrable
commitment to continual improvement are important indicators of an appropriate culture and robust control environment. Our
follow up work has supported the overall satisfactory opinion for 2020/21.

4.17

In March 2021 we reported that, although a Good Assurance opinion was provided overall for our audit of Housing Leeds
Lettings, a limited opinion was provided in relation to the objective focussing on performance monitoring. Many of the issues
centred around the implementation of a new IT system, and recommendations were agreed to ensure that reporting
resumed accordingly. In addition to following up on this specific issue, we will also be looking at how lessons are learned and
appropriate support is engaged around the implementation of other new systems.

4.18

Our initial review of the Fire Safety Management of Council Tenanted Properties received an acceptable assurance
opinion for the control environment. However, given the importance of fire safety and the high-profile nature of the risks
involved, we have undertaken a follow up review of the progress made in implementing our recommendations. We found
that all recommendations had either been implemented, or were in the process of being implemented, when this was
reported to the Committee in March 2021.

4.19

In August 2021 we completed a review of the arrangements in place relating to No Recourse to Public Funds (NPRF)
cases, to ensure that only families with identified needs are assessed as requiring support, and that these payments are
made in line with legislation and guidance. This will be reported to the Committee as part of the December 2021 update. The
audit provided limited assurance for compliance with the control environment as a result of issues identified with the
accuracy of some payments. We also found that policy information was in need of updating. Management have responded
positively, agreeing to all of our recommendations with actions ongoing at the time of reporting. We will be completing a
follow up audit to provide assurance that actions have been implemented accordingly.

Page 86

4.16

In November 2019 we reported limited assurance for Invest to Save – Benefits Realisation, highlighting that central
governance arrangements had yet to be fully established during the period under review. Having now completed a follow up
audit, good assurance has been provided for the control environment noting that the arrangements for the allocation and
approval of funding have been strengthened and a clear framework now in place. This will be significant in supporting the
delivery of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. Our follow up audit will be reported to the Committee as part of the
December 2021 update.

4.21

An audit of Special Educational Needs (SEN) Out of Area Placements provided acceptable assurance overall, with robust
procedures found to be in place to give assurance that statutory requirements are being complied with and that a range of
factors are considered within placement decisions. However limited assurance was provided for a specific objective relating
to the timely and accurate approval of payments, with several recommendations agreed around this area of the process. All
of our recommendations have been agreed and management actions have already commenced around the payment
process. The audit will be included in the December 2021 update.

4.22

During the year we identified several issues through our programme of School Audits that have led to limited assurance
opinions either in full or part. Issues have covered various aspects of financial management, in particular the management of
school voluntary funds. Whilst schools have unquestionably been affected by the impact of the pandemic, in all instances we
have completed follow up reviews and have been able to point to improvements in the control environment.

Page 87

4.20

Anti-Fraud and Corruption
4.23

Leeds City Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. To underpin this
commitment, the council takes a zero-tolerance approach to fraud and corruption and is dedicated to ensuring that the
organisation operates within a control environment that seeks to prevent, detect and take action against fraud and
corruption.

4.24

As custodians of the council’s anti-fraud and corruption policy framework and owners of the fraud and corruption risk,
Internal Audit adopts an overarching responsibility for reviewing the council’s approach to preventing and detecting fraud. In
addition to Internal Audit, there are several specialist teams and services across the council that undertake counterfraud/overpayment work, these include:





Housing and Tenancy Fraud
Blue Badges (Disabled Parking Concessions)
Council Tax Support / discounts and Housing Benefits
Direct Payments

The anti-fraud and corruption work undertaken includes both proactive anti-fraud and corruption activities (fraud strategies)
and reactive work (investigations). The team takes a risk-based approach to ensure the risk of fraud is managed effectively
with available resources. Proactive fraud exercises, data analytics work and participation in the National Fraud Initiative
(NFI) provide assurance that the authority is taking positive action to detect potential fraud and prevent its recurrence.

4.26

The council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Raising Concerns Policy set out the means by which serious concerns can be
brought to the attention of Internal Audit. The Whistleblowing Policy is available on the intranet and encourages council
employees, who have serious concerns about any aspect of the council’s work, to come forward and voice those concerns
without fear of reprisal. The Raising Concerns Policy is published on the council website and offers guidance to members of
the public who may have concerns around aspects of the council’s work. The promotion and accessibility of these policies
helps the council to be responsive to emerging risks that are identified. The routes through which concerns can be raised are
currently under review.

4.27

Internal Audit are also the custodians of the Anti Bribery and the Anti Money Laundering Policies. The purpose of the AntiBribery policy is to maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist across the council by preventing or
identifying bribery. The Anti-Money Laundering Policy sets out appropriate and proportionate anti-money laundering
safeguards and reporting arrangements within the council.

Page 88

4.25

Reactive Anti-Fraud Work
4.28

From 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, we received a total of 74 potential irregularity referrals (46 in 2019/20). All reported
irregularities were risk assessed by Internal Audit and either investigated by ourselves, the relevant directorate or HR
colleagues, as appropriate. Where the matter was referred to directorates or HR for investigation, we have made follow up
enquiries to ensure all aspects of the referral have been addressed.
The following graph summarises the number of referrals received by Internal Audit in the period by referral route.

Referrals received 1st April 2020 - 31st March 2021
23
13

Raising Concerns

4.29

38

Whistleblowing

Other

The referrals received through the ‘other route’ relate to those shared by external agencies, for example the National AntiFraud Network, or other council services seeking advice or assistance. The 74 referrals covered a multitude of issues which
are summarised in Table 1 below.
Directorate

Page 89

Description of referrals received

Payroll Fraud

Communities
and
Environment
2

Procurement Fraud – mandate and
purchasing cards
Economic and voluntary sector support
fraud (Covid and other grants)

Resources
and Housing

Adults and
Health

City
Development

1
2

1

Children and
Families

13

2

Total

3
1

5

1

15

Business Rates

1

1

Housing tenancy – RTB, abandonment,
sub- letting, succession

8

8

Directorate
Description of referrals received

Communities
and
Environment

Resources
and Housing

Children and
Families

Adults and
Health

Staff conduct

3

3

6

2

14

Service complaint

1

2

2

1

6

Misuse of council funds

2

1

1

1

5

1

2

3

Health and Safety

Page 90

Corruption/ maladministration

4

Cheque Fraud

2

1

City
Development

2

Total

7
2

Theft

1

2

1

1

Total

10

37

14

9

5
4

74

Closed Referrals
4.30

A total of 61 referrals were closed during the period (this includes some cases that were raised in 2019/20). The outcomes
are shown in Table 2 below. Where relevant, recommendations to improve the control environment were raised, this
includes cases that were both proven and not proven. All cases where criminal activity is suspected are reported to the
police in line with our zero-tolerance approach to fraud and corruption. At the end of the reporting period there was one case
with the police, and one with the CPS for a charging decision. At the end of March, 23 cases remained open.

Directorate
Referrals closed by outcome

Communities
and
Environment

Disciplinary action including dismissal

Resources
and Housing

Adults and
Health

City
Development

2

Resigned

Page 91

2

5

Unable to prove or disprove,
recommendations raised.

3

2

Allegation not proven

2

16

NFA taken, as service already
addressed issues or insufficient
evidence to investigate

2

Addressed under another council
policy
9

Total

2
1

Allegation proven

Total

Children and
Families

1
7
4

1

4

31

4

1

1

8

2

1

31

8

9

9

7

3

5

61

Proactive Anti-Fraud Work
4.31

To help ensure that there is an effective counter fraud culture in place within the council, we included time in the counter
fraud block of the Internal Audit Plan to undertake proactive fraud reviews. These reviews consider areas identified through
various methods, including the use of best practice publications and our internal risk assessments.
National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
As part of our proactive anti-fraud work, we take part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). The NFI is an exercise conducted
by the Cabinet Office every two years that matches electronic data within and between public and private sector bodies to
prevent and detect fraud. Where a match is found it may indicate that there is an inconsistency which requires further
investigation to determine whether fraud or error has occurred, or if there is another explanation for the match. Relevant
teams within the Council (for example, Internal Audit, Benefits, Housing and Tenancy Fraud) have been working through the
matches on a risk basis.

4.33

Internal Audit has overall responsibility for monitoring the progress of this exercise and ensuring that the NFI system is
updated. 15,131 matches were received and 10,025 have been reviewed and closed. Two errors have been identified
resulting in the recovery of £1,8261.

Page 92

4.32

Covid 19 Business Grants
4.34

We have undertaken post payment assurance on the Covid business grants. This work has been undertaken in accordance
with government requirements. Various data streams have been used to inform our post payment testing. This includes
information from a number of different sources comprising NFI bank account and company status validation checks, data
provided through the Government’s ‘Spotlight’ system, and data on grant payments identified as higher risk through our
analysis. As these grants are provided to the council to distribute to businesses, any recovery of funds will be paid back to
government. We have also worked with the service on the operational arrangements for the Self-Isolation Payment Scheme.
IT Proactive Review

4.35

1

FMS Leeds is the Councils financial management system and, due to the nature of the information held within the system,
access is restricted and each individual user has a unique login and password. A council wide review has been undertaken
to match log-in details to identify any instances where there may be a risk that these have been shared. Ongoing dialogue
with the directorates is continuing to establish the reasons for mismatches identified, and relevant action is being taken,

One related to a VAT overpayment and the second related to a council tax reduction overpayment.

including reissuing the password protocol. We have reported our findings to the Core Business Transformation Team for
consideration in the implementation of the new system.
Awareness Raising

Page 93

4.36

Included in our counter fraud arrangements are the regular communications to staff of current fraud risks and the signposting
of where to report any concerns. At the start of the pandemic, we published an article on Insite highlighting the emerging
fraud risks as a result of the emergency response. This set out the importance of internal controls in mitigating the risk of
fraud within existing and new processes. Details of key Internal Audit contacts were provided for managers who would
benefit from our input. During the year we raised awareness of bank mandate fraud risks via Insite. This included articles
published in September and November 2020, and a further alert in February 2021. The council, in line with other
organisations, continues to receive fraudulent requests for changes to bank details and false payment requests. Regular
reminders of this risk should help to ensure that staff remain aware of the procedures to follow, so that fraudulent payments
are prevented.

4.37

International Fraud Awareness week took place on November the 15th to the 21st. During this week we promoted the
council’s counter fraud polices, the fraud awareness training, and raised awareness of current and emerging fraud risks on
our InSite page.

4.38

During the year we have also been developing a counter fraud training package for inclusion on the Performance and
Learning System. This will include information on the key fraud risks to the authority, indicators of fraud, signposting to the
counter fraud policies, and how to raise any concerns.
Self-Assessment of Counter Fraud Arrangements and Strategy Development

4.39

We have undertaken a self-assessment of our arrangements against the CIPFA Counter Fraud Assessment Tool. The key
areas of this assessment consider how as a council we:






Acknowledge responsibility
Identify risks
Develop a strategy
Provide resources
Take Action

4.40

The output from this was that the council has reached a good level of performance against the code and has put in place
effective arrangements in many aspects. The authority is taking positive action to manage fraud risks and actively working to
improve its resilience. The assessment identified that there are further opportunities to strengthen our approach through the
development of a Counter Fraud Strategy which is also being presented to Members of the Committee. This will
comprehensively address the council’s reactive and proactive approach to tackling the risk of fraud and corruption, and will
be aligned to the aims, objectives and values of the Council.
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

4.41

In the most recent inspection report issued by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners, it was recommended that Members
should receive regular reports about the use of the Council’s surveillance powers under the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act (RIPA). The Head of Service (Legal) has confirmed that there have been no applications for directed
surveillance or covert human intelligence source (CHIS) authorisations during this financial year. In addition, there has been
no use of the powers to obtain communications data over the same period.
Summary of Completed Audit Reviews

Page 94

4.42

This section provides a summary of all reports issued since the previous Annual Report. Audit reviews completed from 1st
June 2019 to 31st October 2020 were reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report for 2019/20 that was presented to the
Committee in November 2020. Table 3 below demonstrates the audit opinions given, and also brings out the range of
assurance themes that can be drawn from the work undertaken. This underlines the value added within the section and is a
key factor in supporting the Head of Audit’s annual opinion. The table also includes details of the Corporate Governance and
Audit Committee meeting date where the audits were reported.

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Finance including Key Financial Systems
Substantial

N/A

Minor

Financial Management, Risk
Management, Governance and
Decision Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance,

December 2020

Business Rates

Substantial

Substantial

Minor

Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Financial
Management, Anti-Fraud &
Corruption, Information
Governance

March 2021

Sundry Income Central
Controls

Substantial

Substantial

Minor

Financial Management,
Information Governance,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Anti-Fraud &
Corruption

March 2021

Housing Rents

Substantial

N/A

Minor

Information Governance,
Financial Management,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Governance and
Decision Making

June 2021

Council Tax

Good

N/A

Minor

Financial Management,
Governance and Decision
Making, Information
Governance

September 2021

Page 95

Financial Management
Central Controls

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Page 96

Housing Benefit
Assessments and Payments

Substantial

Substantial

Minor

Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Financial
Management, Information
Governance, Performance
Management

September 2021

Client Information System
(CIS) Payments

Substantial

Substantial

Minor

Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Financial
Management, Anti-Fraud &
Corruption, Information
Governance, Safeguarding

September 2021

Schools Central Financial
Controls

Good

N/A

Minor

Financial Management,
Governance and Decision
Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance,
Performance Monitoring, Risk
Management

December 2021

FMS Creditor Purchase and
Payment; Central and
Directorate Processes

Substantial

Good

Minor

Financial Management, AntiFraud & Corruption, Business
Innovation and Development,
Information Governance, Risk
Management, Performance
Management, Value for
Money, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance

December 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Central Purchasing Card
Controls

Good

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Good

Minor

Financial Management, AntiFraud & Corruption, Risk
Management, Performance
Management, Value for
Money, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance

December 2021

ICT and Information Governance

Page 97

Community Cloud
Governance Arrangements

Good

N/A

Moderate

Cyber Security, Information
Governance, Project and
Programme Management, Risk
Management, Governance and
Decision Making

September 2021

ICT Asset Management

Good

N/A

Minor

Asset Management, Financial
Management, Cyber Security,
Anti-Fraud & Corruption

December 2021

Privileged User Access
Follow Up

N/A - Memo Issued

Information governance,
Cyber Security, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance, Risk
Management

December 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Procurement
Acceptable

N/A

Minor

Social Value, Procurement,
Contracts and Commissioning,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Governance and
Decision Making

September 2021

PPE Contract Review

Good

N/A

Minor

Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance,
Governance and Decision
Making, Value for Money, Risk
Management

December 2021

Personal Education Plans

Substantial

Acceptable

Minor

Safeguarding, Information
Governance, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance,
Performance Management

December 2020

Cluster Model and Area
Inclusion Partnerships (AIP)

Good

N/A

Minor

Governance and Decision
Making, Partnerships,
Financial Management,
Performance Management,
Risk Management,
Safeguarding

December 2020

Page 98

Social Value

Directorate risks

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Page 99

Funding for Inclusion

Acceptable

Acceptable

Moderate

Safeguarding, Financial
Management, Performance
Management, Governance and
Decision Making

December 2020

Flood Alleviation Scheme
Stage 1 Operational
Readiness

Good

N/A

Minor

Risk Management,
Performance Management,
Governance and Decision
Making, Climate Emergency
and Sustainability, Asset
Management

December 2020

Major Adaptations

Substantial

Substantial

Minor

Information Governance,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Value for
Money, Safeguarding,
Governance and Decision
Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance

March 2021

Housing Leeds Lettings

Good

Good

Minor

Information Governance,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Asset
Management, Financial
Management, Performance
Management

March 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Page 100

Fire Safety Management of
Council Tenanted Properties
Follow Up

Good

N/A

Moderate

Risk Management,
Performance Management,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Health and Safety

March 2021

Council Housing Growth

Good

N/A

Minor

Performance Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Social Value

March 2021

Financial Assessments

Substantial

Good

Minor

Information Governance,
Financial Management,
Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Performance
Management

March 2021

Anti-Money Laundering
arrangements for the
Revolving Investment Fund

Good

N/A

Minor

Anti-Fraud & Corruption,
Financial Management, Risk
Management, Governance and
Decision Making

June 2021

Application of HR Policies
(Impact of COVID-19)

Substantial

N/A

Minor

Human Resource
Management, Ethics and
Culture, Performance
Management, Governance and
Decision Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance, Risk
Management

June 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Page 101

One Adoption West
Yorkshire – Governance
Arrangements

Good

N/A

Minor

Governance and Decision
Making, Partnerships,
Safeguarding

September 2021

Leaseholders

Good

Substantial

Minor

Information Governance,
Financial Management,
Performance Management

September 2021

Leeds Building Services –
Procurement

Acceptable

N/A

Minor

Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Social Value,
Value for Money, Financial
Management, Governance and
Decision Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance

September 2021

Nursing and Residential Care
Payments

Good

Good

Minor

Information Governance,
Financial Management,
Safeguarding, Performance
Management

September 2021

Housing Leeds – Complaints
Handling Process

Acceptable

Good

Minor

Information Governance,
Governance and Decision
Making, Legislative /Regulatory
Compliance, Ethics and
Culture

September 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Page 102

Taxi and Private Hire
Licensing

Good

Good

Belle Isle TMO – Review of
Modular Management
Arrangement

N/A - Memo Issued

No Recourse to Public Funds

Acceptable

Limited

Invest to Save – Benefits
Realisation Follow Up

Good

N/A

Impact

Minor

Included in Report
to CGAC

Information Governance,
Governance and Decision
Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance, Risk
Management

September 2021

Information Governance, Risk
Management, Performance
Management, Procurement,
Contracts and Commissioning,
Health and Safety,
Partnerships

December 2021

Moderate

Legislative / Regulatory
Compliance, Governance and
Decision Making, Performance
Management, Financial
Management, Safeguarding,
Value for Money

December 2021

Minor

Governance and Decision
Making, Financial
Management, Value for
Money, Performance
Management, Business
Innovation and Development

December 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Special Educational Needs
(SEN) Out of Area
Placements

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Acceptable

N/A

Minor

Safeguarding, Financial
Management, Performance
Management, Governance and
Decision Making, Legislative /
Regulatory Compliance, Risk
Management, Value for Money

December 2021

School Follow Up Audit 1

Substantial

Good

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

September 2020

School Follow Up Audit 2

Substantial

Good

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

September 2020

School Audit 1

Good

Acceptable

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

December 2020

Schools

Page 103

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

Compliance

Impact

Included in Report
to CGAC

Page 104

School Follow Up Audit 3

Substantial

Good

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

March 2021

School Follow Up Audit 4

Limited

Limited

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

March 2021

School Follow Up Audit 5

Acceptable

Acceptable

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

June 2021

School Audit 3

Good

Acceptable

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

June 2021

School Audit 4

Substantial

Good

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

June 2021

Audit Opinion
Report Title

Assurance Themes
Control
Environment

School Audit 5

4.43

Good

Compliance

Good

Impact

N/A

Financial Management,
Procurement, Contracts and
Commissioning, Governance
and Decision Making, Value for
Money

Included in Report
to CGAC

September 2021

Page 105

During the year, we have certified 11 School Voluntary Funds and completed 13 reviews which have provided assurance to
various central government departments and other bodies that grant conditions have been complied with. These are listed
below:


Cycling Ambition Grant x2



Local Public Transport Investment Programme



National Productivity Investment Fund x2



Pothole Action Fund



Local Transport Capital Block Funding Grant



West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund



Blue Badge Grant



Local Authority Bus Subsidy Ringfenced (Revenue) Grant



Additional Highways Maintenance Grant



Emergency Active Travel Fund Tranche 1 Grant



Disabled Facilities Grant Claim

5

Other Audit Work

5.1

During the year we have been involved in a wide range of other audit work which, whilst not culminating in the issue of a
formal report, has enabled us to provide ongoing oversight and advice in respect of internal control, governance and
transformational activities. Some of the key work of this nature is summarised within Table 4 below.
Details

Contribution to Assurance

COVID Response

Further to the onset of the pandemic, we
provided support across a number of areas to
ensure that internal controls remain in place and
good governance is adhered to. This included
involvement in the controls to support selfisolation payments, volunteer expenses and
various other procedural adjustments. We also
provided resource to support the temporary
mortuary facility.

The work ensured that we were consulted on
the fast-paced changes to the control
environment, contributing to a range of
assurances including financial management
and control, risk management, governance
and decision making and business innovation.

Core Business Transformation – Work
Packages

Provision of support to various work streams
within Financial Services that have been set up
to ensure that working practices are fit for
purpose and in preparation for the introduction
of the new core system.

The work contributes across a range of
assurances including financial management
and control, risk management, governance
and decision making and business innovation.

Core Business Transformation – Programme
Assurance

Ongoing work to provide review, advice and
challenge to the Programme Board including
specific work to ensure that contract
documentation was adequately reviewed and
signed off.

The work contributes across a range of
assurances including financial management
and control, risk management, governance
and decision making, programme
management and contracts and procurement.

Page 106

Audit Work Completed

Page 107

Audit Work Completed

Details

Contribution to Assurance

Contracts Procedure Rules Review

Contribution to the annual review of the council’s
Contracts Procedure Rules.

The work helps to ensure that the council’s
Contract Procedure Rules remain up to date
and fit for purpose.

Local Government Association Peer Review –
Procure to Pay

Participation in a Local Government Association
led peer review of the council’s systems and
processes throughout each stage of
procurement through to payment.

The work contributes to assurances around
governance and decision making,
procurement and contracting, contract
management and the delivery of value for
money through purchasing activities.

Contract Management and Monitoring
Working Group

Participation in a working group of officers
looking to deliver best practice in contract
management.

The work contributes to assurances around
procurement and contracting, with emphasis
on the delivery of quality outcomes and value
for money.

Community Cloud Executive Steering
Committee

Ongoing work to provide review, advice and
challenge to the Microsoft 365 transitional
projects.

The work contributes across a range of
assurances including governance and decision
making, value for money and information
security.

Children and Families – Families First Grant
Validation

Regular ad-hoc grant claim validation work
carried out throughout the year to support the
Directorate.

The work contributes to assurances in respect
of financial management and governance.

Verification of contribution payments to the
PAYE Settlement Agreement 2020/21

Work undertaken to provide assurance that the
correct calculations have been made for the
PAYE Settlement Agreement in respect of Lord
Mayor Expenses, Long Service Awards,
MetroCards (home to office travel) and
Examination / Performance Awards.

The work contributes to assurances around
financial controls and processes and provides
specific assurance to the council’s Chief
Finance Officer.

Page 108

5.2

Audit Work Completed

Details

Contribution to Assurance

Planning Decisions Review

We have reviewed specific planning decisions in
response to issues raised by Members of the
Committee.

The work contributes to assurances around
legislative and regulatory compliance,
alongside governance and decision making.

General audit queries and advice issued

Over the course of the year we have received
and responded to a number of queries and
requests for advice from departments and
service areas. These have covered a range of
themes and areas, with a significant number
relating to financial controls and decisions in
schools.

The work contributes to assurance in a range
of areas, in particular governance and decision
making and financial control. The dialogue
with service areas demonstrates how
respected and valued the Internal Audit
service is. It also provides a level of procedural
oversight and a source of intelligence to feed
into the audit planning process.

Other value adding audit activities are summarised within the table below:
Audit Activity

Description

Client Liaison Activities

Provision of professional advice to officers, including client liaison activities that
promote the work of Internal Audit, and to reinforce the importance of robust controls
and good governance.

Board, committee and working group attendance

Attendance at various boards, committees and working groups including Directorate
and Service Leadership Teams.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee support

Drafting reports and attending meetings of the Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee. Responding to member queries.

6

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and Conformance with PSIAS 2020/21
Internal Audit Performance

6.1

The Terms of Reference for the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee include the consideration of the council’s
arrangements for monitoring the performance of Internal Audit. This section of the report summarises the performance
information that has been reported throughout the year to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.

6.2

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require a quality assurance framework to be established, which includes
both internal and external assessments of the work of Internal Audit. The activities we undertake to satisfy the requirements
for internal assessments include:

Page 109



Ongoing supervision, performance management, quality assurance and regular review of the procedures that guide
staff in performing their duties to ensure they conform to the PSIAS. The latest annual external review of our quality
management system was undertaken in October 2020, further details are included at 6.8 below.



Customer Satisfaction Questionnaires (CSQs) are issued to clients at the end of each assignment and the
information returned is used to identify training and development needs. The results of the returned CSQs are
reported to the Committee at each meeting and an annual summary is included at Table 7 below.



Self-assessments are undertaken against the PSIAS for conformance. The light touch self-assessment was
completed in Spring 2021 mindful of the fact that a more comprehensive review would be undertaken later in the
year and validated through an external assessment.

6.3

The PSIAS require that an external assessment is conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent
assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation. Our latest assessment took place during 2016 which concluded
that Leeds City Council’s Internal Audit Service conforms to the requirements of the PSIAS. It has been agreed by the Core
Cities Internal Audit Group that rotational peer reviews will be undertaken. Glasgow City Council are undertaking this
assessment, which will review the extent to which the Internal Audit function complies with the PSIAS. This work is in the
process of being concluded and, once completed, members of the Committee will be provided with the full report at the next
available meeting.

6.4

Members receive updates on the work of Internal Audit throughout the year. Table 5 summarises the reports provided to the
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee between 1st April 2020 and 31st October 2021.

Report

Purpose

Internal Audit Update Reports

Provided regular summaries of the work undertaken by Internal Audit and allowed the Committee to review the
performance of the section.

Annual Report 2019/20

Provided an overview of the work undertaken by Internal Audit and the annual audit opinion in respect of the
council’s governance, risk management and control arrangements for 2019/20.

Annual Audit Plan 2021/22

Presented the proposed Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 for review and approval.

Resources
6.5
Page 110

Resources have increased marginally since the Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21 was approved by the Committee, and
ongoing efforts have been made to maximise productivity with the available resource. We continue to take a risk based
approach throughout the year and are able to confirm that resources have been appropriate, sufficient and effectively
deployed to achieve the audit coverage necessary to deliver the annual Internal Audit opinion.
Proficiency and Due Professional Care

6.6

Proficiency and due professional care is a key requirement of the PSIAS. All internal auditors have a personal responsibility
to undertake a programme of Continuing Professional Development (CPD) to maintain and develop their competence. We
have allocated time within the audit plan for CPD, training and personal development to be undertaken throughout the year
to continuously improve the knowledge and skills within the Internal Audit section.

6.7

All members of the Internal Audit team are professionally qualified, plan to study or are studying for professional
qualifications and Table 6 demonstrates that there is also a good level of local government auditing experience within the
team.

Table 6 – Experience of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff in post
Years of experience – local
government auditing

FTE at 31/03/2020

FTE at 31/03/2021

Less than 1 year

1.57

0

1 – 5 years

4.0

5.68

6 – 10 years

2.0

2

Over 10 years

9.22

9.32

Total FTE

16.78

17.0

Page 111

Quality
6.8

The annual independent review of the Internal Audit quality system was undertaken in October 2020. The assessment
confirmed that the management system continues to conform to our own standards and procedures and is demonstrating
continual improvement. No non-conformances were identified, and one minor opportunity for improvement has been
addressed. All Internal Audit work is undertaken in accordance with internal quality procedures incorporated in the quality
management system, which has been ISO certified since 1998.

6.9

A customer satisfaction questionnaire (CSQ) is issued with every audit report. The questionnaires ask for the auditee’s
opinion on a range of issues with an assessment ranging from 5 (for excellent) to 1 (for poor). Table 7 below shows the
results for the 38 questionnaires received between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021 at an overall response rate of 59%
(for comparison, 46 CSQs were received for the same period in the previous year at a response rate of 60%). The results
are presented as an average of the scores received for each question, along with the range of values that make up this
average.

Question

Page 112
6.10

Average Score (out of 5)

Max Value

Min Value

Sufficient notice was given

4.83

5.00

4.00

Level of consultation on scope

4.78

5.00

2.00

Auditor’s understanding of systems

4.50

5.00

3.00

Audit was undertaken efficiently

4.65

5.00

3.00

Level of consultation during the audit

4.68

5.00

3.00

Audit carried out professionally and objectively

4.95

5.00

4.00

Accuracy of draft report

4.68

5.00

2.00

Opportunity to comment on audit findings

4.82

5.00

3.00

Clarity and conciseness of final report

4.79

5.00

3.00

Prompt issue of final report

4.71

5.00

3.00

Audit recommendations will improve control

4.58

5.00

3.00

The audit was constructive and added value

4.61

5.00

2.00

Overall Average Score

4.71

The graph below breaks the results down further by showing the return rate by Directorate.

Page 113
6.11

We have continued to look at ways of maximising our CSQ feedback, and the Chair of the Committee has recently written to
the Chief Executive and the Director of Resources, who have asked for the support of the council’s leadership team in
helping to ensure all service areas provide feedback where requested. This message has also been circulated through the
Best Council Leadership Team.

6.12

To supplement the established CSQ process, we also confirmed to the Committee that we would write to directors at the end
of the financial year to ask for their views on our service and include the feedback in this Annual Report. We asked the
directors to indicate their level of satisfaction with our service using a rating of ‘very satisfied’, ‘satisfied’, ‘fairly satisfied’ and

‘not satisfied’. Responses were received from four directors or their nominated representatives and the results are provided
below.

Annual Satisfaction Questionnaire to Directors

Page 114

Audit work is focussed in the right areas

Very Satisfied

Audits are carried out professionally and objectively

Very Satisfied

The audit process is constructive and adds value overall

Very Satisfied

0

1

2

Number of Responses

3

4

Internal Audit provides a supportive and important
assurance service to the Adults & Health Directorate – from
jointly determining the annual plan to delivery and reporting
of the audit. Research is carried out with the right
individuals and updates on services are sought prior to
planning the individual audit. Key risk areas are regularly
audited, but areas the directorate want a focus on are
treated as being equally important.

Internal Audit play a vital role in not only ensuring probity
but helping the Council use its resources wisely. The
service maintains the proper balance between robust
objectivity and constructive engagement with services
which enables improvement. I have been particularly
grateful to the service for its role in advising on the
administration of grants throughout the pandemic which
posed new challenges to the Council.

The Internal Audit team working on Children & Families are very knowledgeable about the service.
and the reports add value.

Quality Assurance and Improvement Action Plan
Page 115

6.13

The PSIAS require that the results of the Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Plan (QAIP) are included in the
annual report. The QAIP brings together our commitment to continually review and improve the way in which we deliver our
internal audit service and embed our quality system into working practices. Over the last year there has been a considerable
impetus across the team to identify areas for improvement that can be considered for inclusion in the QAIP. As a result, we
now have a number of actions that are in the process of being addressed. The Action Plan is provided at Table 8 below.
Action

Timescale and Status

Assurance mapping will continue to be developed to support the
annual audit planning process.

Ongoing – this work is being taken forward through our participation in a
CIPFA assurance framework working group ahead of being rolled out
across the teams.

Internal development of counter-fraud training for use on the
Performance and Learning (PAL) system.

Substantially complete - the counter fraud training has been developed
and is now at the testing phase.

Action

Timescale and Status

Page 116

A communications plan will be developed to roll out the counter-fraud
training on a risk basis and further promote the council’s
whistleblowing processes.

Substantially complete – the communications plan has been developed
and will be used to support the roll out of the counter-fraud training in Q4
2021/22.

Internal Audit Counter-Fraud Insite Page – To update the counterfraud information available internally through the intranet.

Ongoing – to be refreshed in conjunction with updates to the CounterFraud Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy.

Internal Audit Performance Monitoring – internal performance
measures, including KPIs, have been reviewed to support and drive
completion of the annual audit plan.

Ongoing – Further work is required with the aim of producing additional
performance monitoring information for the committee.

Internal Audit Reporting Protocols – to update and streamline
directorate reporting protocols to drive timely completion of audit
reports.

Ongoing – Revised protocols have been drafted and are currently at
consultation stage ahead of being rolled out for the start of 2022/23.

Internal Audit Reporting – to review and refresh the way in which our
audit work is reported, with a view to identifying and implementing the
most efficient and effective means.

Ongoing – The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee reports
have been consulted on and refreshed during the year. Work is ongoing
to review the means through which our audit findings are reported to
management. This will include consultation with relevant key
stakeholders.

Internal Audit Technical Manual – To review and update the technical
manual as a means of promoting auditing best practice across the
team.

Substantially Complete – The technical manual has now been reviewed
and is to be shared across the team in Q3 / Q4 2021/22.

Action

Timescale and Status

SharePoint Online Working Platform and Internal Audit Workflows – To
review our usage of SharePoint Online in conjunction with the
transition to the cloud, and to determine the most effective means of
storing and accessing electronic information. This works alongside an
effort to promote streamlined and standardised workflows in
accordance with the section’s Quality Procedures.

Complete – The Internal Audit Hub has been created on SharePoint
Online and all relevant data migrated across. A process flowchart has
also been developed in accordance with the Quality Procedures, and this
has been shared with the team and published on the Internal Audit Hub.

Internal Training Programme – To identify and address relevant
training areas across the team.

Ongoing – The team has been consulted on areas in which additional
training is required. To date this has resulted in:

Page 117



SharePoint Online Training – now completed.



Audit Time Management and Recording System – team
members have been asked to highlight specific areas with
training to be provided across Q3 / Q4 2021/22.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Report author: Kate Sadler
Tel: 0113 37 88663

Approval of Annual Governance Statement
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report presents the final Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for approval by
committee in advance of the Committee’s approval of the audited Statement of Accounts.



This AGS has been prepared following a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s
arrangements for Internal Control.



The Interim AGS was published alongside the Statement of Accounts when put on deposit.
Amendments have been made to reflect changes since this time.

Recommendations
a) Members are requested to approve the Annual Governance Statement.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1
2

The AGS is a statutory requirement and must be published alongside the council’s audited
statement of accounts.
The Annual Governance Statement has been updated reflecting developments in the Council’s
governance arrangements, and further assurance available since the Committee approved the
Interim Governance Statement in July 2021.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

3

☐ Yes

☒No

The AGS is required to demonstrate that the Council’s arrangements for internal control
conform to proper practice. The Principles of Good Governance identified by CIPFA are
reflected in the Council’s Corporate Governance Code and Framework.

Page 119

4

The Survey of Internal Control has enabled the council’s managers to reflect on their
experience of the controls relating to each of the seven principles set out, to identify
strengths and weaknesses, and to recommend solutions and draw attention to potential
opportunities to improve arrangements. The key action plan, set out at Annex 2 to the
AGS, was drawn together following detailed analysis of the results.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
5

The AGS relies on assurances received by Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
during the course of the 2020/21 and 21/22 municipal years.

6

Further information has been provided by officers with specialist responsibility for key
systems of internal control who have provided feedback on the Interim AGS and updated
information for inclusion in the final AGS.

7

The Interim AGS was published in line with the statutory procedure, enabling a period of
public inspection and comment prior to approval of the final AGS by Committee. No
comments were received during the period for public inspection.

8

The draft final AGS has been shared with Corporate Leadership Team and the Leader of
Council for comment prior to inclusion in this report.

What are the resource implications?
1

Arrangements for the review of internal control and preparation of the AGS are carried out
within existing resources.

2

The AGS confirms that arrangements have been reviewed and that these arrangements
are operating effectively to ensure that the council utilises its resources efficiently,
effectively and economically in achieving its strategic objectives to ensure that it delivers
value for money services to its citizens and communities.

What are the legal implications?
3

The AGS is prepared in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015/234 (the
Regulations) and demonstrates that the Council’s arrangements for internal control are in
line with proper practice as identified in the Delivering Good Governance in Local
Government Framework (CIPFA 2016).

4

The AGS confirms that arrangements have been reviewed and they demonstrate that the
Council behaves with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and
respecting the rule of law.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
5

The positive assurances set out in the AGS show that the Council have robust and effective
arrangements in place for managing risk and performance.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
6

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

The AGS confirms that arrangements in place enable clear strategic planning which is
informed by community engagement and underpins accountable decision making to deliver
identified objectives.
Page 120

Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
7

The Council is required to publish the AGS, so no alternative has been considered.

b) How will success be measured?
8

The Council’s External Auditors will consider the AGS within their review of the Council’s
arrangements.

c) What is the timetable for implementation?
9

The AGS will be published alongside the Council’s audited accounts when these have been
approved by Committee.

Appendices
10 Annual Governance Statement
Background papers
11 None

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

Annual Governance
Statement
2021

To be Approved by
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
26 November 2021

Page 123

Contents
A.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... 3
A.1
Method Statement.................................................................................................................. 3
B. OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK .................................................................................................. 4
B.1
Culture and People.................................................................................................................. 5
B.2
Documents, Systems and Processes ....................................................................................... 6
C. HOW WE HAVE REVIEWED OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK ...................................................... 8
C.1
Assurance Map and Framework ............................................................................................. 8
C.2
Operational Ownership and Management ............................................................................. 8
C.3
Specialist Oversight and Compliance ...................................................................................... 8
C.4
Democratic Oversight ........................................................................................................... 11
C.5
Independent Assurance ........................................................................................................ 13
D. EFFECTIVENESS OF SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL ................................................................... 16
D.1
We will behave lawfully, with integrity and in the public interest and demonstrate this through our conduct
and behaviour. .................................................................................................................................. 16
D.2
We will be open and engage with local communities, service users and our other stakeholders. 17
D.3
We will focus our resources on outcomes and ensure council tax payers and service users receive excellent
value for money. ............................................................................................................................... 18
D.4
We will ensure we have clear responsibilities and arrangements for transparent and effective
accountability. ................................................................................................................................... 19
D.5
We will take informed and transparent decisions. ............................................................... 19
D.6
We will ensure that we have robust and effective audit, scrutiny, information governance, risk and financial
management controls. ...................................................................................................................... 20
D.7
We will develop our capacity and capability to be effective. ............................................... 22
E. KEY ACTIONS ................................................................................................................................. 23
E.1
Key Actions from 2020 .......................................................................................................... 23
E.2
Key Actions for 2021 ............................................................................................................. 23
F. CONCLUSION AND ASSURANCE STATEMENT ............................................................................... 24
ANNEX 1 - KEY ACTIONS 2020 – OUTCOMES ........................................................................................ 25
ANNEX 2 - KEY ACTIONS 2021 ............................................................................................................... 31

Page 124

Executive Summary and Method Statement
A. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1. Leeds City Council is obliged to ensure it has a sound system of internal control which
facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of its aims and objectives;
ensures that the financial and operational management of the authority is effective; and
includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.
A.1 Method Statement
2. In accordance with the Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, we have
conducted a review of the effectiveness of our system of internal control in accordance with
proper practice as set out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA) Code of Practice: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2016).
3. Whilst supporting the Council’s arrangements for risk management, the governance framework
cannot eliminate all risk to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives and this review can
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
4. Similarly, this review provides assurance that we have in place appropriate processes to
ensure transparency and democratic oversight in decision making but does not necessarily
mean agreeing with all decisions made.
5. This statement is guided by CIPFA Bulletin 06 Application of the Good Governance Framework
2020/21 and describes our governance framework, the steps we have taken to ensure that it is
effective and establishes key actions that we will put in place to ensure the ongoing
effectiveness of our arrangements.
6. The review reflects formal reporting to Council and Executive Committees, and enquiries made
of officers with relevant knowledge, experience and expertise. The review has been
undertaken in consultation with the Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and
Chief Finance Officer.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 3 of 35

Page 125

Executive Summary and Method Statement
B. OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
7. Our governance arrangements seek to ensure that we are able to devise and deliver services
to the citizens of Leeds in a way that demonstrates accountability, transparency, effectiveness
and value for money, integrity, and inclusivity.
8. Through our governance framework we:
 account to, engage with and lead our communities;
 monitor the achievement of our strategic objectives as set out in our Best Council Plan;
and
 consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate services and
value for money.
9. Our Corporate Governance Code and Framework sets seven guiding principles together with
commitments we make to give effect to each of these. Alongside these commitments the Code
and Framework sets out the arrangements which support and evidence these commitments.
These governance arrangements are a combination of the culture, people, documents, and
systems and processes which together direct and control the Council’s activities, as
demonstrated at Figure 1 below.
Figure 1 – Governance Arrangements
• Ambitions
• Values
• Policial Environment
• Ethical Governance
• Relationships

• Members
• Officers
• Statutory Officers
• Partners and Stakeholders
• Citizens and Communities

Culture

People

Documents

Systems
and
Processes

• Joint Strategic Assessment
• Best Council Plan
• Budget & Policy Framework
• Constitution

• Systems of internal control
• Audit and inspection
• Compliments and Complaints

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 4 of 35

Page 126

Executive Summary and Method Statement
B.1 Culture and People
10. Our culture is framed by our best city and best council ambitions together with our five values.
Being open,
honest and
trusted

Treating
people fairly

Spending
money wisely

Working as a
team for
Leeds

Working with
communities

11. Our values are articulated, communicated and embedded through defined behaviours. These
behaviours are evidenced through our relationships within the Council; with our partners and
stakeholders; and with citizens and communities.
The Political Environment
12. We recognise the unique nature of the political environment in local government and expect a
relationship of mutual trust and respect between all Members and officers.
13. Our political environment is characterised by an approach of cross party engagement through
which we ensure that all our decisions are subject to rigorous oversight and robust challenge.
 As Executive Members, Opposition Members on Executive Board provide meaningful
challenge to Executive decision making.
 Our scrutiny function is delivered in line with the seven conditions for success identified
in our Vision for Scrutiny at Leeds, set out in Article 6 of our Constitution. Scrutiny
Board Chairs are drawn from both administration and opposition political groups.
 Clear and embedded arrangements for the publication of key decisions enable effective
democratic oversight of decisions taken by officers.
 Regular performance reporting in relation to key strategies ensures effective
accountability of those in operational control.
Officers
14. Our People Strategy 2020-25 sets out our commitment to best leadership and management
and to best employee experience. Working through application of our Values this strategy
underpins our approach to recruitment, work life, development, progression and exit.
15. Officer remit and accountability is clearly structured, communicated and monitored through
delegation and sub-delegation arrangements, appraisal objectives and regular supervision.
16. Statutory officers are designated (as set out in Article 12 of our constitution), and there are
protocols in place in our constitution to ensure that the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance
(S151) Officer are afforded the resources, access and opportunities required to fulfil their roles.
17. We have well established arrangements for information management and governance
overseen by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), Data Protection Officer (DPO) and
Caldicott Guardian.
18. In addition, each Director is appointed as Proper Officer for matters within their remit in
accordance with the Functions of Full Council set out in the Constitution.
Partners, stakeholders, citizens and communities
19. Our culture is characterised by openness, transparency, accountability and engagement with
partners, stakeholders and citizens.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 5 of 35

Page 127

Executive Summary and Method Statement
20. We are focussed on the needs of our communities, and use a variety of methods, including our
Citizen’s Panel to communicate and engage with our citizens and communities, to plan and
deliver the right services in the right ways to achieve value for money.
21. We have a well-developed culture of partnership working in collaboration with public, private
and third sector organisations across the city, and at regional and national level.
Continuous Development
22. We keep our arrangements under continuous review and look for opportunities to develop and
improve.
 We have a well-established compliments and complaints process and learn from the
feedback we receive.
 We commission and carefully consider independent reviews to inform our approach and
development.
 We consider carefully the outcome of external reviews and inspections from both
statutory bodies, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, and our peers.
Ethical Governance
23. We have Codes of Conduct for Members and officers which, together with a number of
supporting protocols, set out clear expectations of behaviour; and arrangements for
declarations of interests and of gifts and hospitality.
24. We have robust whistleblowing and counter fraud and corruption arrangements supporting our
ethical governance.
B.2 Documents, Systems and Processes
Defining and achieving outcomes
25. We have updated our Joint Strategic Assessment (JSA). The draft summary report was
received by the Health and Wellbeing Board in September, and Executive Board in October
2021. The JSA provides a detailed understanding of the citizens and communities in the
Leeds area, and the challenges and opportunities as we emerge from the Covid-19 pandemic.
This understanding is then used to underpin not only our health and wellbeing strategy but also
to inform our inclusive growth strategy and our response to the climate emergency.
26. Our ambitions and strategic priorities are articulated in our Best Council Plan, and we have
arrangements in place to review the plan to ensure that it remains relevant and realistic in
context. We monitor progress against the Best Council Plan through a series of Key
Performance Indicators, with supporting performance monitoring taking place at Directorate
level to identify any weakness in performance in order that appropriate effective action can be
taken to bring performance in line with targets.
27. In July 2021 Executive Board approved our updated business continuity arrangements and risk
management strategy and procedures which work to identify and mitigate risk at corporate,
directorate, service and project level. We recognise that whilst risk management supports the
delivery of the Best Council Plan, this governance framework cannot eliminate all risk to the
achievement of policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 6 of 35

Page 128

Executive Summary and Method Statement
Financial management
28. We recognise that the Best Council Plan can only be delivered through a sound understanding
of the organisation’s longer term financial sustainability, enabling decisions to be made that
balance the resource implications of the Council’s policies against financial constraints.
29. Through the adoption of budget principles in respect of capital and revenue budgets, we have
ensured a robust and accountable approach to budget management, closely aligned to the
principles of CIPFA’s Financial Management Code (2019).
30. We recognise that the current and future financial climate present a significant risk to the
Council’s priorities and ambitions, and that the Council’s financial position must be robust,
resilient and sustainable with a sufficient level of reserves available to deal with any future
unforeseen circumstances. Our five year Medium Term Financial Strategy, updated annually
and received most recently by Executive Board in September 2021, which is supported by our
financial management systems, underpins our sustainable approach.
31. Our budget is set and monitored to ensure delivery of our strategic objectives. Budget
management and monitoring is a continuous risk based process which operates at a number of
levels throughout the Council. Directors have responsibility for delivering directorate budgets
whilst named accountable budget holders, supported by finance officers, manage, monitor and
forecast income and expenditure against budgets. All Directorates have contingency plans in
place to help to manage unforeseen variations against the budget.
32. We are transforming our business approach to ensure the availability of accurate, up to date,
budget information for budget holders, ensuring budget management is part and parcel of
service delivery.
33. Our arrangements for treasury management comply with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on
Treasury Management and the Prudential Code.
Inclusive, transparent and accountable governance
34. Our Constitution, which is reviewed annually, is published in the library on our website1.
35. We operate a strong leader and cabinet governance model of governance. Arrangements for
delegation of Council functions to committees and officers are set out alongside the Leader’s
executive arrangements in the Constitution to ensure clear arrangements for open, transparent
and accountable decision making.
36. Decision making, financial arrangements and procurement activity are bounded by clear rules
of procedure which focus our resources to the achievement of our strategic outcomes and are
rooted in legal compliance.
37. We have established arrangements for overview and scrutiny and have appointed five scrutiny
boards with remits defined in Article 6.

1

Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk)

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 7 of 35

Page 129

Executive Summary and Method Statement
C. HOW WE HAVE REVIEWED OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
C.1 Assurance Map and Framework
38. Our Assurance Map (at Figure 2 below), sets out the three lines of assurance providing
ongoing assurance of the effectiveness of our governance framework.
39. In line with our best council ambition, our governance arrangements are subject to continuous
review to identify opportunities for improvement. The Cycle of Internal Control (described in
Figure 3 below) underpins each of our systems of internal control and recognises that
arrangements should be defined and documented; clearly communicated, effectively
embedded; meaningfully monitored; and reviewed and refined. Throughout this process we
seek to ensure that risks are identified, assessed, and appropriately managed. Whilst this
framework cannot eliminate all risk to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives it
provides reasonable assurance of the effectiveness of our arrangements.
C.2 Operational Ownership and Management
Officer Assurance
40. To corroborate the formal reporting of our governance arrangements we have undertaken work
to identify whether those arrangements are embedded and operating effectively and efficiently
on the ground.
41. We have undertaken a Survey of Internal Control, inviting responses from all officers with
managerial responsibility at tier 4 and above. The survey focussed on our seven Corporate
Governance principles and is designed to identify the extent to which officers are aware of and
act in compliance with key controls in relation to each.
42. Survey respondents were invited to comment on arrangements which were working well and to
identify any perceived weakness, as well as suggesting opportunities for improvement.
43. Quantitative and qualitative analysis of survey responses has provided assurance that from an
operational perspective governance arrangements appear in the main to be embedded and
effective, although some opportunities have been identified for further improvement.
C.3 Specialist Oversight and Compliance
44. Officers with specialist oversight, or responsibility for compliance in relation to systems of
internal control have been asked to provide information as to the systems and processes in
place; and as to the assurance that these are operating soundly.
45. In addition, alongside the Survey of Internal Control we have collected specific assurance
through questionnaires to officers with specialist oversight of specific systems of internal
control.
46. Together these operational and specialist responses support and enhance the assurance
reporting through Council Committees identified at section C4 below and have informed our
action plan for the coming year (as detailed in section E of this statement).

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 8 of 35

Page 130

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
Figure 2 – Assurance Map

 Clear arrangements for sub-delegation
of functions and responsibilities

 Development of policy & procedure

Clearly
Communicate

 Leadership – cascading of information
and expectation

 Provision of guidance & training

 Systems of managerial control
(Supervision / appraisal; reporting
through leadership teams etc.)

 Oversight and advice tailored to service
need

Meaningfully
Monitor

 Local performance monitoring;
 Identification and mitigation of risk;
 Escalation of concerns

 Development of robust performance
indicators;
 Benchmarking

Review and
refine

 Feedback on systems and processes

 Review of legislation, sector best
practice and guidance;
 Strategic review of arrangements

Officer
oversight:
Democratic
Oversight

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 9 of 35

• Specialist officers
• Officer groups, boards and forum

Define and
Document

Effectively
Embed

Corporate Leadership Team
Executive Members
Executive Board
Scrutiny Boards

Independent Assurance

Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee
Standards and Conduct Committee

Arrangements for
reporting and oversight
of action planning

 Monitoring Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Head of Paid Service

Arrangements for reporting and
oversight

• Directors and section heads
• sectional and directorate leadership
teams
• Proper Officers

Oversight and compliance specialists




Page 131

Systems and Processes of Internal
Control
• Business Continuity
• Counter fraud and corruption
• Customer contact and satisfaction
• Decision making
• Employment policies and
procedures and employee conduct
• Financial planning and
management
• Information Governance
• Performance management
• Planning regulation and
enforcement
• Procurement policies and practices
• Risk management; and
• Treasury management

Operational ownership and management

External Inspectors

Full Council
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
(Delegated responsibility for approval of
Statement Of Accounts and Annual Governance
Statement)

External Audit




Responsibilities for implementation and accountability
for systems and processes of internal control

3rd line of defence
Arrangements for testing
systems and processes
of internal control

Statutory Officers

Bodies charged with governance:

2nd line of defence

Internal Audit

1st line of defence

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
Figure 3 – Cycle of Internal Control

Define and document:





Policy or strategy

Outcome focussed and clearly articulated?
Roles and Responsibilities

Officer duties and boundaries clear?

Boards and panels have clear terms of reference?

Relationships and hierarchies clearly defined?
Democratic Oversight

Clearly Communicate


Review and Refine




Define and
Document

Up to date

Legislation and guidance?

Practical context?
Fit for purpose

Meeting aims and objectives?



Page 132

Review and
Refine





Benchmarking in place

Previous standards

Similar services / authorities

‘Best in breed’
PIs robust and challenging
Risk identified and mitigated
Escalation process in place and used appropriately

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 10 of 35

Clearly
Communicate

Cycle of
Internal
Control

Meaningfully Monitor




Effectively Embed



Meaningfully
Monitor

Training

Training available to all stakeholders?

Take up monitored?

Learning measured?
Guidance

Easily accessible?
Leadership

Leaders fully briefed?

Leaders cascade information / expectation?

Effectively
Embed



Stakeholders / participants identified and
appropriately engaged?
Clear systems and processes in place?

Relevant?

Realistic?

Efficient?
Engagement

Top down?

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
C.4 Democratic Oversight
47. The Council is responsible for conducting, at least annually, a review of the
effectiveness of its governance framework. This review is informed by a number
of sources and carried out under the oversight of elected Members through key
governance bodies as described below. Our Assurance Framework (at Figure 4
below), sets out how assurance is received in relation to each of the three lines of
defence, underpinning the assertions set out in this Annual Governance
Statement.
Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
48. Corporate Governance and Audit Committee is the committee charged with
oversight of the Council’s governance arrangements, with responsibility for
approval of the Council’s accounting statements and this Annual Governance
Statement.
49. The Committee is also responsible for both the oversight of the Council’s Internal
Audit Service and consideration of our external audit arrangements.
50. Through approval of the risk based annual audit plan, receipt of regular update
reports in relation to both internal audit and counter fraud and corruption, and
receipt of the annual report of the Head of Audit setting out their formal audit
opinion, the Committee is provided with independent assurance as to the
effectiveness of arrangements for internal control.
51. Similarly, the Committee receives regular updates and reports from the External
Auditor. Through consideration of the audit of the Council’s accounts, and receipt
of the External Auditor’s opinion the Committee receives external independent
assurance on the effectiveness of the Council’s governance arrangements.
52. In addition, the Committee receives assurance directly through its own work
programme.
 A programme of annual assurance reports in relation to service specific
controls (e.g. planning regulation and enforcement), and in relation to
corporate systems of internal control (e.g. procurement, business
continuity, or corporate risk arrangements) enable the Committee to
critically examine arrangements for internal control, to provide robust and
meaningful challenge and identify areas for growth and development.
 The work programme is developed and managed flexibly by the
Committee to enable consideration of further ad hoc reports in relation to
matters of specific interest or concern. In this way the Committee has had
oversight of the Council’s Access project and ensured robust governance
arrangements in respect of Public Services Network (PSN) certification
having identified these issues through routine receipt of assurance reports
in relation to information management and governance.
Standards and Conduct Committee
53. Standards and Conduct Committee is responsible for promoting and maintaining
high standards of conduct by elected and co-opted Members of the Council.
Through receipt of the Monitoring Officer’s annual report the Committee has
assurance that arrangements are effective in this regard.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 11 of 35

Page 133

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements
54. The Council has five Scrutiny Boards, each responsible for the review and
scrutiny of functions within their remit:
 Strategy and Resources;
 Infrastructure Investment and Inclusive Growth;
 Environment, Housing and Communities;
 Children and Families; and
 Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles.
55. Scrutiny boards identify desired outcomes linked to their recommendations to
establish the added value scrutiny brings. An established recommendation
tracking system then considers both progress against recommendations and their
on-going relevance in terms of the identified outcomes with the resulting status of
each action indicating whether and how further work should be undertaken.
56. The work programme for each Board includes opportunity to consider corporate
risk and performance matters within their remit.
57. In addition, each Board is consulted in the development of budget and policy
framework proposals. Given the significant financial challenge faced by the
Council in balancing the budget for 2020/21 and setting a balanced budget for the
2021/22 financial year, a two phase consultation was undertaken, enabling
detailed and robust consideration of savings proposals within the remit of each
Board. Composite reports were then submitted to Executive Board in December
and again in February, to inform their consideration of proposals.
Executive Board
58. Under the Leader’s executive arrangements, oversight of executive decision
making lies collectively with the Executive Board and individually with named
portfolio holders in relation to matters within their remit. Through consideration of
reports presented for determination, and regular briefing on matters within their
oversight, the Executive is able to monitor the way in which decisions meet policy
objectives, are open and inclusive, and reflect relevant risks.
59. Executive Board is a key stakeholder in the formulation of our policies. Those
which form part of the Budget and Policy Framework must be recommended by
Executive Board to Council for consideration; significant executive polices and
strategies are approved by the Executive Board; and local policies for approval
within directorates are subject to briefing with relevant executive Members. This
provides assurance that the policy framework meets the strategic objectives.
60. The Executive Board carries out performance monitoring through receipt of
service specific (e.g. Equality Improvement Priorities Progress Report) and
corporate performance reports (e.g. regular Financial Health Monitoring reports
and annual reports on both performance and risk management). In this way it
receives assurance that arrangements are effective in ensuring that resources
are used efficiently to deliver strategic outcomes.
61. Where specific issues are raised in relation to the Council’s governance
arrangements Executive Board are able to refer matters to Corporate
Governance and Audit Committee for consideration. In this way Corporate
Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 12 of 35

Page 134

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
Governance and Audit Committee considered arrangements for governance
under devolution to the new Mayoral Combined Authority from May 2021, making
recommendations in relation to accountability arrangements.
Full Council
62. In addition to its role in holding the Executive to account, Full Council receives
the annual reports of key committees2, enabling it to hold them to account for the
effective discharge of relevant council functions.
63. Arrangements are in place to enable the receipt of formal reports of Statutory
Officers as necessary.
C.5 Independent Assurance
Internal Audit
64. We have a robust, independent and well respected Internal Audit Service, which
draws upon a wide ranging programme of consultancy and advisory work in
addition to the risk based audit plan, to provide assurance that our governance
framework is embedded and effective.
65. In November 2021 the Head of Audit presented the Annual Internal Audit Report
and Opinion to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.
66. The report confirmed that:
 The Internal Audit Service conforms to PSIAS3 and LGAN4;
 reporting and management arrangements in place are appropriate to ensure
the organisational independence of the Internal Audit activity;
 Nothing has occurred during the year that has impaired the Head of Audit’s
personal independence or objectivity
67. The Head of Audit gave a satisfactory opinion for 2020/21.
“On the basis of the audit work undertaken during the 2020/21 audit year, the

internal control environment (including the key financial systems, risk and
governance) is well established and operating effectively in practice..”
68. In providing this opinion the report recognised that ‘limited assurance’ opinions
had been given in respect of some areas of review; and that in these cases
recommendations for improvement had been made. Weaknesses identified were
not material enough to have a significant impact on the overall opinion on the
adequacy of the Council’s governance, risk management and control
arrangements at the year end.
69. The Head of Audit recognised that it is important that senior managers remain
alert to, and focused on, maintaining an appropriate, risk-based and effective
framework of controls as the council looks to transform service delivery through
the delivery of an ambitious Medium Term Financial Strategy.

2

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee; Standards and Conduct Committee; Scrutiny boards; Plans
Panels; Licensing Committee; Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
3
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
4
Local Government Application Note

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 13 of 35

Page 135

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
70. The opinion confirmed that audit work undertaken and planned for the current
year has sought to take into account the change in risk appetite necessary to
embrace and implement such significant change. Although the overall assurance
opinion is satisfactory, it is essential that senior management retain a focus on
embedding new and revised operational and governance arrangements in
response to the ongoing financial challenge.
External Audit
71. The Council’s external auditor is appointed through the PSAA framework.
72. The External Auditor worked closely with the Chief Officer Financial Services to
gain assurance as to the Council’s response to the developing impact of Covid19 on the financial landscape. They reported regularly to Corporate Governance
and Audit Committee throughout this period.
73. External Audit provide independent assurance on the Council’s accounts and
accounting practice as well as the arrangements to ensure value for money and
the controls around the key financial systems. Grant Thornton’s 2019/20 ISA 260
Audit Findings report for Leeds City Council, concluded that:
“Overall, if Covid-19 had not taken place, the Council’s financial position would have
continued to be sufficiently stable to manage the financial impact of small unforeseen
events as in previous years, however, the financial impact of Covid-19 has been
significant and highlights the inadequacy of the Council’s General Fund
Reserves…Except for this matter, the Council had proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.”

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 14 of 35

Page 136

How we have reviewed our Governance Framework
Figure 4 – Assurance Framework

Corporate Governance
and Audit Committee

1st line of defence

2nd line of defence

3rd line of defence

Bodies charged
with governance

Operational ownership and management

Oversight and compliance specialists

Independent Assurance
 Internal Audit (Approval of risk based
plan, receipt of update reports; receipt
of annual report and opinion)
 External Audit (agreement of nature
and scope of annual audit plan; receipt
of progress reports; receipt of ISA260
and annual audit letter; certification of
housing benefit grant claims)
 External Inspection (consideration of
external inspection reports and action
plans)

Approval of Annual
Governance
Statement and
Statement of
Accounts

 Service specific annual assurance
reports
 Ad hoc reports addressing key projects
and risks

Page 137

Standards and Conduct
Committee

 Consultation on development of
Members’ Code of Conduct

Scrutiny Boards

 Pre-decision scrutiny
 Arrangements for Call In
 Receipt of Performance reports

Executive Board

 Receipt of Service Specific
Performance reports

Full Council

 Hold executive to account (executive
questions and receipt of executive
minutes)

Officer Information

 Survey of Internal Control

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 15 of 35

 Annual Assurance reports in relation to
corporate systems of internal control

 Annual Report of Monitoring Officer
 Consultation on development of
budget and policy framework
 Receipt of Corporate reports relating
to performance and monitoring
 Strategy and policy approvals
 Approval of Budget and Policy
Framework
 Receipt of reports of Statutory Officers

 Specialist Questionnaire

 External Inspection (consideration of
external inspection reports and action
plans)
 External Inspection (consideration of
external inspection reports and action
plans)
Receipt of Annual
Reports

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
D. EFFECTIVENESS OF SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
74. We set out below an assessment of the effectiveness of our arrangements in relation to each
of the Principles of our Corporate Governance Code and Framework.
75. Whilst, in the main, our governance framework has proven to be robust, resilient and
responsive to the impact of the ongoing pandemic, the following points demonstrate the way in
which our arrangements have been implemented or revised in response to the evolving
situation:
D.1 We will behave lawfully, with integrity and in the public interest and demonstrate this through
our conduct and behaviour.
76. Our Internal Audit Service have undertaken significant effort in response to Covid-19, and the
emerging fraud risks that have been identified nationally during this time. Work has included:
 the completion of comprehensive risk assessments and post payment assurance plans,
for the Small Business grant, Retail, Hospitality and Leisure grant and the Discretionary
grant schemes;
 testing of those grant payments identified as higher risk, and liaison with colleagues and
external bodies where appropriate.
 provision of advice to the Council’s Self-Isolation Payments workstream to ensure that
all appropriate controls and checks are in place for these payments.
 promotion of the council’s counter fraud policies, the fraud awareness training, and
provision of information relating to current and emerging fraud risks through the fraud
and corruption InSite page.
77. Our legal services team formed an integral and essential part of the pandemic response and
recovery work done across the Council and the city, ensuring legal and regulatory compliance:
 a cross service Covid-19 Response Team was established to ensure sufficient resource
and expertise in place to provide corporate advice and support on interpretation of
guidance and regulations and enforcement measures, working in collaboration with
colleagues across many services;
 a proactive approach has been adopted, anticipating regulations and preparing
comparative information, for example, about tiers or roadmap stages;
 the Head of Legal Services attended cross Council meetings including Organisational
Silver command and Future events group to ensure appropriate legal oversight.
78. We have been working towards compliance with the principles of the Unison Ethical Care
Charter in relation to externally commissioned services and are committed to working towards
the Rowntree Foundation Living Wage through future accreditation as a living wage employer.
Unfortunately, this work was paused due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 16 of 35

Page 138

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
D.2 We will be open and engage with local communities, service users and our other
stakeholders.
Working with Partners
79. Our locality working relationships provided a framework through which to respond to the impact
of Covid-19 in our communities, and the neighbourhood Improvement Board will use its
recovery plan to focus work going forward.
80. We continue to work with partners under the Leeds Outbreak Control Plan through regaining
control of the virus; reopening the economy and society and into socio-economic recovery and
include information in our regular Covid update reports to Executive Board.
81. We have conducted a review of the multi-agency arrangements, to learn lessons from the
response to Covid-19, for handling future incidents and challenges in the city and crucially to
harness the strength of joint working to further improve how we all work together to achieve the
city’s ambitions. Overall, the findings of the review were very positive, with effective
relationships being strengthened through Covid-19. Where opportunities for improvement
were identified we have made clear recommendations, and will pursue and monitor these, and
report progress through the council’s Executive Board.
82. We will continue to consult and engage with communities, partners and other stakeholders to
understand the impact of the pandemic. For example, we completed a consultation exercise in
March 2021 looking at the future for the city and other district centres. Open for a six week
period, this attracted 1300 responses and has provided a rich resource of information which we
will analyse to help inform our planning for the future.
Working with Customers
83. Our customer contact arrangements were amended to accommodate social distancing
guidelines and to support increased call volumes resulting from the pandemic, and some lines
were switched off in favour of digital access solutions. Arrangements were and remain
sensitive to the digital divide in the city; ensuring that there is always a meaningful alternative
to digital access; maintaining public access computer availability through our public libraries
throughout the second and third lockdown periods; and working with partners across the city to
promote digital access for all.
84. Organisational changes responding to the financial challenge are informed by our experience
during the pandemic. We will develop closer working between contact centre and digital
colleagues to enhance the customer’s digital journey, while maintaining close working between
the contact centre and face to face customer service provision to ensure a one council face
and experience.
Communication
85. We have extened our arrangements for communication across partners, citizens and elected

representatives.
86. Regular partner updates in place before the pandemic have continued.
87. We have prepared regular updates for local MPs and elected Members, daily at some points of
pandemic: these are now weekly and have expanded to a broad range of issues.
88. Similarly we have provided gov.delivery updates to the public initially weekly and now monthly.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 17 of 35

Page 139

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
Consultation and Engagement
89. We have complemented our communication with engagement and regular access to senior
leadership for various sectors.
90. We amended our approach to consultation in order to ensure that citizens and communities
were able to engage with us throughout the pandemic period. Consultation in relation to the
2021/22 budget took place using online methods only; the invitation to respond was extended
through multiple groups, platforms and media and resulted in a 60 percent higher response
rate.
Tackling Inequality
91. We continue to tackle inequalities in Leeds through our Equality Improvement Priorities. We
have undertaken work to understand the disproportionate or differential impact that the Covid19 pandemic has had in Communities of Interest, and for those with protected characteristics
under the Equality Act 2010. In July 2021 Executive Board approved new Strategic Equality
Improvement Priorities for 2021-25, aligned closely to our eight best city priorities, with the
inclusive growth strategy, health and wellbeing strategy and climate emergency declaration as
key drivers.
D.3 We will focus our resources on outcomes and ensure council tax payers and service users
receive excellent value for money.
92. Our Best Council Plan5 was reviewed and revised in July 2020 to reflect the change in context
for the plan, placing emphasis within our Best City Ambition on our desire for Leeds to be a
safe city.
93. We are aware that the impact of the pandemic has been broad and far reaching, and that it will
be necessary to review our health and wellbeing, and inclusive growth strategies as we
develop our understanding of this. We accept that this will take time to achieve as the City
continues with the process of recovery from the pandemic.
94. Our Joint Strategic Assessment will be used to inform our strategic planning in respect of each
of our three key pillars: inclusive growth; health and wellbeing; and climate emergency. This
will enable the recalibration of city wide priorities post pandemic, building on the significant
partnership working which developed through the pandemic and continues to support
meaningful collaboration and appropriate and timely information sharing.
95. We have commenced a programme of review of a number of policies which will together form a
platform from which to assess and review these key strategies, including the introduction of a
Best City Ambition for Leeds in place of the current Best Council Plan.
Procurement
96. Compliance with procurement policies and procedures remains strong, with a review of our
Contracts Procedure Rules further strengthening procurement controls and incorporating social
value requirements.
97. It is noted that urgent procurement undertaken in response to Covid-19 resulted in an increase
in external spend and impacted on the number of waivers necessary, as well as diverting
efforts from cost saving and income generation measures planned.

5

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/your-council/plans-and-strategies/council-plans

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 18 of 35

Page 140

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
98. We have reviewed our procurement strategy to identify possible savings using a number of
approaches including stopping procurement or slipping into future years and reviewing contract
specifications.
Financial Management
99. Covid-19 has had a significant impact upon the level of resources available to the Council in
both 2020/21 and 2021/22.
100. From the outset of the pandemic our budget has been closely monitored with monthly
financial health reports presented to Executive Board, and we worked at pace to identify and
implement service reviews to deliver a balanced budget in the 2020-21 financial year, and to
set a balanced budget for the 2021/22 financial year.
101. We established a “Financial Challenge” programme of service reviews, with a cross council
‘Silver’ Group to provide high support, co-ordination and consistency to the identification of
robust, realistic and deliverable budget savings proposals. The same group, now Best Council
Team: Financial Challenge will have oversight of the 2021/22 budget savings programme
ensuring that any variation to budgeted assumptions will be identified and addressed.
102. We are implementing a similar robust and transparent approach to financial planning for the
three year period from 2022/23 to 2024/25 and seeking to identify savings to meet the ongoing
financial challenge faced by the council. The BCT: Financial Challenge group will again
oversee the identification and delivery of necessary savings.
Service Delivery
103. We acknowledge that both the pandemic and the financial challenge faced by the Council
have impacted on the delivery of a range of services across the city. Where necessary we
have reviewed progress and deliverability of programmes in place and taken transparent
decisions to revise scope and delivery and include information in our regular Covid update
reports to Executive Board
D.4 We will ensure we have clear responsibilities and arrangements for transparent and effective
accountability.
104. In the absence of an Annual Meeting the City Solicitor approved the publication of the
Council’s Constitution for the 2020/21 municipal year in May 2020. Amendments have been
made as required in accordance with established arrangements.
105. The Leader made immediate arrangements to put executive arrangements in place when
he was appointed by Council in February 2021. Directors formally approved amendments to
their sub-delegation schemes to reflect this change in Executive arrangements.
106. Similarly, constitutional delegations and Director’s sub-delegations have been amended to
give effect to organisational changes which took place in April 2021.
107. Delegation arrangements were reviewed and approved in the usual way by the Leader and
full Council at the commencement of the 2021/22 municipal year.
D.5 We will take informed and transparent decisions.
Member Decision Making
108. Meetings of the Council, Executive and their committees were paused on introduction of
social distancing guidelines and reintroduced when legislation was passed to enable remote
meetings. We adapted to remote meetings very quickly, and planned and phased our
Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 19 of 35

Page 141

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
arrangements on the basis of risk and necessity. This ensured that formal decision making
continued to take place with both transparency and democratic accountability throughout the
pandemic.
109. In the absence of formal Executive Board decision making at the outset of the pandemic
informal consultation meetings were held in order to provide democratic oversight of decisions
taken in the Board’s place by Directors with appropriate delegated authority. Executive Board
resumed formal meetings and therefore responsibility for decision making in April 2020.
110. At the conclusion of the legislative arrangements permitting remote meetings,
arrangements were made to return to meetings in person in accordance with social distancing
guidelines as amended from time to time. All formal decision making meetings of the Council
and executive now take place with Members and officers present in the room. In addition
some advisory and consultative meetings take place remotely.
Officer Decision Making
111. In the initial weeks of the pandemic a number of officer decisions were taken outside of the
controls set out in the decision making framework. These decisions were regularised through
the first meeting of Executive Board in 2020, and officers reminded of the importance of
complying with the decision making framework to ensure transparency and accountability.
112. Systems and processes for reporting and publishing officer decisions were reviewed
regularly to ensure they were proportionate and responsive whilst meeting statutory
requirements. In October 2020 General Purposes Committee approved guidance in relation to
the publishing of officer decisions which has been communicated and embedded.
D.6 We will ensure that we have robust and effective audit, scrutiny, information governance, risk
and financial management controls.
Business Continuity
113. The pandemic resulted in the biggest test to date of our business continuity arrangements.
As Covid-19 escalated rapidly, with far reaching consequences beyond the anticipated threats
to business as usual contained in business continuity plans, we responded quickly to provide
additional emergency support at corporate level through the Essential Service Planning
Framework that we developed and included information in our regular Covid update reports to
Executive Board.
114. Business Continuity Plans are subject to an ongoing process of review and will be
evaluated and refined as appropriate on the basis of our experience during the period of the
pandemic.
115. We will review the Business Continuity Framework later in 2021 in light of the learning from
the pandemic.
Risk Management6
116. As shown in our Corporate Risk Map7, we increased the risk ratings in relation to financial
and economy risks and established a new specific coronavirus corporate risk which we have

6

See our Corporate Risk Management Report 2020
(https://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Annual%20corporate%20risk%20report%20-%20June%202020.pdf)
7

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Corporate%20Risk%20Map.pdf

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 20 of 35

Page 142

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
reviewed, updated and monitored through regular update reports on the pandemic to Executive
Board. The annual Corporate Risk Report, presented to Executive Board in July 2021,
included an updated corporate risk map reflecting the current position.
117. We established ‘Silver Groups’ which form part of the ongoing strategic activity in place
across the council to identify and manage Covid-19 related risks. Our risk management
framework also plays an important role in the city’s multi-agency command and control
arrangements, which have been developed further in response to Covid-19 to facilitate the
coordination and communication on a set of complex interrelated challenges.
118. We have reviewed and updated our risk management Policy and Strategy which
incorporates our risk management process and reporting framework, and was approved by
Executive Board at their meeting in July 2021.
Scrutiny
119. Scrutiny work has continued throughout the pandemic and has continued to add value to
the Council’s work:
 Scrutiny Chairs provided independent oversight of officer decision making under
urgency arrangements at the outset of the pandemic;
 Scrutiny Boards considered the impact of the pandemic on key services;
 Action tracking enables account to be taken of the changing landscape against which
recommendations are delivered.
Information Governance
120. In order to support the pace of delivery of services in response to Covid-19, whilst ensuring
data compliance we introduced a shortened Data Protection Impact Assessment template,
meaning that risks could be highlighted and mitigated in a timely way.
121. Our Public Service Network (PSN) submission was deferred due to Covid-19 pressures
with the agreement of the Cabinet Office. We submitted our application in line with the action
plan agreed with the Cabinet Office and received PSN certification in September 2021..
122. In response to an ongoing difficulty meeting statutory deadlines for data access requests
we have undertaken a significant review of our arrangements. We are implementing a number
of recommendations and will embed these within the service review. We will continue to report
performance through Corporate Leadership Team and Executive Board.
Financial Management
123. Recognising the significant financial challenges facing the Council, especially given the
ongoing financial impact of Covid-19, we have established an effective financial control
environment and specifically robust arrangements for strategic financial planning combined
with effective financial management and control. We also have a sound framework for
reviewing and challenging financial performance, realistic plans in place to make the necessary
savings in the 2021/22 financial year and are taking the appropriate steps to deliver them.
Directorates have contingency plans in place to help to manage unforeseen variations against
the budget.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 21 of 35

Page 143

The Effectiveness of Our System of Internal Control
D.7 We will develop our capacity and capability to be effective.
Our officers
124. Our People Strategy was reviewed alongside the Best Council Plan and launched in July
2020.
125. We have reviewed our values and associated manager behaviours and will work to embed
these into our culture.
126. We developed a Flexible Resourcing Plan in conjunction with Trade Unions to support
workforce agility and deployment, ensuring that key services could continue and that there was
effective support to citizens in the shielding cohort.
127. In response to organisational pressures, arrangements for officer appraisals were amended
enabling mid-year check-ins to prioritise wellbeing of staff.
128. We have undertaken regular staff surveys to gather the views of staff, and to identify and
provide support in relation to wellbeing issues.
129. We have developed plans for future ways of working taking into account the needs of
individual staff members, the needs of services and the resources available to the Council
including our estate and digital resources.
130. Responding to financial pressures we introduced a range of voluntary measures in support
of service reviews, these included the early leavers initiatives (ELI) together with a range of
voluntary options to achieve savings needed in the staffing budget. All business cases were
required to address service continuity, enable service reconfigurations and workforce
deployment.
Our councillors
131. We have provided elected members with training and support to access and participate fully
in remote meetings.
132. We have reviewed our Member Development programme to ensure the continuing
development of Members, using appropriate technology to deliver remote learning.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 22 of 35

Page 144

Key Actions
E. KEY ACTIONS
133. Where our review of our systems of internal control reveals weakness or opportunities for
improvement in our arrangements we identify key actions to meet these. We establish an
action plan, which is monitored, and progress reported to Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee.
E.1 Key Actions from 2020
134. Our 2020 Annual Governance Statement identified twenty key actions which have been
monitored by Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.
135. Each of the key actions identified has been completed or has clear arrangements in place
for completion and reporting where actions are ongoing.
136. Annex 1 to this Statement sets out the outcome of each of our key actions, together with
the relevant source of assurance.
E.2 Key Actions for 2021
137. We have reviewed the results of our survey of internal control (see section C2) and
specialist questionnaires (see section C3) and developed appropriate detailed action plans
responding to issues and opportunities for improvement these raise. A summary action plan
has been prepared and included at Annex 2 to this Statement. The plan will be monitored by
officers under the oversight of Corporate Governance and Audit Committee to ensure that
appropriate progress is achieved.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 23 of 35

Page 145

Conclusion and Assurance Statement
F. CONCLUSION AND ASSURANCE STATEMENT
138. We are satisfied that in the period from April 2020, our framework of internal control has
continued in place at the Council for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of
approval of the Statement of Accounts.
139. From our review we have concluded that, overall, key systems are operating soundly, and
that there are no fundamental control weaknesses. We are satisfied that where improvements
have been identified, actions are in place with appropriate arrangements to monitor them.
140. We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, and there having been appropriate
enquiries made, that this Annual Governance Statement provides an accurate and fair view.

Victoria Bradshaw
Chief Officer Financial Services & Section 151 Officer

Cllr Kamila Maqsood
Chair of Corporate Governance and Audit Committee

Cllr James Lewis
Leader of Council

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 24 of 35

Page 146

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
ANNEX 1 - KEY ACTIONS 2020 – OUTCOMES
Key Action

Outcomes

Page 147

1

Our Corporate Governance and Audit Committee will
seek robust assurance that our systems of internal
control have met the demands of the emergency
response to Covid -19; and that where issues have been
identified action has been taken to remedy these.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee have received wide ranging reports providing assurance in
relation to each of our key systems of internal control. Each of these has reflected on the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic and noted action taken to meet the demands of the emergency response.

2

We will work within the statutory framework with the
Constituent Councils in pursuance of the “minded-to”
Deal for devolution in West Yorkshire.

Executive Board and Full Council have been fully engaged in the process of consultation and consent,
culminating in the West Yorkshire Devolution Order being made in January 2021. Mayoral Elections took
place in May 2021.

3

We will develop detailed timelines and milestones for
our People Strategy priorities and will monitor and
review progress against them.

2020-25 People Strategy was refreshed in June 2020 alongside the Best Council Plan. The plan focusses
on three elements: Health, safety and wellbeing; Responding to financial challenges; and New ways of
working.
The Chief Officer Human Resources has prepared regular updates to Executive Board within the Covid-19
response reports, showing how we continue to meet expectations under these headings.

4

We will continue to monitor arrangements for customer
contact and satisfaction and will make improvements
where necessary to deliver a consistent experience for
our customers.

We have developed a set of customer care standards; and work is ongoing to produce an investigating
officer guide for handling complaints effectively.
The Annual Assurance Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on Arrangements in
relation to Customer Contact and Satisfaction demonstrates the flexibility of the service and the agility in
developing new services, exceptionally quickly, in order to provide appropriate support for customers in
unprecedented times.
Significant organisational changes are taking place in the council and will support closer working with
digital colleagues and further enhance the customers’ digital journey.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 25 of 35

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
Key Action
5

We will review the Best Council Plan and key
underpinning best council strategies in the light of the
longer-term implications of Covid-19.

Outcomes
Our Best Council Plan, updated for 2020-25, was further reviewed before launch in July 2020 to take
account of the changes required in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. Since then we have updated
our Medium Term Financial Strategy to explain how the Council is meeting the financial impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic; and we are developing an economic recovery plan drawing on three pillars of
inclusive growth, health and wellbeing and the climate emergency to guide our work in relation to
recovery from the economic impact of the pandemic.
A more fundamental review of the council’s strategic framework will be undertaken during 2021,
drawing on the new Joint Strategic Assessment, Covid-19 Lessons Learned Review and other activity. It is
likely that this review will see a move towards a City Plan for Leeds, replacing the Best Council Plan. This
will continue to take account of the three pillars of inclusive growth, health and wellbeing, and climate
emergency, and it is intended that this will be considered by Full Council in early 2022.

Page 148

The key supporting strategies – health and wellbeing and inclusive growth – are both scheduled to be
fully reviewed and refreshed in 2022 in light of Covid-19 and following the adoption of the new city plan.

8

6

We will monitor the arrangements for offer and
acceptance of gifts and hospitality by Directors and
those in ‘high risk posts’; and positive declarations
regarding compliance with the gifts and hospitality
policy.

Arrangements are in place for monitoring officer interests and offer and acceptance of gifts and
hospitality, including requirements for nil returns in relation to high risk posts. The Annual Assurance
Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on employment policies and procedures and
employee conduct confirmed that those arrangements have been complied with.

7

We will continue to engage with the Ministry of
Housing Communities and Local Government8 and the
Local Government Association in developing the ethical

A new Code of Conduct was approved by Full Council at its meeting in March 2021, with effect from the
start of the New Municipal Year. Arrangements have been made to train Councillors on the
requirements of the new model code of conduct. It is likely that a review of the operation of the new
Code will take place in Spring 2022 by the Standards and Conduct Committee. That review would also

Now Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 26 of 35

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
Key Action

Outcomes
take account of any new guidance or amendments to the new national Code issued by the Local
Government Association (LGA).

8

We will continue to use benchmarking to measure our
performance in relation to Caldicott Guardian functions
and to identify, and learn from best practice

The Annual Assurance Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on Arrangements in
relation to information management and governance and Caldicott Guardian confirmed that
benchmarking has taken place and informed the development of best practice, including a review of the
Requests Team, and the service restructure.

9

Our Corporate Governance and Audit Committee will
regularly review plans to deal with outstanding and
emerging issues relating to PSN Certification, including
the Access project.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee have received regular reports in relation to plans and
progress in relation to PSN, including confirmation that the Council’s application was approved in
September 2021

10

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee will
continue to seek assurance in relation to arrangements
for enforcement in relation to breach of planning
control.

The Annual Assurance Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on Arrangements in
relation planning regulation and enforcement set out details of existing enforcement arrangements. In
line with the Committee’s recommendations the Chief Planning Officer has developed an Enforcement
Protocol relating to breach of planning control on Council land which has been shared with all Members
of the Committee.

11

We will review our practice against detailed guidance
underpinning the CIPFA Financial Management Code
2019.

We have reviewed our arrangements in conjunction with the CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019
together with the CIPFA Delivering Good Governance Framework 2016, and we are able to demonstrate
that arrangements are consistent with the requirements of the Code and Framework.

Page 149

framework in response to the recommendations of the
Committee on Standards in Public Life.

The Committee has received confirmation that there are no Access 2003 databases remaining; and that
arrangements are in place to phases out Access 2010 databases. Progress in this regard will be reported
with the wider compliance reporting in relation to PSN.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee will be provided with confirmation of this in the annual
assurance report on financial management arrangements (on the Work Programme for November 21).

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 27 of 35

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
Key Action

Outcomes
In addition on April 1st 2020 the National Audit Office’s new Code of Audit Practice requires external
auditors to undertake a detailed review of a local authorities arrangements for achieving value for
money and the outcome of this review will be reported to Corporate Governance and Committee in
January 2022.

We will complete and implement a review of the
financial service to ensure that it remains a highly
effective and responsive function offering value for
money.

We have completed the Financial Services Review and are now moving to the new operating model and
organisational structure. In addition, we are undertaking a number of transformational work packages
(projects) reported through a Core Business Transformation (CBT) Programme Board, chaired by the
Chief Finance Officer. The Annual Assurance Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on
financial management arrangements provided assurance in this regard.

13

We will review our core systems and processes with a
view to ensuring that they are up to date and fit for
purpose and meet the needs of an efficient,
enterprising and healthy organisation.

In September 2020 Executive Board received a report detailing work undertaken to review our core
systems and processes, and develop a specification for a cloud based Enterprise Resource Planning
solution (ERP) and implementation plan which will provide systems for financial management, payroll,
procure to pay and human resources. It is expected that the implementation phase of the programme
will take 2 years, but elements of the solution will go live earlier than this. This final timeline will be
dependent upon the implementation plan presented by the winning supplier as a result of the
procurement exercise. A further update will be brought to Executive Board prior to contract award.

14

We will undertake training to further promote the
importance of compliance with Contracts Procedure
Rules and will strengthen the close working between
directorates and PACS that will ensure waivers are
limited to exceptional circumstances.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee received the annual Procurement assurance report in June
2020 confirming the work undertaken to communicate the procurement strategy and policies and to
ensure compliance with the Contracts Procedure Rules (CPRs). The report also provided assurance in
relation to the monitoring of performance in relation to waivers to ensure compliance with the CPRs

15

We will measure and collate key performance indicators Corporate Governance and Audit Committee received the annual Procurement assurance report in June
(KPIs) to ensure that social value outcomes are achieved 2020 confirming that through procurement of the Social Value Portal, enabling us to measure and
monitor an identified set of internal KPIs based on themes, outcomes and measures (TOMs) to ensure
through our procurement practice.

Page 150

12

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 28 of 35

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
Key Action

Outcomes
social value is embedded throughout procurement and contract management. The Portal provides
performance data in relation to commitments made and delivered in respect of live projects.

Page 151

16

We will review how Leeds’ approach in developing and
monitoring the Best Council Plan compares with that of
other core cities.

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee received the annual assurance report on performance
management arrangements in December 2020 confirming that a review of strategic plans and
performance monitoring arrangements in other UK Core Cities had been undertaken, noting that the
approach to the Best Council Plan compares favourably. The work identified the use of ‘City Surveys’
which we will explore further to establish whether we can enhance our arrangements.

17

We will review the key performance indicators relating
to inclusive growth and development of housing mix
and will add additional meaningful KPIs as required to
the Best Council Plan

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee received the annual assurance report on performance
management arrangements in December 2020 confirming that Best Council Plan KPIs are regularly
reviewed to take account of a range of performance related developments including changes in national
standards and statistical information requirements.

18

We will continue to pursue actively the appointment of
an Independent Member to the Corporate Governance
and Audit Committee in the 2020/21 Municipal Year

Council appointed a non-voting independent Member of Corporate Governance and Audit Committee on
24th February 2021 for a term of four years.

19

We will include the identification of areas for future
work in our Committees’ annual reports to Council.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 29 of 35

Scrutiny

Report approved by reporting body

Report received by Council

Head of Democratic Services in
consultation with Scrutiny Board
Chairs and Executive member for
Resources

September 2020 (19-20 Report)
TBC (20-21 Report)

Outcomes from Key Actions 2020
Key Action

Page 152

20

We will monitor and review the process we have
implemented to ensure consistent emphasis on delivery
of planned savings throughout the lifecycle of invest to
save initiatives.

Outcomes
Standards and Conduct
Committee

Committee - February 2021

March 2021 (20-21 Report)

Corporate Governance
and Audit Committee

Committee – March 2020

November 2020 (19-20 Report)

Committee - March 2021

November 2021 (20-21 Report)

Planning

Chief Planning Officer in consultation
with Plans Panel Chairs – November
2020 and Executive Member

January 2021 (19-20 Report)

Licensing

Committee - March 2021

March 2021 (2020 Report)

Community Committees

Head of Stronger Communities in
consultation with Community
Committee Chairs

January 2021 (19-20 Report)

We have developed a clear process and associated guidance for Invest to Save Projects. Proformas are
used for identification and specification of invest to save initiatives. These are presented to Finance
Performance Group enabling challenge and escalation as appropriate. The process will also require post
project review as relevant projects complete which will underpin continuous improvement.
In addition, savings are built into the Medium Term Financial Strategy and progress against them is
monitored through financial health monitoring.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 30 of 35

Key Actions 2021
ANNEX 2 - KEY ACTIONS 2021
Outcomes / Actions Identified

Timeframe

Owner

Principle 1 - We will behave lawfully, with integrity and in the public interest and demonstrate this through our conduct and behaviour.
Fraud & Corruption:
 We have developed and will implement a communication plan to raise awareness and understanding of the
council’s counter fraud arrangements, policies and strategies including in particular:
o whistleblowing arrangements
o Anti-bribery and anti-money laundering arrangements
o The Counter Fraud Strategy
o Fraud awareness

Page 153

Equality, diversity & inclusion:
 We will develop a new central Race Equality Insite page and
 We will develop this location to house all of our diversity/inclusion activity so it is easier for staff to access
and to understand.

By March 2022 in
accordance with the
communication
plan.

Principal Audit
Manager : Internal
Audit : Financial
Services

November 2021
March 2022

Chief Officer Human
Resources :
Resources

Principle 2 - We will be open and engage with local communities, service users and our other stakeholders.
Consultation and Engagement
 We will build on the experience of online consultation and engagement activity developed during the
pandemic to ensure that remote engagement is able to provide both quantitative and qualitative insight.
 We will further review the consultation and engagement toolkit on Insite to ensure up to date, accessible
information and guidance is provided to enable staff to effectively deliver a full range of online consultation
activity.

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 31 of 35

March 2022

Intelligence and
Policy Manager :
Strategy and Policy :
Resources

Key Actions 2021
Outcomes / Actions Identified

Timeframe

Owner

Principle 3 – We will focus our resources on outcomes and ensure council tax payers and service users receive excellent value for money

Page 154

Strategic planning:
 We will work with our partners to develop our Best City Ambition and produce a communication plan to
embed this within the council, and across our partner organisations.
 We will review and map our strategic and policy framework to ensure that it is clear, coherent and accessible.
 We will consider our informal governance arrangements (panels, boards, groups) to ensure that they are able
to appropriately influence and add value to our decision making

March 2022

Head of Intelligence
and Policy: Strategy
and Policy :
Resources

Performance Management
 We will continue to review our performance against existing key performance indicators and compare
recovery against pre-pandemic levels
 We will identify, communicate and embed appropriate performance indicators to measure performance
against the new Best City Ambition.

Ongoing

Intelligence and
Policy Manager :
Strategy and Policy :
Resources

Procurement:
 We will implement an action plan to:
o Review the council’s procurement strategy to ensure it reflects the balance of corporate priorities
o Focus more energy and resources on delivering strategic value from procurement and contract
management;
o Engage elected Members with the strategic decision making for procurement and contract management;
o Utilise technology to improve efficiency and to gather data that will underpin procurement decisions;
o Ensure that PACS have the updated skills and capacity to drive a more strategic approach;
o Embed a Leeds-wide approach to contract management and commercial;
o Improve working with system partners;
o Continue our focus on achieving social value objectives through procurement

Sept 2024 in line
with three phase
Transformation
Action Plan

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 32 of 35

As dictated by
development of the
Best City Ambition

Head of
Procurement and
Commercial Services
: Financial Services

Key Actions 2021
Outcomes / Actions Identified

Timeframe

Owner

Principle 4 - We will ensure we have clear responsibilities and arrangements for transparent and effective accountability
Decision Making:
 We will develop a share point platform to
o Give access to decision monitoring information to assist in the provision of clear, up to date advice, and
checking that arrangements are embedded;
o Include clear information on alignment of executive delegations to executive and scrutiny oversight to
assist in the provision of clear, up to date advice, and to aid compliance with the decision making
framework.
 We will review the Protocol on the Role of Members And Officers In Decision Making to ensure that it is up to
date and fit for purpose.

March 2022

Principal Audit
Manager : Internal
Audit : Financial
Services

March 2022

Principle 5 - We will take informed and transparent decisions
Page 155

Decision Making:
 We will report monitoring of urgent decisions through quarterly internal audit update reports to Corporate
Governance and Audit Committee, to enable contemporaneous oversight of arrangements and the early
identification of performance trends and concerns
 We will further develop our arrangements for decision monitoring to include sample checking of published
decisions to ensure compliance with categorisation & transparency arrangements
 We will develop and implement a decision making communication plan to promote awareness of the
decision making framework; ensure that information, advice and guidance are readily accessible to all; and
that appropriate training is targeted at officers engaged in decision making activity

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 33 of 35

Arrangements
commenced Sept
2021
December 2021
Implementation in
line with
communication plan

Principal Audit
Manager : Internal
Audit : Financial
Services

Key Actions 2021
Outcomes / Actions Identified

Timeframe

Owner

Principle 6 - We will ensure that we have robust and effective audit, scrutiny, information governance, risk and financial management controls

Page 156

Business Continuity:
 We will complete the review of the criticality of the council’s business continuity plans
 We will review and update the business continuity plan template to ensure it is both streamlined and fit for
purpose, and will implement it across the business continuity plans
 We will complete the review of the business continuity plans to ensure they include up to date details about
how services will deal with a cyber-outage
 We will develop a central accessible and secure location for the business continuity plans
 We will routinely report Business Continuity (along with Emergency Planning) to directorate management
teams

March 2022

Intelligence and
Policy Manager :
Strategy and Policy :
Resources

Risk Management:
 We will promote the new Risk Management Policy and Strategy and deliver risk management training to
council staff and elected members.
 We will continue to promote the Partnership Governance and Risk checklist to relevant staff, and will
incorporate this in the new risk management training offer.
 We will review the corporate risks in conjunction with the development of the Best City Ambition

Commenced
September 2021

Intelligence and
Policy Manager :
Strategy and Policy :
Resources

Financial management:
 we will produce and make available a recorded training package that will heighten staff awareness and
support compliance with the key control processes within our financial management arrangements.

March 2022

Deputy Chief Officer
Financial Services :
Financial Services

Land and Property:
 we will review our estate management systems to ensure that they are up to date and fit for purpose.

March 2022

Chief Officer Asset
Management and
Regeneration: City
Development

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 34 of 35

As dictated by
development of the
Best City Ambition

Key Actions 2021
Outcomes / Actions Identified

Timeframe

Owner

December 2021

Chief Officer Human
Resources :
Resources

Principle 7 - We will develop our capacity and capability to be effective.
Human Resources:
 We will develop a stronger online presence for HR so it is easier for staff/managers to contact the right HR
adviser.
 We will promote and embed the new Leadership & Management Development offer which is accessible to all
staff.
 We will promote and embed new Manager values.
 We will embed a clear corporate framework for managing workplace change via consultation/negotiation
with trade unions

Launched October
2021
TU conversations
ongoing over 2021

Page 157



We will develop work in accordance with a Service Review which will address issues around
managing staff productivity and performance.

November 2021



We will review our approach to Staff Recognition and implement recommendations including the formal and
informal mechanisms to reward long service, performance and positive behaviours.

Initial review
completed Implementation
December 2022



We will consider a review of our arrangements for Induction.

To be considered

Leeds City Council - Annual Governance Statement 2021
Page 35 of 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Report author: Louise Ivens
Tel:0113 3788690

Counter Fraud update report
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions
This report includes information on the counter fraud activities undertaken by the Internal Audit
service between the period April 2021 and September 2021.

Recommendations
Members are requested to
•
•
•
•

Consider and note the assurances set out in this report.
Endorse the Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Response Plan and note that the
Policy Statement on Fraud and Corruption will be discontinued.
Endorse the Whistleblowing Policy and note that the Raising Concerns Policy will be
discontinued.
Endorse the role of a Counter Fraud and Corruption Champion and that the whips appoint to
the role.

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 This is a bi-annual update report providing assurance as to the control environment in respect
of counter fraud and corruption activity. The Whistleblowing Policy has been reviewed against
best practice and legislation and has been updated. The Counter Fraud and Corruption
Strategy and Response Plan has been developed following a self assessment of our
arrangements against the CIPFA Counter Fraud Assessment Tool. We would like to strengthen
our counter fraud arrangements by having a Counter Fraud and Corruption Champion.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

Page 159

☒ No

2 The assurance set out in this report will inform the annual audit opinion given by the Head of
Internal Audit, and provide evidence of the ongoing review of the Council’s arrangements for
internal control supporting the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. The Whistleblowing
Policy and the Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Response Plan are part of the
comprehensive policies and procedures forming the Council’s counter fraud arrangements.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3 The suite of work undertaken within counter fraud forms part of the consultation which takes
place in developing the risk based Internal Audit plan.
4 The Whistleblowing Policy and the Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Response Plan
have been discussed with members during a Counter Fraud and Corruption Workshop. They
have also been discussed with Trade Unions.
What are the resource implications?
5 The work undertaken to satisfy the counter fraud and corruption requirements of the internal
audit plan do so from within existing resources.
6 The two update reports to be received by committee each year provides assurance that
effective arrangements are in place to combat the risk of fraud and corruption within the council.
What are the legal implications?

7 The Local Government Act 1972 (s. 151) requires local authorities to make arrangements for
the proper administration of their financial affairs.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
8 The report at Appendix 1 references the work being undertaken to mitigate the fraud and
corruption risks to the authority.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

9 Arrangements in respect of counter fraud and corruption support the ongoing delivery of the
council’s key objectives.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
10 Details of the consideration and development of the Council’s arrangements are included in the
attached appendix.
How will success be measured?
11 A successful counter fraud and corruption environment will protect the Council’s resources,
underpin the successful delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives, and contribute to the
value for money conclusion of the Council’s external auditor when reviewing the statutory
statement of accounts.
What is the timetable for implementation?
Page 160

12 Work is ongoing as set out in the appendix attached.
Appendices
13 Appendix 1 Counter Fraud update report.
14 Appendix 2 Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Response Plan.
15 Appendix 3 Whistleblowing Policy.
Background papers
16 None.

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report
Background
1. Local authorities have responsibilities for the effective stewardship of public money
and for safeguarding against losses due to fraud and corruption. The CIPFA 2018
Guidance on Audit Committees sets out the role of the audit committee regarding
‘countering fraud and corruption’. In summary, the committee should understand
the level of fraud risk to which the authority is exposed, and the implications for the
wider control environment. This can be undertaken by having oversight of counter
fraud plans, resources and their effectiveness. Effective counter fraud
arrangements also link to the ethical standards for members and officers that the
public expects.
2. This report is the second individual report designed to help meet this duty.
Previously the counter fraud update was included in the Internal Audit update
report. This report is designed to give assurances to committee members
surrounding the counter fraud activities undertaken during the period April 2021 –
September 2021 as part of the counter fraud and corruption assurance block within
the Internal Audit Plan. This includes both the reactive and proactive approaches
to the Council’s zero tolerance to fraud and corruption.

3. Within the audit plan time is set aside to undertake investigations, or reactive work,
to look into identified instances of fraud or theft, and to investigate concerns raised
by staff or members of the public. These referrals provide us with an opportunity
to explore areas in addition to those covered in the risk based Internal Audit plan.
In order to help to ensure controls are in place to prevent fraud from occurring, we
also undertake targeted proactive reviews. These are developed from our
understanding of the control environment, in addition to our awareness of new and
emerging fraud risks. Recommendations are raised, where appropriate, from both
types of review, where gaps in controls or compliance, or where opportunities for
improvement are identified.
4. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) set out that the primary
responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud lies with management.
Auditors should have sufficient knowledge to recognise the indicators of possible
fraud. This is addressed by having experienced auditors with a variety of
qualifications, continuing professional development and attendance at targeted
counter fraud training. We can never be complacent, as fraud risks continually
evolve. We therefore regularly enhance and develop our counter fraud capability
by reviewing the tools and techniques that we use to detect and prevent fraud from
occurring in the first place.

Page 163

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report
Reactive Anti-Fraud Work
5. Internal Audit are the corporate owners of the Councils’ counter fraud policies.
Included in this suite of polices are the Whistleblowing and Raising Concerns
Policies. These policies provide channels for members of staff and the public to
raise their concerns about wrongdoing. These channels include the provision of a
dedicated inbox, telephone line, by post, and a ‘do it online’ form for members of
staff.
6. The following graph summarises the number of referrals received (22) by Internal
Audit in the period by referral route.

7. The referrals received through the ‘other route’ relate to those shared by external
agencies, for example the National Anti Fraud Network, or other council services
seeking advice or assistance. The table below illustrates the referrals received by
directorate by the type of the concern raised.

Page 164

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report

Open Investigations
8. As at the 30th September 2021, 12 referrals were being investigated. Investigations
are undertaken by either Internal Audit, Human Resources, staff within directorates
or a combination of these. In all cases Internal Audit undertake a risk assessment
upon receipt of the referral and determine the most appropriate investigative route.

Closed Investigations
9. A total of 331 referrals were closed during the period. The outcomes are shown in
the table below by directorate. Where appropriate, the investigation report included
recommendations for improvement.

1

This figure includes referrals that were reported in the previous financial year.

Page 165

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report

Proactive Anti-Fraud Work
10. To help ensure that there is an effective counter fraud culture in place within the
council, we have included time in the counter fraud block of the risk based Internal
Audit Plan to undertake proactive fraud reviews. These reviews consider areas
identified through various methods, including the use of best practice publications
and our internal risk assessments.
National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
11. The NFI is an exercise conducted by the Cabinet Office every two years that
matches electronic data within and between public and private sector bodies to
prevent and detect fraud and error. Relevant teams within the Council (for
example, Internal Audit, Benefits, Housing and Tenancy Fraud) have been working
through the matches on a risk basis.
12. Internal audit has overall responsibility for monitoring the progress of this exercise
and ensuring that the NFI system is updated. 15,712 matches have been received
and 10,805 have been closed. Seven errors have been identified resulting in the
recovery of £27,0492.
Covid 19 Business Grants
13. We have continued to undertake post payment assurance checks on the Covid
business grants. This work is being undertaken in accordance with government
requirements. Various data streams are being used to inform our post payment
testing. This includes information from a number of different sources comprising
NFI bank account and company status validation checks and those grant payments
identified as being higher risk. We are liaising with colleagues, partners and
relevant external bodies where the legitimacy of grant payments is unclear.
Recovery action is being taken where appropriate. As these grants are provided
to the Council to distribute to businesses, any recovery of funds will be required to
be paid back to government.
Direct Payment review
14. An audit is underway which is reviewing the arrangements in place to prevent and
detect fraudulent or erroneous direct payments made to individuals. The results
will be reported to committee in the next Counter Fraud Update Report.
Raising awareness
15. Included in our counter fraud arrangements are the regular communications to staff
of current fraud risks, and the signposting of where to report any concerns. During
June we raised awareness of fraud risks to staff via Insite. This promotion was

2

One a council tax support overpayment and six were housing benefits overpayments.

Page 166

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report
timed to coincide with World Whistleblower’s Day (23rd June) and reminded staff of
our counter fraud policies and how to raise concerns.
16. We have developed a counter fraud training package for inclusion on the
Performance and Learning System. This includes information on the key fraud
risks to the authority, indicators of fraud, our counter fraud policies, and how to
raise any concerns. This is now being tested on the Performance and Learning
System and is scheduled for inclusion in the live system shortly.
Self Assessment of Counter Fraud Arrangements and Strategy development
17. We have undertaken an assessment of our arrangements against the CIPFA
Counter Fraud Assessment Tool. The key areas of this assessment consider how
as a council we:
• Acknowledge responsibility
• Identify risks
• Develop a strategy
• Provide resources
• Take Action
18. The output from this was that the Council has reached a good level of performance
against the code and has put in place effective arrangements in many aspects and
is taking positive action to manage fraud risks and actively working to improve its
resilience. This identified that there are further opportunities to strengthen our
approach through the development of a Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
and Response Plan. This is attached to the update report at Appendix 2 and was
discussed with members at the counter fraud workshop. A delegated decision to
approve this will be taken by the Chief Officer, Financial Services. The strategy
will replace the Policy Statement on Fraud and Corruption.
19. An area we have identified following this year’s review that we would like to
develop, is to establish the role of a Counter Fraud Champion. Our vision is that a
member in this role would help to raise awareness of fraud, bribery and corruption
within the Council, and endorse the sharing of information on emerging fraud risks
and best practice on counter fraud activities. This was discussed at the counter
fraud workshop and we would like to invite expressions of interest in this role.
Whistleblowing Policy review
20. As part of our programme of review of the suite of counter fraud policies, we have
undertaken a review of the Whistleblowing Policy against best practice and
legislation. Minor amendments have been made to the policy and were discussed
with members at the counter fraud workshop. The Raising Concerns Policy will be
discontinued, as members of the public have now been included within the remit
of the Whistleblowing Policy which will be available on the Council’s Internet site.
This is attached at Appendix 3. A delegated decision to approve this will be taken
by the Chief Officer, Financial Services.

Page 167

Appendix 1 Counter Fraud Update Report
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
21. In the most recent inspection report issued by the Office of Surveillance
Commissioners, it was recommended that Members should receive regular reports
about the use of the Council’s surveillance powers under RIPA.
22. The Head of Service (Legal) has confirmed that there have been no applications
for directed surveillance or covert human intelligence source (CHIS) authorisations
since the previous update was provided (which covered the period to March 2021).
In addition, there has been no use of the powers to obtain communications data
over the same period.

Page 168

Published: 2021
Next review date: 2024
Owner: Internal Audit
Page 169

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy contents

Table of contents
1 Foreword
2 Councils Commitment
3 What is fraud?
4 Approach to countering fraud
5 Acknowledge
6 Prevent
7 Pursue
8 Reporting suspected fraud
9 Sanctions
Appendix A Red Flag indicators
Appendix B Fraud Response Plan

Page
3
3-4
4
4-5
5-6
7-9
9-10
10
10-11
12
13

2
Page 170

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
1

Foreword

1.1

During 2019-20, £310m of fraud and error was detected in local government alone,
with £388m being prevented in the same year (Cross government fraud landscape
bulletin 2019-20). The impact of fraud should never be underestimated. Fraud leaves
the council with less to spend on services for residents and costs taxpayer’s money.
Fraud against a local council is not a victimless crime. The ‘tone from the top’ is crucial
in this respect and members, senior leaders and the Corporate Governance and Audit
committee (CGAC), are all committed to this in terms of their ethics, values,
behaviours and compliance with policies and procedures.
“Leeds City Council is committed to safeguarding public money and ensuring the
citizens of Leeds can have confidence that the Council operates in a fair and honest
way. It is essential that we each remain vigilant to the risk of fraud and corruption so
that fraudsters are not able take away valuable resources from the delivery of crucial
public services, or stop us being able to provide additional support to our most
vulnerable residents. The pandemic has had such significant effects on peoples’ living
costs and our own resources that it is even more imperative that we all take our
responsibility to protect public money seriously. Please be vigilant in your day to day
activity and report any suspicions of fraud or wrongdoing you may have immediately.
Thank you”
Message from Tom Riordan, Chief Executive

2

The Councils Commitment

2.1

Leeds City Council is committed to ensuring that the citizens of Leeds can have
confidence that the affairs of the Council are conducted in accordance with the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. In line with that
commitment, the Council recognises that it has a responsibility to protect the public
purse and recognises the potentially significant risk that fraud and corruption pose
to the achievement of the Council’s aims and objectives.

2.2

The Council has a zero tolerance approach and is consequently committed to
preventing, discouraging and detecting fraud and corruption whether carried out
against the Council or from within. The Council promotes a culture where fraud and
corruption is unacceptable and therefore stakeholder commitment is expected at all
levels.

2.3

The Council expects all councillors and employees to be aware of the standards of
conduct expected of them and to behave in line with the values of the Council. All
members, senior leaders and employees are responsible for their own conduct and
compliance with the Council’s policies and procedures in place.

3
Page 171

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
2.4

Leeds City Council expects everyone who works for the Council to behave in line with
the Nolan Committee’s “Seven Principles of Public Life”. These are documented in
the conduct of Council Members and employees;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

selflessness
integrity
objectivity
accountability
openness
honesty
leadership

2.5

The Council seeks firstly to prevent fraud and corruption but will take all action
necessary to identify fraud and corruption if suspected and will pursue the recovery
of losses and take appropriate action against those responsible.

2.6

The Council is committed to the development and promotion of an anti-fraud
culture. Further information is provided within this strategy.

3

What is fraud?

3.1

The legal definitions of fraud is any intentional act or omission designed to deceive
others, resulting in the victim suffering a loss and/or the perpetrator achieving a
gain.

3.2

The Fraud Act 2006 describes fraud as the intention to make gain or cause loss under
three main headings:
•
Fraud by false representation
•
Fraud by failing to disclose information
•
Fraud by abuse of position

3.3

The definition of corruption is the dishonest or fraudulent conduct by those in
power, typically involving bribery.

4

Approach to Countering Fraud and Corruption

4.1

The Local Government ‘Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy 2020’ (FFCL)
provides a blueprint for a coordinated response to fraud and corruption perpetrated
against Local Authorities. This details the importance of a culture in which fraud and
corruption are unacceptable, fraud risks are understood, fraud is prevented and better
detected, and fraudsters are brought to account more efficiently. To fulfil the Council’s
commitment to tackling fraud and corruption and reduce the effects of this to an
absolute minimum, this strategy is consistent with that outlined in the FFCL 2020.The
three key themes are Acknowledge, Prevent and Pursue.

4
Page 172

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
Acknowledge
Acknowledging and
understanding fraud
risks and committing
support and
resources to tackling
fraud.
➢ Assessing and
understanding
fraud risks
➢ Committing the
right level of
resources to
tackling fraud and
corruption
➢ Demonstrating a
robust anti- fraud
response
➢ Communicating
and embedding
an anti -fraud
culture

Prevent

Pursue

Preventing and detecting
fraud and corruption.

Punishing fraudsters and
pursuing losses.

➢ Making better use of
information and
technology
➢ Enhancing fraud controls
and processes
➢ Developing an effective
anti-fraud culture
➢ Communicating
successes

➢ Prioritising the recovery
of fraud losses
➢ Developing the capability
and capacity to punish
fraudsters
➢ Collaborating across
boundaries
➢ Learning lessons

5

Acknowledge

5.1

The Council acknowledges that it is not immune from the risk of fraud or
corruption and understands the fraud risks and takes appropriate action to mitigate
these through:
•
•
•
•

Ongoing review of emerging fraud risks
Maintaining a robust counter fraud framework
Having an annual counter fraud plan
Raising awareness of fraud and how to report suspicions

5.2

The Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy will continue to be informed through
gaining a clear understanding of the threat, emerging risks, trends and the savings
that can be achieved by investing in counter fraud and corruption. The Council will
also be focusing on raising staff awareness of the risks of fraud and corruption and
what they can do to prevent or identify it, and to promote the reporting channels.

5.3

Directorate management teams should consider the critical risks to their service
provision. They should consider what factors are important to them and what

5
Page 173

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
measures they can take to mitigate the identified risks. Management teams should
consider the control environment, rather than specific individual controls. Internal
Audit can advise on such matters.
5.4

Fraud risks are captured, reviewed, monitored and updated on the Council’s risk
register, which is subject to monitoring through the Council’s risk management
arrangements. The Council’s Internal Audit section is committed to horizon scanning
for new threats and emerging risks.

5.5

A risk-based approach has been used to devise an Internal Audit plan that promotes
the effective and efficient use of resources across the organisation. This is approved
by the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee and includes anti-fraud and
corruption work. This includes both proactive anti-fraud and corruption activities
(fraud strategies) and reactive work (investigations). The team takes a risk-based
approach to ensure the risk of fraud is managed effectively with available resources.
Regular counter fraud updates are provided to CGAC.

5.6

As custodians of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption policy framework and
owners of the fraud and corruption risk, Internal Audit has an overarching
responsibility for the Council’s approach to preventing and detecting fraud. Internal
Audit has an Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist, an Accredited Counter Fraud
Technician, and a holder of the Cipfa Investigative Practice Certificate. There are also
members of the team with data analytic skills as it is recognised that the greater use
of technology and interrogation of data is a valuable tool to identify erroneous or
duplicate transactions, potential fraud or error, and target proactive work at higher
risk areas. In addition to Internal Audit, there are several specialist teams and
services across the Council that undertake counter-fraud/overpayment work, these
include:
•
•
•
•
•

5.7

Housing and tenancy fraud
Blue Badges (Disabled Parking Concessions)
Council Tax Support / discounts and Housing Benefits
Direct payments
Insurance

The Council recognises that the continued success of its anti-fraud and corruption
strategy is through training and raising awareness. The counter fraud awareness elearning training on the authority’s Performance and Learning System is promoted
throughout the year. The training highlights the key fraud risks within local
authorities, prevention controls and relevant policies and guidance in place within
the Council. Awareness of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policies and fraud
risks are promoted on the internal news items on InSite. Awareness is also promoted
during the annual International Fraud Awareness Week and tenancy fraud
awareness week.

6
Page 174

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy

6

Prevent

6.1

The best way to fight fraud is to prevent it happening in the first place. Prevention and
detection will be achieved through having a strong counter fraud and corruption
culture whereby everyone is aware and abides by their roles and responsibilities and
having a robust governance framework which continually evolves. Regular fraud
updates are provided to the CGAC.

6.2

The Council has a robust governance framework to support the prevention of fraud
and corruption which consists of policies, procedures and internal controls. These
have been developed in line with appropriate legislative requirements and
professional best practice and are aimed at ensuring public accountability, value for
money and protecting employees against allegations that they acted improperly.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

6.3

The Council has developed, and will continue to develop, financial systems that
incorporate efficient and effective internal controls. Internal controls are the whole
system of controls established by management to carry out the business of the
organisation in an orderly and efficient manner. The system of internal controls
includes the segregation of duties, which should ensure that no one individual can be
responsible for all aspects of one transaction. They help to ensure:
•
•
•

6.4

Whistleblowing Policy
Anti-Bribery Policy
Anti-Money Laundering Policy
Employee Code of Conduct
Members Code of Conduct
Employee Gifts and Hospitality Policy
Employee Outside Interest Policy and Procedure
Recruitment and Selection Code of Practice
Financial Regulations
Contract Procedure Rules
Disciplinary Policy and Procedures
Information Governance arrangements

Adherence to management’s policies
Safeguard assets
Accuracy and completeness of financial records.

The Council recognises that it cannot work in isolation but must liaise with other
organisations. Arrangements are in place that encourage joint collaboration and the
exchange of information between the Council, other authorities and organisations
responsible for auditing or administering public funds, in order to prevent and detect
fraud. All liaisons will adhere to Data Protection Legislation and give regard to the
confidentiality of information.

7
Page 175

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
6.5

Good intelligence is crucial in order to identify fraudulent activities and take action
to prevent the Council falling victim. A range of data sharing both in house and
externally, along with joint working are utilised including (but not limited to),
membership with the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), shared intelligence and
best practice with other Local Authorities through the South and West Yorkshire
Fraud investigators group, Housing tenancy forums and Partnership working with the
West Yorkshire Joint Services. The Council also partakes in the annual Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) counter fraud and corruption
tracker, known as CFaCT. This captures fraud activity and the different types of fraud
across Councils and other public bodies.

6.6

To help ensure that there is an effective counter fraud culture in place within Leeds
City Council, Internal Audit have included time in the counter fraud block of the audit
plan to undertake proactive fraud reviews. These reviews consider areas identified
through various methods, including the use of best practice publications, internal risk
assessments, data analytics work, horizon scanning and liaison with established
internal and external contacts throughout the year to identify emerging frauds and
risk areas, to ensure that mitigating actions are taken promptly.

6.7

The Councils Whistleblowing Policy set out the means by which serious concerns can
be brought to the attention of management and Internal Audit. The Whistleblowing
Policy is available on the intranet and encourages Council employees and workers
(including contractors and consultants), who have serious concerns about any aspect
of the Councils work, to come forward and voice those concerns without fear of
reprisal. Members of the public can contact the Council to report any concerns or
disclosures over wrongdoing and these will be treated in the same way. Unlike
disclosures made by employees, protection under PIDA law does not extend to
disclosures made by members of the public. The Council website also includes how
to report on other issues such as housing and tenancy fraud. The promotion and
accessibility of these policies helps the Council to be responsive to emerging risks
that are identified.

6.8

Internal Audit are also the custodians of the Anti-Bribery and the Anti Money
Laundering Policies. The purpose of the Anti-Bribery policy is to maintain the high
standards of conduct which currently exist across the Council by preventing or
identifying bribery. The Anti-Money Laundering Policy sets out appropriate and
proportionate anti-money laundering safeguards and reporting arrangements within
the Council.

6.9

As part of the proactive anti-fraud work, the Council takes part in the National Fraud
Initiative (NFI). The NFI is an exercise conducted by the Cabinet Office every two years
that matches electronic data within and between public and private sector bodies to
prevent and detect fraud. Where a match is found it may indicate that there is an
inconsistency which requires further investigation to determine whether fraud or
error has occurred, or if there is another explanation for the match. Relevant teams
8
Page 176

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
within the Council (for example, Internal Audit, Housing, Benefits, Blue Badge and
Adult Social Care) work through the matches on a risk basis.

7

Pursue

7.1

The Council is committed to pursuing fraudsters and deterring others from
committing fraud. It is acknowledged that, even with strong preventative measures,
motivated fraudsters may still succeed. Most frauds are, however, detected by the
vigilance of staff or members of the public, a tip-off or discovered by chance. The
Council’s staff are a vital element in its stance on fraud and corruption and they are
positively encouraged to raise any concerns that they may have. A number of red
flags can indicate something is not right. See Appendix A for possible indicators.

7.2

Financial regulations 21. Fraud and Corruption requires that:
“Whenever any matter arises that involves, or is thought to involve
irregularities concerning cash, stores or other property of the Council or any
suspected irregularity in the exercise of the functions of the Council, including
bequests, trust and client monies, it must be immediately brought to the
attention of the respective Director.
Where the irregularity is thought to involve fraud, corruption or impropriety the
Director must ensure that the matter is reported to the Head of Audit. If the
irregularity or suspected irregularity involves theft or suspected theft of assets,
it must also be referred to the Police. In addition where a break-in is suspected,
the Police must be informed immediately.”

7.3

The Council is committed to treating all concerns raised consistently and fairly. Any
suspected fraud, corruption or other irregularity should be reported as required by
financial regulations and in line with the fraud response plan detailed below,
Appendix B. Details of all referrals received by managers under this policy should be
notified to Internal Audit to allow a central record to be maintained. There might be
instances where employees cannot or will not, for whatever reason, feel they are
able to report concerns to their manager. In such instances, employees can raise
their concerns direct with Internal Audit.

7.4

It is important that you do not attempt to investigate the suspected fraud yourself.
This will ensure that any investigation is carried out independently and objectively in
accordance with Council policy and procedures, key investigation legislation and best
practice and, provide assurance that investigations do not jeopardise any potential
disciplinary action or criminal sanctions. Reporting all such suspected activity is
essential to help ensure consistent standards of investigation are achieved and to
help inform the Council of any trends that might be of assistance in subsequent
investigations, and/or inform fraud strategies.

9
Page 177

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
7.5

Internal Audit risk assess all referrals made to them and determine the most
appropriate method for dealing with the concern. Referrals are then either passed
onto directorates to investigate or investigated by Internal Audit. Where the
allegation is of a criminal nature then a referral may be made to the Police either
following a risk assessment of the information provided or an investigation. Where
an investigation is undertaken the referral will only be closed once Internal Audit is
satisfied that the allegation has been addressed. This may involve liaison with the
Police, directorate or external agency.

7.6

Internal Audit may make recommendations to address any control weaknesses
identified following an investigation. Any areas identified as being vulnerable to the
risk of fraud and corruption will be considered and fed into the proactive work plan.

8

Reporting suspected fraud

8.1

The Council recognises that people speaking up about something they have seen,
heard or that just doesn’t seem right is the often the best way to identify fraud.
There are several channels for reporting concerns and the Fraud response plan
included at Appendix B should be followed in cases where fraud and corruption are
suspected. This is supported by the Whistleblowing Policy which protects employees
and workers from fear of reprisal if they raise concerns in good faith.

8.2

Concerns can be reported to Internal Audit, anonymously if preferred, using the
details below:

Telephone:

(0113) 3788008 (dedicated hotline answered by a member of the
Internal Audit team or an answerphone).

E-mail:

concerns@leeds.gov.uk

In writing:

Internal Audit, 3rd Floor West, Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1JF

Online
(internal
only):

When logged into the Council network there is the option to
complete a whistleblowing referral form via Insite.

9

Sanctions

9.1

The Council recognises the impact and harm fraud can have on itself and its
residents through financial loss and reputational damage. The Council will take into
account the circumstances of each case and the nature of the alleged crime when
considering what action to take. This may include disciplinary or criminal
proceedings, or both. Irrespective of the action taken to prosecute the perpetrators

10
Page 178

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy
of fraud and corruption, the Council will take whatever steps necessary to recover
any losses incurred.
9.2

The recovery of funds will be pursued through the relevant channel which may
include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

9.3

Recovery of losses through the Councils recovery procedures.
Recovery from a pension.
The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002.
For cases of subletting, prosecuted under POSHFA 2013.
Where relevant, cases referred to relevant professional body.
Where necessary reported to the national anti-fraud network (NAFN).

In order to deter future attempts of fraud and corruption against the Council,
successful cases will be publicised.

11
Page 179

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy

Appendix A Examples of Red Flags
Red Flags in Internal Fraud
• Unwillingness to share duties
• Refusal to take leave
• Refusal to implement internal controls (e.g. skipping approvals)
• Replacing existing suppliers with suppliers that have an unusually close connection
• Living a lifestyle above apparent means
• Lavishing gifts on colleagues
• Failure to keep records or receipts
• Bullying colleagues (especially if the colleagues question the person’s activities)
• Seeking access to areas which the person should not be able to access
• Chronic shortage of cash - consistently seeking loans or advances
• Past legal/compliance problems
• Addiction problems (e.g. gambling or drugs)
• Under financial stress
• Significant personal stress (e.g. divorce, business failing)
• Disgruntled with employer
• Strong sense of entitlement

Red Flags in Contracting/Accounting
• Financial information reporting is inconsistent with KPIs
• Abnormally high costs in a specific cost centre function
• Dubious record keeping
• High overheads
• Bank reconciliations not up to date
• Inadequate segregation of duties
• Reconciliations not performed on a regular basis
• Payments continuously just below reporting thresholds
• Duplicate invoices
• Sequential numbers on invoices
• Pricing does not adjust with changes in the value of goods or services in the market
• Owners of company not identifiable
• Owners of company with unusually close links to officials in the department
• A history of fraud in the type of contract or with the contracting organisation

12
Page 180

Fraud concern raised

Appendix B Fraud Response Plan

Reported to management

Reported to Internal Audit

Assessment of allegation by manager,
Internal Audit informed

Risk assessment is completed to
determine course of action required

Sufficient information to proceed
Yes

Page 181

No
Management investigation

Record of decision and feedback given

Fraud
Proven

Internal Audit Investigation

Yes

Police Investigation

Sanction

No
Disciplinary proceedings

.

Review investigation outcomes to
determine areas for improvement or
good practice. Recommendations
made

Published: 2021
Next review date: 2024
Owner: Internal Audit

Follow up of recommendations

Take any appropriate civil action in
conjunction with the legal section.

Recovery of losses:
-Council’s recovery procedures.
-Recovery from a pension.
-The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002.
-POSHFA 2013.
-Where relevant, cases referred to
relevant professional body.
-Where necessary reported to the
national anti-fraud network (NAFN).

Prosecution

This page is intentionally left blank

Reviewed 2021
Next review due 2024
Page 183

Whistleblowing Policy

Whistleblowing Policy contents

Table of contents

Page

1 Introduction
2 Aims and scope
3 What are whistleblowing and qualifying disclosures
4 Safeguards
5 How concerns can be raised
6 How the Council will respond
7 Monitoring of whistleblowing referrals
8 How the matter can be taken further
Appendix A How to raise a concern, do’s and don’ts
Appendix B Other contacts
Appendix C Whistleblowing referral form

3
3-4
4-5
5-6
6-7
7-8
8-9
9-10
11-12
13-14
15-17

2
Page 184

Whistleblowing Policy
1

Introduction

1.1

Leeds City Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and
accountability. In line with that commitment, we encourage Council employees and
workers1 who have legitimate concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, to
come forward and voice those concerns through accessible channels rather than
overlooking the issues or discussing them externally. Making your disclosure under
this policy will enable the Council to address any concerns and risks as early as
possible.

1.2

As an employee or worker of the Council, you are often the first to realise that there
could be something seriously wrong with the way we are operating. This policy sets
out the principles that enable you to raise concerns without the fear of adverse
consequences.

1.3

As a member of the public or in your role as an elected member, you may also have
concerns that there is something wrong with the way that the Council is operating.
This policy is designed to encourage you to report your concerns relating to matters
set out at 3.5 and 3.6 and are in the public interest to raise.

1.4

The Council recognises that you may wish to raise your concern confidentially and in
such cases the Council will make every effort to protect your identity.

2

Aims and scope of the policy

2.1

This policy applies to anyone who wishes to raise concerns about suspected
wrongdoing in the Council.

2.2

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA), the law that protects whistleblowers
from negative treatment or dismissal for raising their concerns, applies to both
employees and workers, including permanent and temporary employees, casual
staff, apprentices, agency staff, consultants, contractors, sub-contractors or a
partner organisation who are engaged in work for the Council.

2.3

If you are not a Council employee or worker you can still contact the Council to
report any concerns or disclosures about wrongdoing and these will be investigated
in line with this policy. Unlike disclosures made by employees, protection under PIDA
law does not extend to disclosures made by employees of external organisations,
volunteers, job applicants, members of the public or elected members.

2.4

This policy has a specific section detailing the process that schools based staff should
follow when raising concerns (section 5.7-5.9).

2.5

The aim of this policy is to:

1

For the definition of a worker see https://www.gov.uk/employment-status/worker

3
Page 185

Whistleblowing Policy
• Encourage reports of suspected wrongdoing or malpractice within the Council
as soon as possible, in the knowledge that their concerns will be taken
seriously and investigated as appropriate
• set out the safeguards you can expect when raising concerns under this policy
• reassure Council employees and workers that reprisals or victimisation for
whistleblowing in the public interest will not be tolerated even if you turn out
to be mistaken
• demonstrate the Council’s zero tolerance commitment to tackling fraud and
corruption
• demonstrate the Council’s commitment to treat all disclosures consistently
and fairly
2.6

This policy does not form part of a contract of employment. It is regularly reviewed
and may be amended from time to time.

3

What are whistleblowing and qualifying disclosures?

3.1

Whistleblowing is the confidential disclosure by an individual of any concerns
relating to wrongdoing involving any aspect of the Council’s work, or dangers in the
workplace.

3.2

For Council employees and workers, to be covered by whistleblowing law the
disclosure must be a ‘qualifying disclosure’. Qualifying disclosures are disclosures of
information about wrongdoing which include criminal offences, bribery, failure to
comply with legal obligations, miscarriages of justice, threats to health and safety of
an individual, damage to the environment and a deliberate attempt to cover up any
of the above.

3.3

The law is designed to protect whistleblowers from detrimental treatment or
victimisation from their employers after they have made a qualifying disclosure.

3.4

To be protected, the disclosure must be in the public interest, the worker must have
reasonable belief that the information shows that one of the categories of
wrongdoing listed in the legislation has occurred, or is likely to occur, and the
concern must be raised in the correct way.

3.5

Qualifying disclosures covered by whistleblowing law include any disclosure of
information which tends to show that:• A criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be
committed e.g. financial fraud;
• A person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal
obligation to which that person is subject;
• A miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur;
• The health and safety of any individual had been, is being or is likely to be
endangered;
• The environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged;
4
Page 186

Whistleblowing Policy
• Any of the above examples have been, are being or are likely to be
deliberately concealed.
3.6

Disclosures relating to the following matters may fall into the categories of qualifying
disclosures above:
• improper conduct, including serious misuse or abuse of authority;
• a failure to comply with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, Financial
Regulations, the Council’s Constitution or other policies;
• Something falls below established standards or practice;
• Gross waste or mismanagement of funds has occurred, is occurring or is likely
to occur.

3.7

The Whistleblowing Policy is intended to cover concerns that fall outside the scope
of other procedures and which involve an issue in the public interest, although the
Council reserves the right to determine which procedure is appropriate. Concerns
relating to the way you are being treated at work (bullying, harassment,
discrimination) do not fall under the remit of whistleblowing and should be dealt
with under the Council’s Grievance Procedure.

3.8

A confidentiality clause in a settlement agreement does not prevent a worker from
making a disclosure in the public interest.

3.9

If your concern relates to the conduct of an elected member, safeguarding or other
issues including, a complaint about the standard of service received or regarding a
member of staff, tenancy fraud, benefit fraud, blue badge misuse, council tax, then
there are specific procedures in place to address these. Details on how to make a
referral can be found at Appendix B.

4

Safeguards
Confidentiality

4.1

The Council will take all reasonable steps to keep the identity of the whistleblower
confidential unless there is a legal requirement to disclose it.
Protection from reprisal

4.2

The Council recognises that as a Council employee or worker, the decision to report a
concern can be a difficult one to make, not least because of the fear of reprisal from
those responsible for the wrongdoing. The Council will not tolerate harassment or
victimisation and will take action to protect you when you raise a concern which you
reasonably believe to be true. This may include disciplinary action against those that
subject an individual to detriment as a result of a whistleblowing referral.

4.3

If you are already the subject of procedures such as disciplinary, improving
performance, grievance or improving attendance, these will not be halted as a result
of your whistleblowing referral.

4.4

If at any time, either during or after the investigation, you feel that you have suffered
any detriment as a result of your whistleblowing referral you should contact Internal
5
Page 187

Whistleblowing Policy
Audit. Details will be considered and where action is required this will be led by HR
and will be conducted in accordance with the Disciplinary Policy.
Anonymous disclosures
4.5

Concerns can be raised anonymously and will be considered wherever possible at the
discretion of the Council. However, it may be more difficult or even impossible to
investigate them properly if further information cannot be obtained from the
informant. This policy encourages you to provide your name and contact details when
reporting your concern.
Untrue allegations

4.6

If you make an allegation which is either malicious and/or false, and/or one which you
could not have reasonably believed to be true, then this may be considered an abuse
of the whistleblowing policy and disciplinary action may be taken against you.

5

How concerns can be raised

5.1

Whistleblowing concerns can be raised with your line manager or a senior manager
within your service. You can raise your concern initially in person, by telephone or in
writing. The manager will consider any information you provide in line with the
requirements of this policy.

5.2

If you would prefer to report your concerns directly to Internal Audit, or you are not
a Council employee or worker, then a referral can be made as follows:-

Telephone:

(0113) 3788008 (dedicated hotline answered by a member of the
Internal Audit team or an answerphone).
concerns@leeds.gov.uk

5.3

E-mail:

Option to use the whistleblowing raising concerns form at
Appendix C.

In writing:

Internal Audit, 3rd Floor West, Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1JF

Online
(internal
only):

When logged into the Council network there is the option to
complete a whistleblowing referral form via Insite.

Refer to Appendix B for more detail on how to report other issues.

6
Page 188

Whistleblowing Policy
Independent advice
5.4

If you are unsure whether to raise your concerns under this policy, or if you wish to
obtain independent advice at any time you may contact:
•
•

Your trade union
The independent charity Protect, which operates a confidential helpline.

Contact details can be found at the end of this policy.
External contacts
5.5

The aim of this policy is to provide an internal mechanism for reporting any
wrongdoing in the workplace. In most cases you should not find it necessary to alert
anyone externally.
The law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate to report your
concern to certain ‘prescribed’ people and bodies. It is strongly recommended that
you seek advice before reporting a concern to anyone external. If you tell a prescribed
person or body, it must be one that you reasonably believe deals with the issue you
are raising. A list of prescribed people and bodies can be found at the link
below:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-ofprescribed-people-and-bodies--2/whistleblowing-list-of-prescribed-people-andbodies.

5.6

In order to raise your concern externally it still must be a qualifying disclosure which
meets the criteria for protection as outlined in paragraph [3] above. This means that
you must have a reasonable belief that the information disclosed is substantially true,
the disclosure is being made in the public interest and the matter falls within the remit
of the prescribed person or body.
Whistleblowing by individuals employed in schools

5.7

Individuals employed in schools maintained by the Council such as community
schools, community special schools, voluntary controlled or maintained nursery
schools and pupil referral units where the Council is the legal employer, fall under
the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.

5.8

Each of the above schools should have their own Whistleblowing Policy and reporting
arrangements in place which reflect the requirements of and principles within this
policy.

5.9

Schools based staff are encouraged to raise concerns in accordance with the schools
own Whistleblowing Policy. This Leeds City Council policy recognises that in some
cases, the employee may not feel they are able to discuss the concerns with
management, the Headteacher or Chair of Governors at the school. In these instances
you may report your concerns to Leeds City Council who will respond in accordance
with this policy.
7
Page 189

Whistleblowing Policy
6

How the Council will respond

6.1

The Council is committed to treating all concerns raised consistently and fairly. Where
a referral is made to Internal Audit an initial assessment of the information received
will be completed which may include preliminary enquiries. This will determine if
further investigation will be undertaken and if so who is best placed to complete this
considering any skills, knowledge and areas of expertise felt to be necessary.

6.2

Details of all referrals received by managers under this policy should be notified to
Internal Audit to allow a central record to be maintained. A regular review of referrals
notified and actioned by management will be undertaken to ensure all concerns are
being dealt with on a consistent basis.

6.3

The matters raised may:
• be investigated internally (this is the most likely option). This may be via a
referral to the relevant Director, Chief Officer, HR or Internal Audit. Where
referrals are made every effort is made to maintain confidentiality;
• be referred to the external auditor;
• form the subject of an independent inquiry; or
• any combination of the above.

6.4

Where the allegation is of a criminal nature then a referral may be made to the
Police but this will only be following an assessment of the information provided.

6.5

Some concerns may be addressed without the need for investigation. Concerns or
allegations that fall within the scope of specific procedures (for example, child
protection or discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under
the relevant procedures.

6.6

Within ten working days of a concern being received, where practicable, the Council
will contact you to acknowledge receipt of your concern. Where feasible we will
advise you how we propose to deal with the matter. If it is decided that further
investigation is not to take place then the reason for this decision will be provided to
you.

6.7

The amount of contact between yourself and those considering the issues will vary
depending on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties involved and
the clarity of the information provided. We may contact you for further details during
the investigation if you have provided your contact details.

6.8

When any meeting is arranged with you, you may, if you wish, be accompanied by a
trade union or professional association representative or a person who is not involved
in the area of work to which the concern relates.

8
Page 190

Whistleblowing Policy
6.9

The Council acknowledges the need to provide you with assurance that the matter has
been properly addressed. The Council will aim to keep you informed of the progress
of the investigation and its likely timescale. However, sometimes the need for
confidentiality may prevent us giving you specific details of the investigation or any
disciplinary action taken as a result. You should treat any information about the
investigation as confidential.

7

Monitoring of whistleblowing referrals

7.1

All referrals received by managers should be notified to Internal Audit upon their
receipt. Internal Audit will maintain a log of all concerns received and the action taken.
This will help to ensure that all referrals received are addressed on a consistent basis
no matter where they have been initially reported or investigated.

7.2

The Head of Internal Audit is the person within the Council with overall responsibility
for this policy. The overall outcomes and effectiveness of the policy will be reported
in anonymised form to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.

8

How the matter can be taken further

8.1

This policy is intended to provide you with an avenue to raise concerns within the
Council. The Council hopes you will be satisfied with the way your concerns is handled
and the response provided. If you are not, and if you feel it is right to take the matter
further, the following are possible contact points.
The external auditor- Grant Thornton
Leeds

0113 245 5514

Protect – formerly Public Concern at
Work - (independent charity that
provides free advice for employees who
wish to express concerns about fraud or
other serious malpractice)

020 3117 2520

A prescribed person or body

https://www.gov.uk/government/public
ations/blowing-the-whistle-list-ofprescribed-people-and-bodies-2/whistleblowing-list-of-prescribedpeople-and-bodies.

Your trade union:

https://protect-advice.org.uk/contactus/

Unison (Leeds)
0113 245 8442
branch@leedsunison.org.uk.
GMB (Leeds)
0113 37 89010
9
Page 191

Whistleblowing Policy
Unite
TBC
8.2

Further contact points are included below:The Advisory, Conciliation and
Arbitration Service (Acas)

https://www.gov.uk/acas

Citizens’ Advice

https://www.adviceguide.org.uk

Legal advice

https://www.gov.uk/find-a-legal-adviser

10
Page 192

Whistleblowing Policy
Appendix A
How to raise a concern (Do’s and Don’ts)
DO NOT ignore the concern. It is important that you feel comfortable in raising legitimate
concerns in the public interest, as this provides the Council with an opportunity to address
the associated issues as early as possible. The whistleblowing referral form at Appendix C can
be used to report your concern and assess if it meets the qualifying criteria.
DO report your suspicions in line with this policy to your line management, the relevant
service management, or to Internal Audit using the contact details provided in this policy. The
decision on to whom to report your suspicions will depend on the seriousness and sensitivity
of the issues concerned, and who is thought to be involved in the wrongdoing. For example,
if you believe that management is involved then Internal Audit can give advice and guidance
on how the matter can be pursued.
DO make an immediate note of your concerns and deal with the matter promptly.
The earlier you express the concern, the easier it is to take action. Over time these details can
be forgotten, or remembered incorrectly, which can make a concern more difficult to
investigate and so it would help us if you make a note of your concerns at the time and let us
know about them as soon as possible.
You will need to demonstrate that there are sufficient grounds for your concern. It would be
useful to provide relevant information including, where possible, but not limited to;
•

the background and history to the case;

•

the reason why you are particularly concerned;

•

any specific details available including names, dates, times and places;

•

details of any particular conversations that support the concerns;

•

details any personal interest that you may have in the matter; and

•

how you think that things may be put right, if possible.

DO NOT be afraid of raising your concerns, and if a manager, DO be responsive to staff
concerns.
We want to encourage people to voice any reasonably held suspicions to help us develop a
culture of openness, honesty and accountability. All concerns should be treated sensitively
and seriously and be subject to the necessary investigation and follow up communication
where possible. If you are a manager receiving a concern you also need to make sure you
send details of all referrals to Internal Audit for monitoring and action.
DO NOT approach or accuse any individuals directly or tell anyone about your suspicions
other than those with the proper authority.
If a concern is discussed with someone directly involved then it creates an opportunity for
evidence to be tampered with or removed.

11
Page 193

Whistleblowing Policy
Concerns should not be discussed with others who are not involved in an appropriately
structured investigation. Doing so may leave you open to accusations of making slanderous
or libellous comments should your concerns be unfounded, as these could damage the
reputation of individuals and the Council even if there is no evidence of any wrongdoing.
DO NOT try to investigate the matter yourself.
There are special rules surrounding the gathering of evidence. Any attempt to gather evidence
by people who are unfamiliar with these rules may adversely affect the outcome of the
investigation as evidence has to be collected in accordance with current legislation. This is of
particular importance with regard to surveillance. If you are at all unsure about the gathering
of evidence, you should contact Internal Audit for advice.
All referrals made will be treated in the strictest of confidence and you may invite your trade
union or professional association to raise a matter on your behalf.

12
Page 194

Whistleblowing Policy
Appendix B
Other contacts
If your concern is regarding the following please see the contact details below:
• A complaint about the standard of service received or regarding a member of staff
(including people who volunteer on our behalf)
See the Compliments and Complaints Policy.
Email: complaints@leeds.gov.uk
Phone: 0113 2224405
•

The conduct of an elected Member
If you believe that a Member has broken the Members Code of Conduct, you can make a
complaint to councillorconduct@leeds.gov.uk.

•

The safeguarding of children and young people
To report a concern if you work with children or young people, call the Duty and Advice
team on 0113 3760336 (Monday to Friday 9am to 5pm, except Wednesday when open
at 10am) or the Children’s Emergency Duty Team on 0113 5350600 if outside of office
hours.
Members of the public should report concerns on 0113 2224403 (Monday to Friday
9am to 5pm, except Wednesday when open at 10am). If you think a child is in
immediate danger please call the police on 999.
Further details can be found at http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/report-achild-protection-concern.aspx

•

The safeguarding of vulnerable adults
Call 0113 222 4401 during office hours and 0113 378 0644 outside of office hours.
Further details can be found at https://www.leeds.gov.uk/adult-social-care/worriedabout-someone/report-neglect-or-abuse-of-an-adult

•

Suspected benefit fraud
Report this to the DWP.
Online - https://www.gov.uk/report-benefit-fraud
Telephone – 0800 854 440
Textphone – 0800 328 0512 (Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm)
Write – NBFH, PO Box 224, Preston, PR1 1GP

13
Page 195

Whistleblowing Policy
•

Suspected Housing fraud
Call 0800 188 4000
Email: tenancyfraud@leeds.gov.uk
Further details can be found at https://www.leeds.gov.uk/housing/council-housinginformation-for-tenants/report-problems/housing-fraud

•

Blue badge misuse
Call 0113 222 44 44 (Weekdays, 9am to 5pm, except Wednesdays when we're open
from 10am)
Email: bluebadge@leeds.gov.uk
Further details can be found at https://www.leeds.gov.uk/parking-roads-andtravel/blue-badge-parking-and-applications/report-a-lost-stolen-or-misused-badge

•

Council tax
Call 0113 222 44 44 (Weekdays, 9am to 5pm, except Wednesdays when we're open
from 10am)

•

Workplace disputes
Contact the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (Acas) for help and advice
Online https://www.gov.uk/acas
Telephone 0300 123 1100

14
Page 196

Whistleblowing Policy
Appendix C

Whistleblowing Referral Form
You should use this form to enable you to raise a concern where you believe there is a danger, risk,
malpractice or wrongdoing that affects others.
Please make sure you have read and understand the Whistleblowing Policy for guidance on what
constitutes a ‘qualifying disclosure’ and support when completing this form
1. About you
Your name:

Your job title:

Where you work:
How we can contact you:

Phone Number:
Email:

Please note allegations can be made anonymously, but these may be more difficult
or even impossible to investigate if further information cannot be obtained from you.
2. Whistleblowing Law ‘Qualifying Disclosures’
To be a qualifying disclosure, the disclosure must be made in the public interest and you must
have a reasonable belief in its truth. Please indicate below where you believe your concern shows
or tends to show one of the following:
a)

A criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be
committed e.g. financial fraud.

Yes/No

b)

A person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal
obligation to which that person is subject.

Yes/No

c)

A miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or likely to occur.

Yes/No

d)

The health and safety of any individual had been, is being or is likely to be
endangered.

Yes/No

e)

The environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged.

Yes/No

f)

The information tending to show any of the above is being or is likely to be
concealed.

Yes/No

Disclosures relating to the matters below may also fall into the category of qualifying disclosure.
Please indicate if your concern shows or tends to show one of the following:

15
Page 197

Whistleblowing Policy
g)

Something is contrary to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, Financial
Regulations or other policies.

Yes/No

h)

Something falls below established standards or practice.

Yes/No

i)

Gross waste or mismanagement of funds has occurred, is occurring or is likely
to occur.

Yes/No

3. Further Information
Although you are not expected to prove an allegation, you will need to demonstrate that there are
sufficient grounds for your concern. Please provide as much information as possible including,
where possible, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the background and history to the case
the reason why you are particularly concerned
any specific details available including names, dates, times and places
details of any particular conversations that support your concerns
details of any personal interest that you may have in the matter, and
how you think that things may be put right, if possible

16
Page 198

Whistleblowing Policy

Please continue on a blank sheet if required and attach

17
Page 199

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
Report author:

Mary Hasnip

Tel:

3789384

Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report
Date:

26th November 2021

Report of: the Chief Finance Officer
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐Yes ☒No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?




Grant Thornton have provided an Audit Progress Report on their 2020/21 audit, which is
attached as Appendix 1. The Audit Progress Report outlines the findings from their interim
audit work and provides commentary on progress to date on the final accounts audit.
Grant Thornton’s report also highlights some current issues for Members’ information.

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to receive the Audit Progress Report and to note the progress to date in
delivery of the 2020/21 audit.

Page 201

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Under the Committee’s terms of reference members are required to consider the Council’s
arrangements relating to external audit, including the receipt of external audit reports.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

2

☐Yes

☒No

The report outlines Grant Thornton’s progress in delivery of the 2020/21 audit.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3

The Audit Progress Report does not raise any issues requiring consultation or engagement
with the public, ward members or Councillors.

What are the resource implications?
4

Grant Thornton’s report includes progress and timescales for the audit process to assess
whether the Council has in place proper arrangements for securing value for money.

What are the legal implications?
5

The Audit Progress Report outlines how Grant Thornton are discharging their
responsibilities as defined by in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the
National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
6

Grant Thornton’s audit planning process identified key risks to the preparation of the
financial statements and to the council’s financial standing, which were reported within their
Audit Plan to the July meeting of the Committee. The report outlines the outcome of their
interim audit work, which has not identified any weaknesses which would affect their
planned audit approach.

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☐Inclusive Growth
7

☐Health and Wellbeing

☐Climate Emergency

The report relates to the council’s underlying financial governance arrangements rather
than to any specific aspect of service delivery.

Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
8

This report summarises the progress of Grant Thornton’s audit for 2020/21.

b) How will success be measured?
9

The report outlines the future progress updates which Grant Thornton intend to provide to
the Committee during their audit.
Page 202

c) What is the timetable for implementation?
10 Grant Thornton aim to present an ISA 260 report on the financial statements in December
and an Annual Report on value for money arrangements to the February 2022 meeting of
the Committee.

Appendices
11 Appendix 1 is Grant Thornton’s Audit Progress Report.

Background papers
12 None.

Page 203

Page 204

Leeds City Council

Page 205

Commercial in confidence

Page 206

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 207

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 208

Commercial in confidence

Page 209

Commercial in confidence

Page 210

Commercial in confidence

.

Page 211

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 212

Commercial in confidence

Page 213

Commercial in confidence

Page 214

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•
Page 215

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 216
•

•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 217

Commercial in confidence

Page 218

Commercial in confidence

Additional expenditure due to COVID-19 by class and service area (£ millions) (2020-21)
Shire
District
Adult Social Care – total

Shire
County

Unitary
Authority

Metropolitan
District

London
Borough

Total

Page 219

0.473 1,254.880

848.656

663.404

413.842

3,181.254

0.000

94.933

131.127

89.799

62.987

378.846

63.129

5.254

74.949

42.281

112.971

298.584

Environmental and regulatory services - total

33.564

68.097

67.512

66.704

63.556

299.433

Finance & corporate services - total

48.222

53.445

83.984

76.923

78.284

340.858

All other service areas not listed in rows
above

184.550

634.578

584.924

564.737

395.137

2,363.926

Total

329.937 2,111.187

1,791.153

1,503.848 1,126.777

6,862.902

Children's social care - total (excluding
SEND)
Housing - total (including homelessness
services) excluding HRA

Income losses due to COVID-19 by class and source of income (£ millions) (2020-21)

Business rates

276.498

0.000

194.192

Metropolitan
District
207.351

Council tax
Sales fees and
charges
Commercial
income
Other

399.037

0.000

217.633

191.219

232.727

1,040.616

516.426

194.923

553.907

396.745

475.728

2,137.728

82.448

24.159

120.629

204.211

52.154

483.600

33.494

39.947

27.163

53.664

45.166

199.435

1,307.903

259.029

1,113.524

1,053.190

1,343.441

5,077.087

Shire District

Total

Shire County

Unitary Authority

London
Borough
537.667

1,215.708

Total

Commercial in confidence

Page 220

Commercial in confidence

•
•

Page 221

•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

Page 222

Commercial in confidence

Page 223

Commercial in confidence

Page 224

•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 225
•
•

•

•

Page 226

Agenda Item 15
Report author: Kate Sadler
Tel: 0113 37 88663

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee Work
Programme 2021-22
Date: 26th November 2021
Report of: Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report presents the work programme for the Corporate Governance and Audit
Committee, setting out future business for the Committee’s agenda, together with details of
when items will be presented.

Recommendations
a) Members are requested to
i.) consider and approve the work programme and meeting dates at Appendix 1;

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 Regular review of the work programme will enable the Committee to manage the business
appropriately in line with the risks currently facing the Council.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: None
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

2 The work undertaken by the committee throughout the year will support the understanding of
the internal control and risk environment and support the committee’s approval of the statutory
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3 The Work programme was approved by Corporate Governance and Audit Committee at its
meeting in March 2021 and is presented at each meeting for the committee to consider and
amend as appropriate.
Page 227

What are the resource implications?
4 The work undertaken by the committee will provide assurance as to the appropriate use of
resources to deliver the council’s strategic objectives.
What are the legal implications?
5 S151 Local Government Act 1972 requires local authorities to “make arrangements for the
proper administration of its financial affairs”. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations
2015 provide that the local authority is responsible for ensuring “a sound system of internal
control which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of its aims
and objectives; ensures that the financial and operational management of the authority is
effective and includes effective arrangements for the management of risk”.
6 The work undertaken by the committee enables it to advise Council (the body charged with
governance) that arrangements in place are up to date, fit for purpose, communicated and
embedded, monitored and routinely complied with.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
7 The work undertaken by the committee will provide assurance that there are arrangements in
place for the management of risk which are appropriate, proportionate, monitored and effective.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

8 The work undertaken by the committee will provide assurance that arrangements for internal
control support the delivery of the council’s strategic objectives.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
9 Members are invited to recommend the inclusion of further business in the work programme as
necessary.
How will success be measured?
10 The Committee will provide an annual report to Council detailing how the committee has
discharged its responsibilities.
What is the timetable for implementation?
11 As set out at Appendix 1
Appendices
12 Appendix 1 – Work Programme of Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 2021/22
Background papers
13 None

Page 228

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
PROPOSED WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2021-22
Date1
May
25th June 2021

30th July 2021

August
24th September 2021

October
26th November 2021

17th December 2021

Jan
4th Feb 2022

th

25 Mar 2022

Work Item
1
2
3
4
5
6
1
2
3
4
5

External Audit letter for 2019/20
External Audit update report
Internal Audit update report (Feb to April)
Fraud and Corruption update report (October to March)
PSN certification update report
Risk management Policy and Strategy Update
Annual assurance report on procurement policies and practices
Annual assurance report on decision making
Interim Annual Governance Statement
Draft statement of accounts
External Audit Plan

1
2
3
4
5

Informing the Audit Risk Assessment
Annual assurance report on treasury management systems and processes
Report on Climate Emergency Governance and Controls
Internal Audit update report (May to July)
Annual assurance report on planning regulation and enforcement arrangements

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
1
2
3
4
5

Annual report on financial planning and management arrangements
Invitation to opt in to PSAA arrangements for procurement of external auditors.
Procurement update report
Internal Audit annual report and opinion (including assurance in respect of RIPA)
Approval of Annual Governance Statement
Fraud and Corruption update report (April to September)
External Audit update report
Annual assurance report on corporate risk management arrangements
Annual assurance report on corporate business continuity arrangements
Annual assurance report on corporate performance management arrangements
Internal Audit update report (August to October)
Approval of audited accounts & audit report (ISA 260)

1
2
3
4
5

Annual assurance report on employment policies and procedures and employee conduct
Receipt of External Audit Report setting out findings of Value for Money Review
Receipt of External Audit Letter
Update Assurance Report on Integrated Digital Service Controls
Joint annual report on information governance from Data Protection Officer and Caldicott
Guardian
Annual assurance report on customer contact and satisfaction report
External Audit update report and plan
Internal Audit update report (November to January)
Receipt of Internal Audit Plan
Draft annual report to Council

6
1
2
3
4

Apr

1

The schedule of meetings is proposed but the committee reserve the right to review and amend the work programme
content and meeting dates throughout the year.

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

